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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to NEV. R. APP. P. 25, I certify that I am an employee of MCNUTT 

LAW FIRM. On June 18, 2018, I caused a copy of the APPENDIX TO PETITION 

FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS OR PROHIBITION to be hand delivered, in a 

sealed envelope, on the date and to the addressee(s) shown below: 

Honorable Joseph Hardy 
District Court Judge, Dept. 15 
Regional Justice Center 
200 Lewis Ave., Las Vegas, NV 89155 
Respondent 
 
James J. Pisanelli, Esq. 
Pisanelli Bice, PLLC 
400 S. 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorney for Real Parties in Interest 

 
     /s/ Lisa Heller                      . 

      Employee of McNutt Law Firm, P.C. 
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APPENDIX TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS OR 
PROHIBITION 

 
CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX 

 
Date Description Vol.  Page Nos. 
08.25.17 Complaint 1 App. 1 - 40 
09.27.17 Notice of Removal of Lawsuit Pending 

in Nevada State Court to Bankruptcy 
Court 

1 App. 41 - 119 

09.27.17 Notice of Removal of Counts II and III 
of Lawsuit Pending in Nevada State 
Court to Bankruptcy Court 

1 App. 120 - 200 

12.14.17 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 
Law 

1 App. 201 - 216 

12.14.17 Order Denying Motion to Transfer 1 App. 217 - 220 
12.14.17 Order Granting Motion to Remand 1 App. 221 - 224 
12.14.17 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law 
1 App. 225 - 241 

12.14.17 Order Denying Motion to Remand  1 App. 242 - 245 
12.14.17 Order Granting Motion to Transfer 1 App. 246 - 249 
02.09.18 Stipulation and Order to Consolidate 

Case No.  
A-17-760537-B with and into  
Case No. A-751759-B 

2 App. 250 - 253 

02.22.18 Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, 
to Stay Claims Asserted Against 
Defendant DNT Acquisition, LLC 

2 App. 254 - 272 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, 
to Stay Claims Asserted Against 
Defendant DNT Acquisition, LLC – 
Volume I 

2/3 App. 273 - 525 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, 
to Stay Claims Asserted Against 
Defendant DNT Acquisition, LLC – 
Volume II 

3 App. 526 - 609 

02.22.18 Defendant Rowen Seibel’s Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Claims 

3 App. 610 - 666 



 

4 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Date Description Vol.  Page Nos. 
02.22.18 Defendants TPOV Enterprises and 

TPOV Enterprises 16’s Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Claims 

3/4 App. 667 - 776 

02.22.18 Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against MOTI Defendants 

4 App. 777 - 793 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against MOTI Defendants – Volume I 

4/5 App. 794 - 1046 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against MOTI Defendants – Volume II 

5/6 App. 1047 - 1299 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against MOTI Defendants – Volume 
III 

6 App. 1300 - 1385 

02.22.18 Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against LLTQ/FERG Defendants 

6 App. 1386 - 1413 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against LLTQ/FERG Defendants – 
Volume I 

6/7 App. 1414 - 1666 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against LLTQ/FERG Defendants – 
Volume II 

7/8 App. 1667 - 1919 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against LLTQ/FERG Defendants – 
Volume III 

8/9 App. 1920 - 2156 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 9/10 App. 2157 - 2382 
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Date Description Vol.  Page Nos. 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against LLTQ/FERG Defendants – 
Volume IV 

03.12.18 Plaintiffs’ Combined Opposition to 
Certain Defendants’ Motions to 
Dismiss 

10 App. 2383 - 2405 

03.12.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Plaintiffs’ Combined Opposition to 
Certain Defendants’ Motions to 
Dismiss 

10/11/12/13 App. 2406 - 3246 

03.28.18 Defendant DNT Acquisition, LLC’s 
Reply Memorandum of Law in further 
support of Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay 

13/14 App. 3247 - 3302 

03.28.18 Reply in support of Amended Motion 
to Dismiss or, in the alternative, to Stay 
Claims Asserted Against LLTQ/FERG 
and MOTI Defendants 

14 App. 3303 - 3320 

03.28.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Reply in support of Amended Motion 
to Dismiss or, in the alternative, to Stay 
Claims Asserted Against LLTQ/FERG 
and MOTI Defendants 

14 App. 3321 - 3463 

03.28.18 Defendant Rowen Seibel’s Reply in 
further support of his Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Claims 

14 App. 3464 - 3470 

03.28.18 Defendants TPOV Enterprises and 
TPOV Enterprises 16, LLC Reply 
Memorandum of Law in further support 
of Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay 

14 App. 3471 - 3481 

05.01.18 Transcript of Proceedings: Motions to 
Dismiss 

14/15 App. 3482 - 3533 

06.01.18 Order Denying, without prejudice, (1) 
Defendant Rowen Seibel’s Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Claims; (2) 
Defendants TPOV Enterprises and 

15 App. 3534 - 3573 
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Date Description Vol.  Page Nos. 
TPOV Enterprises 16’s Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Claims; (3) Motion 
to Dismiss or, in the alternative, to Stay 
Claims Asserted Against DNT 
Acquisition, LLC; (4) Amended 
Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, 
to Stay Claims Asserted Against 
LLTQ/FERG Defendants; and (5) 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against MOTI Defendants 

06.04.18 Notice of Entry of Order Denying, 
without prejudice, (1) Defendant 
Rowen Seibel’s Motion to Dismiss 
Plaintiffs’ Claims; (2) Defendants 
TPOV Enterprises and TPOV 
Enterprises 16’s Motion to Dismiss 
Plaintiffs’ Claims; (3) Motion to 
Dismiss or, in the alternative, to Stay 
Claims Asserted Against DNT 
Acquisition, LLC; (4) Amended 
Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, 
to Stay Claims Asserted Against 
LLTQ/FERG Defendants; and (5) 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against MOTI Defendants 

15 App. 3574 - 3617 

 
APPENDIX TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS OR 

PROHIBITION 
 

ALPHABETICAL INDEX 
      
Date Description Vol.  Page Nos. 
02.22.18 Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 

alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against LLTQ/FERG Defendants 

6 App. 1386 - 1413 

02.22.18 Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 

4 App. 777 – 793 
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Date Description Vol.  Page Nos. 
Against MOTI Defendants 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against MOTI Defendants – Volume I 

4/5 App. 794 - 1046 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against MOTI Defendants – Volume II 

5/6 App. 1047 - 1299 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against MOTI Defendants – Volume 
III 

6 App. 1300 - 1385 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against LLTQ/FERG Defendants – 
Volume I 

6/7 App. 1414 - 1666 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against LLTQ/FERG Defendants – 
Volume II 

7/8 App. 1667 - 1919 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against LLTQ/FERG Defendants – 
Volume III 

8/9 App. 1920 - 2156 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against LLTQ/FERG Defendants – 
Volume IV 

9/10 App. 2157 - 2382 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, 
to Stay Claims Asserted Against 
Defendant DNT Acquisition, LLC – 

2/3 App. 273 - 525 
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Date Description Vol.  Page Nos. 
Volume I 

02.22.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, 
to Stay Claims Asserted Against 
Defendant DNT Acquisition, LLC – 
Volume II 

3 App. 526 – 609 

03.12.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Plaintiffs’ Combined Opposition to 
Certain Defendants’ Motions to 
Dismiss 

10/11/12/13 App. 2406 – 3246 

03.28.18 Appendix of Exhibits in support of 
Reply in support of Amended Motion 
to Dismiss or, in the alternative, to Stay 
Claims Asserted Against LLTQ/FERG 
and MOTI Defendants 

14 App. 3321 - 3463 

08.25.17 Complaint 1 App. 1 – 40 
03.28.18 Defendant DNT Acquisition, LLC’s 

Reply Memorandum of Law in further 
support of Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay 

13/14 App. 3247 – 3302 

02.22.18 Defendant Rowen Seibel’s Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Claims 

3 App. 610 – 666 

03.28.18 Defendant Rowen Seibel’s Reply in 
further support of his Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Claims 

14 App. 3464 - 3470 

02.22.18 Defendants TPOV Enterprises and 
TPOV Enterprises 16’s Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Claims 

3/4 App. 667 - 776 

03.28.18 Defendants TPOV Enterprises and 
TPOV Enterprises 16, LLC Reply 
Memorandum of Law in further support 
of Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay 

14 App. 3471 – 3481 

12.14.17 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 
Law 

1 App. 201 – 216 

12.14.17 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 
Law 

1 App. 225 – 241 

02.22.18 Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, 2 App. 254 - 272 
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Date Description Vol.  Page Nos. 
to Stay Claims Asserted Against 
Defendant DNT Acquisition, LLC 

06.04.18 Notice of Entry of Order Denying, 
without prejudice, (1) Defendant 
Rowen Seibel’s Motion to Dismiss 
Plaintiffs’ Claims; (2) Defendants 
TPOV Enterprises and TPOV 
Enterprises 16’s Motion to Dismiss 
Plaintiffs’ Claims; (3) Motion to 
Dismiss or, in the alternative, to Stay 
Claims Asserted Against DNT 
Acquisition, LLC; (4) Amended 
Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, 
to Stay Claims Asserted Against 
LLTQ/FERG Defendants; and (5) 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against MOTI Defendants 

15 App. 3574 - 3617 

09.27.17 Notice of Removal of Counts II and III 
of Lawsuit Pending in Nevada State 
Court to Bankruptcy Court 

1 App. 120 - 200 

09.27.17 Notice of Removal of Lawsuit Pending 
in Nevada State Court to Bankruptcy 
Court 

1 App. 41 - 119 

12.14.17 Order Denying Motion to Transfer 1 App. 217 - 220 
12.14.17 Order Granting Motion to Transfer 1 App. 246 - 249 
12.14.17 Order Granting Motion to Remand 1 App. 221 - 224 
12.14.17 Order Denying Motion to Remand  1 App. 242 - 245 
06.01.18 Order Denying, without prejudice, (1) 

Defendant Rowen Seibel’s Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Claims; (2) 
Defendants TPOV Enterprises and 
TPOV Enterprises 16’s Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Claims; (3) Motion 
to Dismiss or, in the alternative, to Stay 
Claims Asserted Against DNT 
Acquisition, LLC; (4) Amended 
Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, 

15 App. 3534 - 3573 
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Date Description Vol.  Page Nos. 
to Stay Claims Asserted Against 
LLTQ/FERG Defendants; and (5) 
Amended Motion to Dismiss or, in the 
alternative, to Stay Claims Asserted 
Against MOTI Defendants 

03.12.18 Plaintiffs’ Combined Opposition to 
Certain Defendants’ Motions to 
Dismiss 

10 App. 2383 - 2405 

03.28.18 Reply in support of Amended Motion 
to Dismiss or, in the alternative, to Stay 
Claims Asserted Against LLTQ/FERG 
and MOTI Defendants 

14 App. 3303 - 3320 

02.09.18 Stipulation and Order to Consolidate 
Case No.  
A-17-760537-B with and into  
Case No. A-751759-B 

2 App. 250 - 253 

05.01.18 Transcript of Proceedings: Motions to 
Dismiss 

14/15 App. 3482 - 3533 
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multiple parties into a single action in one forum, 1 this forum simply cannot and will not be able to 

resolve all claims as they pertain to DNT and each of the claims asserted here against DNT, Counts I-

III, are disputes that are properly before the Illinois Bankruptcy Court and can be determined in that 

forum.   
 

II. The Debtor Plaintiffs’ Forum Shopping Should Not Be Permitted 

 In their opposition, the Debtor Plaintiffs argue that they are not engaged in improper forum 

shopping because the present action seeks “comprehensive relief.” (Opp. 21.) As set forth above, 

Plaintiffs’ assertion that this action provides comprehensive relief is inaccurate and should be rejected. 

In addition, the caselaw cited by Debtor Plaintiffs is not on point.  Debtor Plaintiffs cite R.R. St. & Co. 

Inc. v. Transp. Ins. Co., 656 F.3d 966, 981 (9th Cir. 2011).  However, in that action there was “no 

question” that second filed action would resolve all issues. Id. at 983.  That is clearly not the case here, 

as explained above.  The Debtor Plaintiffs also seek to downplay the Bankruptcy Court’s negative 

comments about the viability of their position because the comments were made in the context in 

discovery disputes. (Opp. 21.) While DNT concedes that the Bankruptcy Court’s comments – that 

Debtor Plaintiffs’ main defenses are thin and dubious (Exhibit K) – were made during a discussion 

concerning a discovery dispute, that does not change the fact that it was only after those comments 

were made that Debtor Plaintiffs attempted to shop for a new forum to adjudicate matters that were 

already squarely before the Bankruptcy Court. This Court should not permit Debtor Plaintiffs’ forum 

shopping by permitting Plaintiffs to bring the present action against DNT in this Court.  Land v. Allstate 

Ins. Co., 114 Nev. 1176, 1181, 969 P.2d 938, 941 (1998).  
 
III.  The Debtor Plaintiffs Opposition Does Not Rebut the First-to-File Rule 

Plaintiffs argue that this court should refuse to apply the first-to-file rule and maintain 

jurisdiction over the second filed action based on the alleged that this forum is the one “in which all 

interests are best served.” (Opp. 12-14.) First, as explained above, the interests of the parties are not 

                            

1  DNT notes that it was not a party to the removal proceedings before the Nevada Bankruptcy 
Court. Therefore, to the extent that Plaintiffs’ argument in opposition relies on the decision rendered 
by the Nevada Bankruptcy Court in the removal proceedings, DNT is not bound by any decision in that 
matter.  

App. 3251
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best served by proceeding in this forum.  In addition, the cases relied upon by Debtor Plaintiffs are not 

on point. Plaintiffs cite to Continental Insurance Co. v. Hexcel Corp.2 in support of their argument. 

However, in Continental Insurance the difference in time in the filing of lawsuits in Continental 

Insurance was a mere eight days (id. at *2), as contrasted with the two years between DNT’s proofs of 

claim and the present action.  Plaintiffs also cite to Amlin Corp. Member Ltd. v. Leeward3, a case in 

which the time difference between the first-filed and second-filed cases was a mere two days (id. at 

*2.)  Also, the Amlin court held that the choice of forum should be given to the “true plaintiffs” in the 

dispute, and not the party which filed an action seeking a declaration that it owed no obligation to the 

true plaintiffs. (Id. at *7.)  

Plaintiffs argue that because there are parties in the present action that are not parties to the 

Federal Action this Court should refuse to apply the first-filed rule.  In support of their argument, 

Plaintiffs cite two cases – Mitchell Capital, LLC v. Powercom, Inc.4 and Jones v. Eighth Judicial 

District Court of County of Clark5 – both cases are inapposite. Contrary to Plaintiffs’ characterization, 

the Mitchell court addressed in dicta the propriety of a court’s exercise of jurisdiction over a declaratory 

relief default judgment that involved additional unrelated parties and was filed after judgment in the 

prior action. See Mitchell Capital, LLC v. Powercom, Inc., 2015 WL 5774161 at *3 n.2. Important to 

the Mitchell court’s ruling was a finding that the subsequently filed declaratory judgment case 

“involved many parties unrelated to [the previous] judgment” (id.) which is not the case in the instant 

action, as the same relevant parties – DNT and Debtor Plaintiff Desert Place – are present in both 

matters. The mere fact that a later-filed action includes additional parties does not prevent the 

application of the first-to-file rule to dismiss the later-filed action, as “[a] contrary holding could allow 

a party…to skirt the first-to-file rule.” Kohn Law Grp., Inc. v. Auto Parts Mfg. Mississippi, Inc., 787 

F.3d 1237, 1240 (9th Cir. 2015). 

Plaintiffs also cite to Jones, but that decision does not diverge from settled Nevada law in favor 

of the first-filed rule.  The Jones court, in a ruling on a petition for a writ of mandamus challenging a 

                            

2  No. 12-cv-05352-YGR, 2013 WL 1501565, at *1-2 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 10, 2013) 
3  No. 3:12-cv-0360-LRH-VPC, 2012 WL 6020107, at *1 (D. Nev. Nov. 27, 2012) 
4  No. 64669, 2015 WL 5774161, at *3 n.2 (Nev. Sept. 29, 2015) 
5  No. 62614, 2013 WL 3944042, at *2 (Nev. July 24, 2013) 

App. 3252
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motion to dismiss a declaratory judgment action, found that it was “not clear…that the issues presented 

in the declaratory relief action may be adjudicated” in the prior pending case. Jones v. Eighth Judicial 

District Court of County of Clark, 2013 WL 3944042 at *2.  Based on that finding, the court ruled that 

it could not be compelled to conclude that the declaratory action should be dismissed. Id. Unlike in 

Jones, here it is uncontested that the issues presented by Plaintiffs in the instant action are similar if not 

identical issues as raised in the Bankruptcy Court.  

In sum, Debtor Plaintiffs have not provided this Court with sufficient basis to disregard the first-

to-file rule.  Accordingly, this Court should dismiss all claims in this action brought against DNT, or, 

in the alternative, stay such claims until the same issues are resolved by the Illinois Bankruptcy Court. 
 

IV. This Court Should Not Hold This Motion in Abeyance Pending the Resolution of a 
Yet to be Filed or Briefed Motions to Stay 

The Debtor Plaintiffs ask this court to hold DNT’s motion, as well as the motions to dismiss 

filed by other Defendants, in abeyance pending a motion for stay filed (but not briefed) in the 

Bankruptcy Court and a future motion for stay to be filed in the Nevada Federal Court.  (Opp. 15.)   

Plaintiffs do not cite any authority for this proposition – that this Court should hold in abeyance DNT’s 

motion because Plaintiffs intend to file, on some unspecified future date, a request to stay the Federal 

Action.  In making this argument, Plaintiffs provide no excuse as to why they have not sought a stay in 

the Federal Action in the seven (7) months since they filed the present action.   

Second, the Bankruptcy Court will not consider entering a briefing schedule on the motion to 

stay until April 18, 2018 at the earliest.  There is no reason for this Court to wait indefinitely to decide 

the Motion, which will be fully briefed and presented for hearing on April 4, 2018.   

In sum, if this Court denies DNT’s motion to dismiss, Plaintiffs have offered no valid reason 

why this Court should disregard the first-to-file rule and “either dismissing, staying, or transferring the 

later filed suit.” Sherry v. Sherry, No. 62895, 2015 WL 1798857, at *1 (Nev. Apr. 16, 2015). See also 

Jonah Paul Anders v. Mayla Casacop Anders, Respondent., No. 71266, 2017 WL 6547399, at *1 (Nev. 

App. Dec. 14, 2017) (holding the first-to-file rule “authorizes district courts to decline jurisdiction over 

an action if a complaint involving the same parties and issues had already been filed in another trial 

App. 3253
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court” (internal quotations and citation omitted).) Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ instant claims against DNT, 

as a later-filed suit, should be dismissed or in the alternative stayed. 
  

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons set forth above and in the Motion, DNT requests that this Court dismiss all 

claims in the NV Complaint or, in the alternative, stay such claims until the prior Contested Bankruptcy 

Matters are resolved by the Bankruptcy Court. 

  DATED March 28, 2018. 

    MCNUTT LAW FIRM, P.C. 

      
/s/ Dan McNutt                                    

 DANIEL R. MCNUTT (SBN 7815) 
MATTHEW C. WOLF (SBN 10801) 
625 South Eighth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

     Attorneys for R Squared Global 
     Solutions, LLC, appearing derivatively 
     On behalf of Defendant DNT ACQUISITION LLC 

 
 

  

App. 3254
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b) and EDCR 8.05 on March 28, 2018 

I caused service of the foregoing DEFENDANT DNT ACQUISTION, LLC’S REPLY 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN FURTHER SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS, OR, IN 

THE ALTERNATIVE TO STAY to be made by depositing a true and correct copy of same in the 

United States Mail, postage fully prepaid, addressed to the following and/or via electronic mail through 

the Eighth Judicial District Court’s E-Filing system to the following at the e-mail address provided in 

the e-service list: 
 
James Pisanelli, Esq. (SBN 4027) 
Debra Spinelli, Esq. (SBN 9695) 
Brittnie Watkins, Esq. (SBN 13612) 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
jjp@pisanellibice.com 
dls@pisanellibice.com 
btw@pisanellibice.com 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PHWLV, LLC 
 
Allen Wilt, Esq. (SBN 4798) 
John Tennert, Esq. (SBN 11728) 
FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C. 
300 East 2nd Street, Suite 1510 
Reno, NV 89501 
awilt@fclaw.com  
jtennert@fclaw.com  
Attorneys for Defendant 
Gordon Ramsay 
   
Robert E. Atkinson, Esq. (SBN 9958) 
Atkinson Law Associates Ltd. 
8965 S. Eastern Ave. Suite 260 
Las Vegas, NV 89123 
Robert@nv-lawfirm.com  
Attorney for Defendant J. Jeffrey Frederick 
       
      /s/ Lisa A. Heller                                  . 
      Employee of McNutt Law Firm  
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DANIEL R. MCNUTT (SBN 7815) 
MATTHEW C. WOLF (SBN 10801) 
MCNUTT LAW FIRM, P.C. 
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Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Tel. (702) 384-1170 / Fax. (702) 384-5529 
drm@mcnuttlawfirm.com  
mcw@mcnuttlawfirm.com 
 
NATHAN Q. RUGG (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
BARACK FERRAZZANO KIRSCHBAUM & NAGELBERG LLP 
200 W. MADISON ST., SUITE 3900 
CHICAGO, IL 60606 
Tel. (312) 984-3127 / Fax. (312) 984-3150 
 
STEVEN B. CHAIKEN (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
ADELMAN & GETTLEMAN, LTD. 
53 West Jackson Boulevard, Suite 1050 
Chicago, IL 60604 
Tel. (312) 435-1050 / Fax. (312) 435-1059 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
LLTQ Enterprises, LLC; LLTQ Enterprises 16, LLC; 
 FERG, LLC; FERG 16, LLC; MOTI Partners, LLC;  
and MOTI Partners 16, LLC 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

ROWEN SEIBEL, an individual and citizen of 
New York, derivatively on behalf of Real Party 
in Interest GR BURGR LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
PHWLV, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; GORDON RAMSAY, an individual; 
DOES I through X; ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, 
 

Defendants, 
 

AND ALL RELATED MATTERS 

Case No.: A-17-751759-B 
Dept. No.: 15 
 
Consolidated with: 
Case No.: A-17-760537-B 
 
REPLY IN SUPPORT OF AMENDED 
MOTION TO DISMISS OR, IN THE 
ALTERNATIVE, TO STAY CLAIMS 
ASSERTED AGAINST LLTQ/FERG AND 
MOTI DEFENDANTS 

 
This document applies to:  
A-17-760537-B 
 

Hearing Date: April 4, 2018 
Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m. 

Defendants LLTQ ENTERPRISES 16, LLC (“LLTQ 16”), LLTQ ENTERPRISES, LLC 

(“LLTQ”), and FERG 16, LLC (“FERG 16”), FERG, LLC (“FERG” and together with LLTQ 16, LLTQ 

and FERG 16, the “LLTQ/FERG Defendants”), MOTI PARTNERS 16, LLC (“MOTI 16”)m and MOTI 

Case Number: A-17-751759-B
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PARTNERS, LLC (“MOTI” and together with MOTI 16 the “MOTI Defendants”) hereby submit their 

combined reply in support of their respective amended motions (the “Motion”) to dismiss or, in the 

alternative, to stay the claims asserted against the LLTQ/FERG Defendants in the complaint filed on 

August 25, 2017, seeking equitable and declaratory relief (the “NV Complaint”).  
  

INTRODUCTION 

 Comprehensive relief as imagined by the plaintiffs simply is not available in this forum, or in 

any other.  Five separate pieces of litigation exist across state and federal courts in connection with six 

contracts among four plaintiffs on the one hand and ten defendants on the other.  Critically, the 

Contested Bankruptcy Matters1 have been pending for nearly three years and present defenses and legal 

disputes restated in the NV Complaint with respect to two plaintiffs, the LLTQ/FERG Defendants, and 

the MOTI Defendants.  Moreover, there are parts of the Contested Bankruptcy Matters that this court 

simply cannot decide, i.e. the substantive  relief sought by those parties under sections 363, 365 and 

503 of the Bankruptcy Code.   

 In their combined response to the Motion (the “Response”) the plaintiffs cite to cases where 

separate actions have been consolidated, though none similar to the number and scope of the prior 

pending actions at issue here.  Most cases cited in the Response involve disputes in insurance coverage 

litigation (or proceeds from a descendant’s estate) where multiple creditors are seeking the same funds 

or the parties are fighting over indemnification.  Also, in many cases, the competing litigation had been 

filed only weeks or sometimes days apart.  In stark contrast, the Contested Bankruptcy Matters will 

surpass a three year anniversary in June 2018 in federal bankruptcy court.  Despite years of litigation 

and extensive discovery, through the NV Complaint, the Debtor Plaintiffs improperly seek to add two 

non-debtor plaintiffs and six defendants to the disputed issues in the Contested Bankruptcy Matters and 

have their defenses adjudicated in state court via declaratory judgment. 

Fifteen of the sixteen parties to the NV Action are already subject to five separate actions 

involving six different contracts for five different restaurant ventures.  Substantive differences exist in 

the prior litigation, the underlying contracts, and restaurant ventures; for example: some ventures 

                            

1  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed in the Motion.   
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involve the Ramsay brand, others do not; some actions must be decided by Nevada law, some by New 

Jersey law, and other relationships are governed by New York law and by Delaware law; some disputes 

require application of federal bankruptcy law; some involve business relationships with joint ventures 

formed with third parties who are not defendants, while some contracting parties are defendants herein; 

in some, but not all disputes, assignment of ownership and contractual rights are at issue; some 

restaurants were literally built through substantive capital investments made by the defendants, while 

other restaurants did not require such contributions; and some restaurants are still operating 

notwithstanding purported termination, some are alleged to be “rebranded”, and others have been shut 

down.  Each of the foregoing factors have been raised in and are contested in the various prior pending 

litigation, thus precluding “comprehensive” sweeping relief to be provided on a uniform basis as 

requested by plaintiffs.   

The heart of the instant disputes are restrictive covenants in the Pub Agreements, which 

collectively govern the Ramsay Pubs and Ramsay Steak restaurants (i.e. two of the five restaurant 

ventures). Caesars, CAC and the LLTQ/FERG Defendants have been engaged in contested litigation 

over these restrictive covenants for nearly three years in the Illinois Bankruptcy Court.  Contrary to the 

alleged goals of efficiency and preservation of judicial resources, adding two plaintiffs and eight 

defendants to these matters will only delay resolution.  The quickest way to resolve the parties’ central 

disputes (i.e. the fraudulent inducement and rescission defenses reasserted in Counts II and III) is to 

allow the Illinois Bankruptcy Court decide the matters without having this Court simultaneously seek 

to adjudicate the same issues.  Moreover, a declaratory judgment is not a proper mode of determining 

the sufficiency of legal defenses to a pending action, much less multiple pending actions.  The Debtor 

Plaintiffs added additional litigants who are not parties to the Pub Agreements to disguise their blatant 

forum shopping.   

Accordingly, the Motion should be granted. 

 

/// 
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ARGUMENT 
 

I.  The overarching defense to Motion is based on an errant premise that comprehensive 
relief is available in this Court. 

 The conceit for the NV Complaint is that the plaintiffs have an absolute right to comprehensive 

relief in one forum.  They do not.  Such relief is simply not available here, where the NV Complaint (a) 

generically asserts three propositions for declaratory judgment across six different contracts entered 

among separate and distinct parties over a span of six years for six different restaurants, and (b) is the 

last to be filed after four separate pieces of litigation involving the various restaurant ventures, all of 

which were pending in different federal and state courts across four states (collectively, the “Prior 

Litigation”).  “Comprehensive relief” is a theme throughout the Response in an effort to: (i) distract this 

Court from the Debtor Plaintiffs’ forum shopping; and (ii) evade the “first to file” rule.  This Court 

simply cannot provide comprehensive relief to all parties for all disputes.  The Illinois Bankruptcy Court, 

on the other hand, can comprehensively resolve all disputes between the Debtor Plaintiffs and the 

LLTQ/FERG Defendants and between the Debtor Plaintiffs and the MOTI Defendants. This Court 

should therefore dismiss or stay the NV Complaint to allow the Prior Litigation to proceed to their 

respective conclusions.  
 

A. The NV Complaint improperly attempts to homogenize rights and obligations 
under six different contracts. 

The plaintiffs argue that the NV Complaint should not be dismissed in favor of the Prior 

Litigation because the NV Complaint is “broader” in scope and thus more comprehensive.  It is not.  

Rather, the NV Complaint is an overly-simplified attempt to homogenize the separate and distinct 

disputes among the different parties separately asserted in the Prior Litigation.  
  
1.  The NV Complaint improperly conflates the multiple defendants 

While the Plaintiffs purport to have terminated all of the underlying contracts at the same time, 

the viability and effect of the termination cannot be resolved uniformly through the NV Action.  Each 

restaurant venture is different, governed by different contracts with different terms among different 

parties.   

The plaintiffs allege that Mr. Rowen Seibel is the unifying link among all the defendants to the 

NV Complaint.  Mr. Seibel, however, cannot be equated to a single corporate entity in lieu of the multiple 
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separate contracting entities to the various agreements at issue.  Pursuant to section 13.10 of the LLTQ 

Agreement, Nevada law governs “the validity, construction, performance and effect” of the contract.  

LLTQ Agree. (Ex. R to the Response), § 12.10.  Nevada generally treats corporations and shareholders 

as separate legal entities. See Brown v. Kinross Gold U.S.A., Inc., 531 F. Supp. 2d 1234, 1241 (D. Nev. 

2008).  Pursuant to section 14.10 of the FERG Agreement, New Jersey law governs “the validity, 

construction, performance and effect” of the contract. FERG Agree. (Ex. T to the Response), § 14.10.  

New Jersey courts similarly hold as a “fundamental proposition” that a corporation is a separate entity 

from its shareholders.  Richard A. Pulaski Const. Co., Inc. v. Air Frame Hangars, Inc., 195 N.J. 457, 

472, 950 A.2d 868, 877 (2008).  Nowhere in the NV Complaint do the plaintiffs allege they entered into 

a contract with Mr. Seibel, individually, or that the corporate veil should be pierced. 

 In a similar vein, the Debtor Plaintiffs previously tried to conflate Mr. Seibel with the separate 

contracting entity parties in the Contested Bankruptcy Matters, which theory the Illinois Bankruptcy 

Court rejected.  At a hearing on February 15, 2017, months before the filing of the NV Action, the 

Illinois Bankruptcy Court commented that LLTQ, FERG and MOTI “are not Mr. Seibel. . .”  A true and 

correct copy of the 2-15-17 Transcript is attached hereto as Exhibit A; see p. 23, lines 16-19.  The Illinois 

Bankruptcy Court also stated that the disputes between the Debtor Plaintiffs and LLTQ/FERG 

Defendants on the one hand, and their disputes with MOTI Defendants on the other, were different and 

had to be kept separate. “I don’t want to have one great big – I don’t want to think of this as the Rowen 

Seibel dispute singular.  I would rather keep these apart, if we can, because I have a sense they’re 

really different. There is the Ramsay stuff and there is the Moti stuff.”  A true and correct copy of the 

3-23-17 Transcript is attached hereto as Exhibit B; see p. 21, lines 18-21 (Emphasis added).   

Indeed, even within the Contested Bankruptcy Matters the disputes involving MOTI Defendants 

are separate and distinct from the disputes involving the LLTQ/FERG Defendants.  In connection with 

the MOTI administrative expense claim, the Illinois Bankruptcy Court must decide whether there is a 

controlling written agreement among the parties in the first instance.  Depending on whether the MOTI 

Agreement (as modified by an unsigned written amendment) controls, the parties’ disputes related to 

suitability may be irrelevant.  Specifically, the Illinois Bankruptcy Court stated: 
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But it wasn’t signed, so it’s not a written amendment. I mean, this just raises another 
issue. That’s the whole problem with this whole thing. I don’t know the answer to this. 
If people propose a written amendment to a written contract, and they never execute 
it, but then they operate post expiration of the original agreement as if this has been 
signed, what do we have? (Exhibit A, p. 20, lines 10-17) 
 
***** 
Isn’t there also a question about this suitability requirement if in fact the contract 
expired? I mean, I don’t think you can pull these issues apart. If the written agreement 
that had that requirement in it expired, and the parties were operating on some other 
basis, then I don’t even know if it would be relevant anymore. I’m just not sure. That’s 
why, again, I can’t get past this expiration problem. (Id. at p. 25, lines 1-9.) 

After supplemental briefing on the issue, the Illinois Bankruptcy Court reiterated that there may 

no longer be an operative written document controlling the parties’ relationship. At a hearing conducted 

on June 21, 2017, the Illinois Bankruptcy Court indicated that the MOTI Agreement was not subject to 

a written extension, and that an evidentiary hearing is required to determine the parties’ relationship with 

respect to the Serendipity restaurant.  A true and correct copy of the 6-21-17 Transcript is attached hereto 

as Exhibit C.  At the hearing, the Illinois Bankruptcy Court stated: 
 
My research suggests the following. One, based at least on the facts that I have now, 
the contract was not extended. The parties continued operating, but not under the 
contract. They continued operating in some new way. Exactly how they operated and 
in what new way isn't entirely clear to me.    [Exhibit C, p. 29, lines 16-22] 
 
**** 
So I think we’re going -- and unless you’re able to convince me in a way you haven’t 
so far, and I realize we’re not at that point, that this contract really was extended -- we 
are going to have a factual question about what the terms were. And we know what 
factual questions require. They require an evidentiary hearings. 
 
Id. at p. 30, lines 17-23. 

The NV Complaint does not seek a determination as to the terms that governed the parties’ relationship, 

an issue set to be determined by the Illinois Bankruptcy Court.  If the MOTI Agreement does not control, 

the suitability provisions therein are inapplicable and no relief can be afforded under the NV Complaint.  

The MOTI Defendants are thus in a wholly different position vis-à-vis Caesars and its suitability issues 

than the LLTQ/FERG Defendants and any of the other defendants named in the NV Complaint.  

 In addition to the foregoing, Mr. Gordon Ramsay and his brand are an essential part of the Pub 

Agreements and the Ramsay Pubs, but are unassociated with (a) the Serendipity restaurant and the MOTI 
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Agreement, and (b) the Old Homestead restaurant and the DNT Agreement.  There are thus different 

brands and different parties at issue but which were not made part of the NV Complaint; neither Mr. 

Ramsay nor his entities are parties to the NV Complaint.  The Illinois Bankruptcy Court has opined on 

this issue.  In connection with a discovery dispute and a motion to compel filed by the LLTQ/FERG 

Defendants in the Contested Bankruptcy Matters, Mr. Ramsay argued that he was not a party to the 

Contested Bankruptcy Matters.  At a hearing conducted on September 20, 2017, the Illinois Bankruptcy 

Court elaborated on the central role Mr. Ramsay plays in the Contested Bankruptcy Matters specific to 

the Pub Agreements. 
 

“Therefore, [Mr. Ramsay] says, he is entitled to special consideration a party would 
otherwise not receive.  
 
Ramsay is mistaken. He is at the very center of the dispute between FERG, LLTQ, 
and the debtors. The FERG and LLTQ agreements would not have come about but for 
the debtors’ desire to have Ramsay-branded pubs. The debtors have their own 
agreements with Ramsay, and the debtors have sought to reject those agreements and 
enter into new ones with him. The suggestion that Ramsay is some sort of third party, 
a mere bystander here, is simply not credible.  So whatever special considerations to 
which non-parties might be entitled will not be extended to him.”   
 
9-20-17 Transcript, p. 14, lines 1-14. 

As demonstrated by the rulings to date in the Contested Bankruptcy Matters, the unique 

circumstances among all the defendants are not subject to uniform relief.  
 
2. The NV Complaint will not result in one consistent ruling for all three counts 

across the 12 different defendants and 6 separate contracts. 

The foregoing makes clear that not only are the defendants unique, but so are the legal issues 

between them and the various plaintiffs.  There are different facts at issue for each of the restaurant 

ventures and each contract.  For example, only MOTI and DNT executed “Business Information Forms” 

in connection with their contracts with Caesars (the “MOTI/DNT BIFs”).  Complaint, ¶¶27, 38.  No 

other defendant executed a Business Information Form, yet Plaintiffs’ reliance on the disclosures 

contained in the MOTI/DNT BIFs are at the heart of the suitability disputes in the NV Complaint.  Id. 

at ¶¶36, 55, 65, 77 and 87. Therefore, for some defendants, but not all, Plaintiffs will have to demonstrate 

why they relied on representations from third parties to proceed with the underlying restaurant ventures.  
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For example, Caesars and CAC will have to show that they actually and reasonably relied on a 

MOTI/DNT BIF three years after their execution for the Pub Agreements when neither MOTI nor DNT 

are parties to the Pub Agreements. 

As summarized below, a host of different facts and circumstances apply to the various 

defendants, their respective contracts with the plaintiffs, the respective legal issues among the parties, 

and the status of the Prior Litigation: 
 

i. Each restaurant is a different enterprise, with different branding and intellectual 
property, subject to separate contracts. Complaint, ¶¶26, 37, 47, 57, 69 and 79. 
 

ii. Caesars required capital contributions from MOTI in 2009 to build the Serendipity 
restaurant (MOTI Agree, Exhibit W to the Response, § 1.1), and from LLTQ in 
2012 to build the first Ramsay Pub (LLTQ Agree., Ex. R to the Response, § 3.2(d)). 
 

iii. Some of the restaurant ventures involve Mr. Ramsay and his brand, while others 
do not.  Id. 
 

iv. The FERG Agreement is subject to New Jersey law (FERG Agree., Ex T to the 
Response, § 14.10), whereas many of the underlying contracts are subject to 
Nevada law.  Response, p. 14. 
 

v. Caesars has shut down the Serendipity restaurant subject to the original MOTI 
Agreement (Complaint, ¶123), while all other restaurants remain open. 
 

vi. The MOTI Agreement does not contain a definition of “Unsuitable Person” (Ex. 
W to the Response), while the other contracts have defined this terms.  Complaint, 
¶¶43, 53, 62, 74 and 84. 
 

vii. Plaintiff Planet Hollywood has purported to open “a rebranded restaurant with 
Gordon Ramsay” (Complaint, ¶128) in connection with the GR Burger restaurant, 
but none of the other restaurant ventures are subject to an alleged rebranding. 
 

viii. This Court has decided a motion for preliminary injunction in connection with the 
GR Burger restaurant.  Complaint, ¶127. 
 

ix. The federal district court has already decided a motion to dismiss the Prior 
Litigation involving the TPOV Defendants, granting in part and denying in part 
the motion. Complaint, ¶129. 
 

x. Extensive discovery has been conducted in the Contested Bankruptcy Matters 
(Complaint, ¶124). 
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xi. As part of the Contested Bankruptcy Matters the Debtor Plaintiffs sought approval 
of the Illinois Bankruptcy Court to enter into new agreements with Gordon Ramsay 
to replace the Pub Agreements (Ramsay Rejection Motion, Ex. F to the Motion), 
which approval must be decided under section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code and 
has not been awarded to date. 
 

xii. Count III of the NV Complaint is based on specific restrictive covenants contained 
in certain contracts, the covenants in the LLTQ Agreement and FERG Agreement 
are already at issue in the Contested Bankruptcy Matters.  Complaint, ¶121. 
 

xiii. Each contract treats termination differently and contains express language 
detailing the parties’ rights upon termination.  For example: 
 

a. Section 4.3 of the  LLTQ Agreement states that the restrictive covenants in 
section 13.22 survive termination. Ex. R to the Response. 
 

b. Section 4.1 of the FERG Agreement provides that the FERG Agreement 
shall be in effect and binding on any new agreements between CAC and 
Mr. Ramsay.  Ex. T to the Response.  
 

c. Section 3.2.3 of the MOTI Agreement provides for an early termination 
payment to be made to MOTI if Caesars terminate the contract  “for any 
reason or no reason at all.”  Ex. W to the Response. 

 
B. Truly comprehensive relief requires adjudication of the Contested Bankruptcy 

Matters by the Illinois Bankruptcy Court. 

 Only the Illinois Bankruptcy Court can decide the Contested Bankruptcy Matters. These 

disputes involve rejection under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code,  administrative claims under 503 

of the Bankruptcy Code, and distributions under the Plan for claims against the Debtor Plaintiffs.  

Therefore, while the NV Complaint attempts to provide a single forum for all parties, it cannot and does 

not purport to resolve all claims among those parties.  This is the fundamental fallacy of the proposed 

comprehensive relief under the NV Complaint.   
 

II. Taken as a whole, the NV Complaint represents an improper request for this Court to 
determine defenses pending in the Contested Bankruptcy Matters. 

The plaintiffs assert in their Response that the LLTQ/FERG Defendants advocated that Counts 

II and III of the NV Complaint be prosecuted outside of the Illinois Bankruptcy Court.  Response, pp. 

10, 21.  Their citation to the record in this regard in incomplete and misleading.  This matter is addressed 

fully in the Motion (¶¶19-26).  In summary, in a contested motion the Debtor Plaintiffs and LLTQ/FERG 

Defendants took contrary positions whether the fraudulent inducement and rescission defenses were 
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properly before the Illinois Bankruptcy Court as part of the Contested Bankruptcy Matters.  The Illinois 

Bankruptcy Court decided in favor of the Debtor Plaintiffs (i.e. denying the LLTQ/FERG Defendants’ 

Protective Order Motion) and allowed them to take suitability discovery and pursue these defenses 

without requiring the Debtor Plaintiffs to file any separate or additional litigation.  Motion, ¶¶25, 26 

(fn1).   

There is no dispute that the Debtor Plaintiffs first raised the fraudulent inducement and rescission 

defenses in the Contested Bankruptcy Matters. Complaint, ¶124; Motion, ¶23.  Even if a court 

determines that termination was proper in the first instance, the effect of the termination remains the 

determination critical to the Contested Bankruptcy Matters.  The LLTQ/FERG Defendants have asserted 

in the Contested Bankruptcy Matters that the fraudulent inducement and rescission defenses asserted 

therein are unavailable as a matter of law regardless of the purported termination.  See Protective Order 

Motion (Ex. N to Motion), ¶¶40-46, 55-58. 

“A declaratory judgment is not a proper mode of determining the sufficiency of legal defenses 

to a pending action.”  22A Am. Jur. 2d Declaratory Judgments § 36.  However, this is exactly what 

Debtor Plaintiffs ask this Court to do, having conceded Counts II and III and the related defenses of 

fraudulent inducement and rescission were first raised (and discovery was pursued thereon) in the 

Contested Bankruptcy Matters.  In addition, Count I cannot be separated from the Contested Bankruptcy 

Matters because the Debtor Plaintiffs’ continued operation of the Ramsay Pubs, regardless of the 

purported termination of the Pub Agreements, forms the basis for LLTQ/FERG’s Admin Claim.  

Complaint, ¶122. As such, the issues presented in Counts I-III of the NV Complaint cannot be separated 

from the Contested Bankruptcy Matters and the NV Complaint should be dismissed. 
   

III. The Nevada Bankruptcy Court’s conclusions in the Removed Claims have no 
precedential value and are not binding on this Court.  

Throughout the Response, the plaintiffs cite to the Nevada Bankruptcy Court’s conclusions in 

connection with the Removed Claims.  In particular, plaintiffs reference such conclusions in alleged 

support of this forum to decide the Contested Bankruptcy Matters and to rebut forum shopping.  The 

conclusions contained in the Removed Claims, however, are neither binding nor persuasive for several 

reasons. 
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First, the conclusions are unsupported by findings of fact and are being challenged on appeal.  

The findings included in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (the “Removal Decision”) are 

only a barebones recital of the pleadings filed in the Illinois Bankruptcy Court, the various counts of the 

NV Complaint, and the pleadings filed in the Nevada Bankruptcy Court.  Ex. A to Response, ¶¶1-22.  

Nowhere in the Removal Decision did the Nevada Bankruptcy Court review or consider the decisions 

the Illinois Bankruptcy Court made with respect to the fraudulent inducement and rescission claims or 

other theories previously raised by the Debtor Plaintiffs in the Contested Bankruptcy Matters.  There is 

therefore no basis for this Court to rely on the unsupported conclusion in the Removal Decision with 

respect to forum shopping, and this Court should review the record in the Illinois Bankrupcy Court for 

itself.   

Second, the Nevada Bankruptcy Court conclusions have no precedential value and are not 

binding on this Court in connection with the Motion or beyond.  That court was not presented with and 

did not decide the Motion or the motions to dismiss filed by the other defendants. If a federal court 

grants a motion for remand, it necessarily leaves the disposition of any other matter to the state court. 

See Thee Sombrero, Inc. v. Murphy, 2015 WL 4399631, at *1 (C.D. Cal. July 17, 2015) (citing 

Christopher v. Stanley–Bostitch, Inc., 240 F.3d 95, 100 (1st Cir. 2001) (“When a federal court concludes 

that it lacks subject matter jurisdiction over a case, it is precluded from rendering any judgments on the 

merits of the case.”); Wages v. I.R.S., 915 F.2d 1230, 1234 (9th Cir. 1990) (“[W]e have held that a judge 

ordering a dismissal based upon lack of subject matter jurisdiction retains no power to make judgments 

relating to the merits of the case.”); see also Christopher, 240 F.3d at 100 (1st Cir. 2001) (citing Willy 

v. Coastal Corp., 503 U.S. 131, 137, 112 S.Ct. 1076 (1992) (a federal court’s determination that it lacks 

subject matter jurisdiction precludes rendering judgment on the merits of the underlying case). 

Third, the cases in the Removal Decision are based on federal remand statutes and bankruptcy 

law, not the state law at issue here.  For example, the case cited by the Nevada Bankruptcy Court in 

connection with a forum shopping argument is based on 28 U.S.C. § 1452, the federal statute relevant 

to removal of cases to bankruptcy courts and remand. See In re NE Opco, Inc., 2014 WL 43460803 

(Bankr. C.D. Cal. Aug. 28, 2014).  Not only is the case inapplicable to the present dispute, the NE Opco 
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court did not make any analysis of the forum shopping issues, making only a conclusory statement that 

the relevant factor was neutral in considering remand.  Id. at *3.  
 

IV. This Court should not abstain hearing the Motion in favor of motions to stay yet to 
be filed or briefed. 

 The plaintiffs ask this court to abstain hearing the Motion in favor of a motion for stay filed (but 

not briefed) in the Illinois Bankruptcy Court and a future motion for stay to be filed in the Nevada 

Federal Court.  Response, p. 15.  First, this request is unreasonable on its face as no motion to stay has 

been filed with Nevada Federal Court since the NV Complaint has been filed.  Second, the Illinois 

Bankruptcy Court will not consider entering a briefing schedule on the motion to stay until April 18, 

2018, at the earliest.  Third, the plaintiffs cite no legal authority for the proposed delay.  

 Debtor Plaintiffs first presented their motion to stay the Contested Bankruptcy Matters on March 

21, 2018.  A true and correct copy of the 3-21-18 Transcript is attached hereto as Exhibit D.  At the 

hearing, not only did the Illinois Bankruptcy Court question the ability for the Debtor Plaintiffs to bring 

all disputes into one forum in the first instance (3-21-18 Transcript, p. 3-6), but it also declined to enter 

a briefing schedule for the stay motion.  The Illinois Bankruptcy Court stated: 
 

I don’t think we’re going to be delayed that much if we just come back in April and 
see what’s happened. And maybe I’ll continue the motion again. I don’t know. But 
I’d like to see what develops. I don’t think there’s any harm. 
 
So that’s what I’ll do. I’m going to continue the motion until our April date, which is 
April 18. Okay? And no briefing schedule. So nothing needs to be done 

 
 Exhibit D, p. 13, lines 15-24 (emphasis added). 

 There will be no briefing scheduled established in the Illinois Bankruptcy Court until April 18, 

2018 (the date of the next omnibus hearing), at the earliest.  There is no reason for this Court to wait 

indefinitely to decide the Motion, which will be fully briefed and presented for hearing on April 4, 

2018.  
  
V. The Debtor Plaintiffs are forum shopping. 

 In their Response, the plaintiffs sidestep the issue of forum shopping by (a) repeating the 

disproven and misleading assertion that the defendants advocated for filing the NV Complaint; (b) 

repeating the argument that they are seeking comprehensive relief, which purportedly justifies asking 
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this Court to decide issues already before the Illinois Bankruptcy Court; and (c) citing the Nevada 

Bankruptcy Court’s unsupported conclusion that forum shopping did not occur.  All such matters have 

been rebutted above.   

 The Response cites R.R. St. & Co. Inc. v. Transp. Ins. Co., 656 F.3d 966, 981 (9th Cir. 2011), 

alleging that a party’s forum shopping is forgiven if it is seeking to obtain more comprehensive relief. 

Response, p. 21.  Comprehensive relief is not available here as detailed above.  In contrast, the Ninth 

Circuit found in R.R. St. there was “no question that with the Removed Action in state court, the state 

proceedings will resolve all issues, and the goal of ‘comprehensive disposition of litigation’ will be 

met.” Id. at 983 (emphasis added). 

Moreover, the Ninth Circuit affirmed the district court’s decision to remand back to state court, 

where a related action that “had been pending for several years”.  Id. at 970.  This is in no way analogous 

to the situation presented by the NV Complaint, which seeks to consolidate five pending actions in state 

court with several federal bankruptcy court actions that have been pending for several years.  See also, 

Nakash v. Marciano, 882 F.2d 1411, 1417 (9th Cir. 1989) (“Apparently, after three and one-half years, 

Nakash has become dissatisfied with the state court and now seeks a new forum for their claims. We 

have no interest in encouraging this practice.”).  

The Debtor Plaintiffs also seek to reduce the significance of the Illinois Bankruptcy Court’s 

negative comments because they were made in the context of discovery disputes.  While the Illinois 

Bankruptcy Court’s comments were not case dispositive, this Court should not gainsay the significance 

of a court telling one party that their main defenses are “thin” and “dubious”, even in the context of 

discovery disputes. See Am. Int'l Underwriters (Philippines), Inc. v. Cont'l Ins. Co., 843 F.2d 1253, 1256 

(9th Cir. 1988) (abstention in second action filed in federal court appropriate where party filed to avoid 

evidentiary obstacles). 

In the Motion, the defendants recite several instances where the Illinois Bankruptcy Court cast 

serious doubt as to the viability of very defenses reasserted in the NV Action.  Motion, ¶¶15,  25.  In 

addition, the Illinois Bankruptcy Court made the following comments: 
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I don’t understand how the fraud argument plays into all of this. Fraud is a basis to -- 
in the inducement is a basis to rescind the contract. You can affirm the contract and 
sue for damages if you think there is a breach or you can rescind. 
 
**** 
The other point, which I think is one that the FERG folks were making, is that in order 
to rescind a contract, you have to put both sides back in the position they were 
in. And I don’t understand how that could be done here or if that’s even something 
the Caesars people would really want. 
 
(Transcript of the April 19, 2017 Hearing, attached hereto as Exhibit E; p 14., lines 
17-22, p. 15, lines 6-11 (emphasis added)). 
 
Meanwhile, the relevance of the information the debtors sought is open to serious 
question. In denying FERG and LLTQ’s motion for protective order, I described as 
“thin” the legal theories the debtors have advanced to justify what they call 
“suitability” discovery. As I explained, rescission does not seem to be a possibility 
here, and neither the LLTQ and FERG dispute nor the MOTI dispute appears to 
involve anticipatory repudiation. Nine months have passed since the debtors learned 
of Seibel’s conviction, and still they have articulated no coherent theory that would 
make relevant the documents they want from him. 
 
6-21-17 Transcript (Ex. C), p. 25, lines 17-25, p. 26, lines 1-4 (emphasis added). 

 The Illinois Bankruptcy Court made all of the foregoing comments months before the plaintiffs 

filed the NV Complaint.  This Court should find that the Debtor Plaintiffs engaged in forum shopping 

by filing the NV Complaint in reaction to a string of negative comments from the Illinois Bankruptcy 

Court.  See Gov’t Employees Ins. Co. v. Dizol, 133 F.3d 1220, 1225 (9th Cir. 1998) (“courts should 

generally decline to entertain reactive declaratory actions.”). 
 
VI.  The Plaintiffs cannot rebut the first-to-file rule 

 None of the cases cited in the Response to rebut the “first-to-file rule” are factually or 

procedurally on point with the circumstances here.  In Mitchell Capital, LLC v. Powercom, Inc., 2015 

WL 5774161 (Nev. Sept. 29, 2015), Mitchell obtained a confession of judgment against Powercom, 

which thereafter received life insurance proceeds from a policy obtained by its owner.  A second action 

was brought by Powercom and a second beneficiary for declaratory relief seeking the policy proceeds 

to be declared exempt.  Id. at *1.  Mitchell did not appear in the second proceeding and had a default 

judgment entered against it.  Id.  In an appeal of the default judgment, the Nevada Supreme Court 
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determined that the second action sought a determination based on a state exemption statute, and not 

the first judgment Mitchell obtained; declaratory relief was thus appropriate. Id. at *3, fn 2.   

 Similarly, Jones v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of State ex rel. Cty. of Clark, 2013 WL 3944042 

(Nev. July 24, 2013) is unavailing as it involved declaratory relief after the bifurcation of issues 

involving marriage dissolution on the one hand, and enforcement of contracts on the other.  The issues 

were separate and the court found “It is not clear, however, that the issues presented in the declaratory 

relief action may be adjudicated in the [prior] case.”  Id at *2. 

 Continental Ins. Co. v. Hexcel Corporation is readily distinguishable where the second action 

brought in additional insurance companies as parties who collectively sough a declaration that they had 

no duty to defend or indemnify one company in connection with environmental contamination at one 

site in New Jersey.  656 F.3d at *1.  As detailed above, the NV Complaint cannot bring such 

comprehensive relief and the parties are subject to different contracts, with different provisions, for 

separate projects.  In addition, the two actions at issue in Continental were filed only eight days apart.  

Id. at *4.  Here, the parties have been engaged in contested litigation for over 2 years. 
 
VII. The mandatory forum selection clause contained in the FERG Agreement is enforceable 

under Nevada law.  

 Plaintiffs narrowly construe the FERG Defendants’ argument concerning the forum selection 

clause in attempt to have form prevail over substance. Plaintiffs argue that “FERG’s Rule 12(b)(1) 

motion fails” and that the forum selection clause does not apply on its face. Response, p. 17. By referring 

to this argument solely as a Rule 12(b)(1) motion, plaintiffs omit the holdings of the cases cited in their 

Response– all of which support enforcement of mandatory forum selection clauses and dismissal based 

upon same, whether considered under Rule 12(b)(1) or, as these cases suggest, more appropriately under 

Rule 12(b)(5).   

 First, Plaintiffs cite Walters v. FSP Stallion 1, LLC, 2010 WL 8034117 (Nev. Dist. Ct. Apr. 13, 

2010) for the proposition that “forum selection clauses do not present issues of subject matter jurisdiction 

and should not be considered under Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1).” Response, p. 17. This is 

a partial statement of the Walters analysis which concluded that a motion to dismiss asserting improper 

forum due to a forum selection clause should likely be considered as a motion to dismiss under Nevada 
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Rule of Civil Procedure (12)(b)(5) for failing to state a claim which can be granted in the subject forum. 

Walters, at *1. The court went on to state that a motion for failure to state a claim can be raised at any 

time and granted the motion to dismiss requiring the plaintiff to proceed in the forum agreed upon by 

the forum selection clause. “[T]he Court discerns no unfairness or prejudice to Plaintiff in requiring him 

to proceed in the forum agreed upon in the context of this case.”  Id. Regardless whether this court treats 

the motion to dismiss based on the mandatory forum selection clause under NRCP 12(b)(1) or 12(b)(5), 

the requested relief was timely made and the mandatory forum selection clause is enforceable. Nothing 

in the Response suggests otherwise. 

 Next, Plaintiffs cite the First Circuit decision in Silva v. Encyclopedia Britannica, Inc., 239 F. 

3d 385 (1st Cir. 2001). In Silva, like Walters, the court upheld dismissal of an action based on an 

exclusive forum selection clause contained in the underlying contract. Silva found that “a motion to 

dismiss based on a forum-selection clause may be raised at any time in the proceedings before 

disposition on the merits.” 239 F. 3d at 388. The court found that the mandatory forum selection clause 

was a result of “an arms-length transaction, the terms of which are binding on both parties” and therefore 

enforced the clause and granted the motion to dismiss. Id. at 389.  Plaintiffs do not suggest the forum 

selection claim in the FERG Agreement was anything different. 

 Plaintiffs then cite the Supreme Court’s decision in M/S Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co., 407 

U.S. 1 (1972). M/S Bremen stated that a forum selection clause “made in an arm’s length negotiation by 

experienced and sophisticated businessmen, and absent some compelling and countervailing reason it 

should be honored and enforced by the courts.” 407 U.S. at 12. Plaintiffs cite M/S Bremen for the 

proposition that forum selection clauses do not “oust” a district court of subject matter jurisdiction. Once 

again Plaintiffs omit the underlying holding - that the “threshold question is whether [the] court should 

have exercised its jurisdiction to do more than give effect to the legitimate expectations of the parties, 

manifested in their freely negotiated agreement, by specifically enforcing the forum clause.” Id. This 

Court can and should enforce the mandatory forum selection clause contained in the FERG Agreement 

as it is the product of an arm’s length negotiation between sophisticated parties. Plaintiffs have not 

provided or offered any compelling or countervailing reason not to enforce the legitimate expectations 

of the parties as set forth in the mandatory forum selection clause. 
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Plaintiffs next argue that the forum selection clause is inapplicable on its face. They are wrong. 

Defendant FERG, LLC is a Delaware limited liability company located at 200 Central Park South, New 

York, New York 10019. Complaint, ¶22. Defendant FERG 16, LLC is a Delaware limited liability 

company. Id. at ¶23. The FERG Agreement relates to the design, development, construction, and 

operation of the Gordon Ramsay Pub and Grill restaurant in Atlantic City. Id. at ¶22. 

Through section 14.10(c) of the FERG Agreement, the parties agreed to exclusive jurisdiction 

of courts located in Atlantic City, New Jersey of various matters, including Arbitration Support Actions 

as well as “any action or proceeding contemplated by Section 14.10(b)”. Exh. T to the Response, Sec. 

14.10(c). As stated in the Motion, section 14.10(b) (which plaintiffs do not address in the Response) 

contemplates any proceeding in which equitable relief is sought to enforce the provisions of the FERG 

Agreement. The NV Action is a proceeding seeking equitable relief, including rescission of the Pub 

Agreements.  See, e.g., Complaint, ¶143. Accordingly, the claims asserted against the FERG Defendants 

in the NV Action are subject to an enforceable mandatory forum selection clause and this Court should 

dismiss such claims. 
CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons set forth above and in the Motion, the LLTQ/FERG Defendants and the MOTI 

Defendants request that this Court dismiss all claims in the NV Complaint or, in the alternative, stay 

such claims until the prior Contested Bankruptcy Matters are resolved by the Illinois Bankruptcy Court. 

  DATED March 28, 2018. 

    MCNUTT LAW FIRM, P.C. 

      
/s/ Dan McNutt                                               

 DANIEL R. MCNUTT (SBN 7815) 
MATTHEW C. WOLF (SBN 10801) 
625 South Eighth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorneys for Defendants 
LLTQ Enterprises, LLC; 
LLTQ Enterprises 16, LLC; FERG, LLC; 
FERG 16, LLC; MOTI Partners, LLC; 
MOTI  Partners 16, LLC;   
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b) and EDCR 8.05 on March 28, 

2018, I caused service of the foregoing REPLY IN SUPPORT OF AMENDED MOTION TO 

DISMISS OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, TO STAY CLAIMS ASSERTED AGAINST 

LLTQ/FERG AND MOTI DEFENDANTS to be made by depositing a true and correct copy of 

same in the United States Mail, postage fully prepaid, addressed to the following and/or via electronic 

mail through the Eighth Judicial District Court’s E-Filing system to the following at the e-mail address 

provided in the e-service list: 
 
James Pisanelli, Esq. (SBN 4027) 
Debra Spinelli, Esq. (SBN 9695) 
Brittnie Watkins, Esq. (SBN 13612) 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
jjp@pisanellibice.com 
dls@pisanellibice.com 
btw@pisanellibice.com 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PHWLV, LLC 
 
Allen Wilt, Esq. (SBN 4798) 
John Tennert, Esq. (SBN 11728) 
FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C. 
300 East 2nd Street, Suite 1510 
Reno, NV 89501 
awilt@fclaw.com  
jtennert@fclaw.com  
Attorneys for Defendant 
Gordon Ramsay 
   
Robert E. Atkinson, Esq. (SBN 9958) 
Atkinson Law Associates Ltd. 
8965 S. Eastern Ave. Suite 260 
Las Vegas, NV 89123 
Robert@nv-lawfirm.com  
Attorney for Defendant J. Jeffrey Frederick 
   
       
      /s/ Lisa A. Heller                                  . 
      Employee of McNutt Law Firm, P.C. 
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APEN 
DANIEL R. MCNUTT (SBN 7815) 
MATTHEW C. WOLF (SBN 10801) 
MCNUTT LAW FIRM, P.C. 
625 South Eighth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Tel. (702) 384-1170 / Fax. (702) 384-5529 
drm@mcnuttlawfirm.com  
mcw@mcnuttlawfirm.com 
 
NATHAN Q. RUGG (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
BARACK FERRAZZANO KIRSCHBAUM & NAGELBERG LLP 
200 W. MADISON ST., SUITE 3900 
CHICAGO, IL 60606 
Tel. (312) 984-3127 / Fax. (312) 984-3150 
Nathan.Rugg@bfkn.com  
 
STEVEN B. CHAIKEN (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
ADELMAN & GETTLEMAN, LTD. 
53 West Jackson Boulevard, Suite 1050 
Chicago, IL 60604 
Tel. (312) 435-1050 / Fax. (312) 435-1059 
sbc@ag-ltd.com  
Attorneys for Defendants LLTQ Enterprises, LLC;  
LLTQ Enterprises 16, LLC; 
FERG, LLC; FERG 16, LLC; 
MOTI PARTNERS, LLC  
and MOTI PARTNERS 16, LLC   
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

ROWEN SEIBEL, an individual and citizen of 
New York, derivatively on behalf of Real Party 
in Interest GR BURGR LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
PHWLV, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; GORDON RAMSAY, an individual; 
DOES I through X; ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, 
 

Defendants, 
 

AND ALL RELATED MATTERS 

Case No.: A-17-751759-B 
Dept. No.: 15 
 
Consolidated with: 
Case No.: A-17-760537-B 
 
APPENDIX OF EXHBIITS IN SUPPORT OF 
REPLY IN SUPPORT OF AMENDED 
MOTION TO DISMISS OR, IN THE 
ALTERNATIVE, TO STAY CLAIMS 
ASSERTED AGAINST LLTQ/FERG AND 
MOTI DEFENDANTS 
 

 
 

This document applies to:  
A-17-760537-B 
 
 

  

Case Number: A-17-751759-B

Electronically Filed
3/28/2018 12:39 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Exhibit Description Page No. 

Range 
A. 2-15-17 Hearing Transcript (Caeasars IL 

Bankruptcy Case) 
1 - 38 

B. 3-23-17 Hearing Transcript (Caesars IL 
Bankruptcy Case) 

39 - 63 

C. 6-21-17 Hearing Transcript (Caesars IL 
Bankruptcy Case) 

64 - 96 

D. 03-21-18 Hearing Transcript (Caesars IL 
Bankruptcy Case) 

97 - 111 

E. 4-19-17 Hearing Transcript (Caesars IL 
Bankruptcy Case) 

112 - 140 

DATED March 28, 2018. 

    MCNUTT LAW FIRM, P.C. 

      
/s/ Dan McNutt                                    

 DANIEL R. MCNUTT (SBN 7815) 
MATTHEW C. WOLF (SBN 10801) 
625 South Eighth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

     Attorneys for Defendants LLTQ Enterprises, LLC;  
     LLTQ Enterprises 16, LLC; 
     FERG, LLC; and FERG 16, LLC  
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b) and EDCR 8.05 on March 28, 2018 

I caused service of the foregoing APPENDIX OF EXHBIITS IN SUPPORT OF REPLY IN 

SUPPORT OF AMENDED MOTION TO DISMISS OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, TO STAY 

CLAIMS ASSERTED AGAINST LLTQ/FERG AND MOTI DEFENDANTS to be made by 

depositing a true and correct copy of same in the United States Mail, postage fully prepaid, addressed 

to the following and/or via electronic mail through the Eighth Judicial District Court’s E-Filing system 

to the following at the e-mail address provided in the e-service list: 
 
James Pisanelli, Esq. (SBN 4027) 
Debra Spinelli, Esq. (SBN 9695) 
Brittnie Watkins, Esq. (SBN 13612) 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
jjp@pisanellibice.com 
dls@pisanellibice.com 
btw@pisanellibice.com 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PHWLV, LLC 
 
Allen Wilt, Esq. (SBN 4798) 
John Tennert, Esq. (SBN 11728) 
FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C. 
300 East 2nd Street, Suite 1510 
Reno, NV 89501 
awilt@fclaw.com  
jtennert@fclaw.com  
Attorneys for Defendant 
Gordon Ramsay 
   
Robert E. Atkinson, Esq. (SBN 9958) 
Atkinson Law Associates Ltd. 
8965 S. Eastern Ave. Suite 260 
Las Vegas, NV 89123 
Robert@nv-lawfirm.com  
Attorney for Defendant J. Jeffrey Frederick 
       
      /s/ Lisa A. Heller                                  . 
      Employee of McNutt Law Firm  
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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

 

CAESARS ENTERTAINMENT OPERATING  )
COMPANY, INC., et al., No. 15 B 01145  )
                          Chicago, Illinois )
                                   1:30 p.m. )
                  Debtor.        February 15, 2017                )

 

 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE 
HONORABLE A. BENJAMIN GOLDGAR 

 

 

APPEARANCES:   

For the Debtors:                 Mr. Joseph Graham; 
 
For the U.S. Trustee:            Mr. Roman Sukley; 
 
For the Noteholder Committee:    Mr. Joshua Mester; 
 
For the Unsecured Creditors 
Committee:                       Mr. Paul Possinger; 
 
For Moti Partners, et al.:       Mr. Nathan Rugg; 
 
 
 

 

Court Reporter:                  Amy Doolin, CSR, RPR 
                                 U.S. Courthouse 
                                 219 South Dearborn 
                                 Room 661  
                                 Chicago, IL  60604. 
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THE CLERK:  We are taking up all

matters on the call in the Caesars Entertainment

Operating Company, Incorporated, bankruptcy case.

MR. MESTER:  Good afternoon, Your

Honor.  Joshua Mester of Jones Day on behalf of the

noteholder committee.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.  

I actually have a couple of matters I

want to take up with the debtors first, if I might.

MR. MESTER:  Sure.

THE COURT:  I wanted to pose the

question that I posed at the end of the confirmation

hearing and see if I could get a better sense, and

that is, what do you imagine - emphasis on imagine -

is in store down the road?  I ask this, as I said

back in January, because I am trying to gauge whether

I could take back work from other judges on my cases

that they have kindly been doing for me.

I am asking purely for an estimate.

Nothing you say will be binding.  If something blows

up in this case, I won't say, but, Mr. Graham, you

told me everything was going to be fine.  But I

really think it's not fair to Judge Doyle, who has

been doing my Chapter 13 cases, and some of the other

judges whose case weights have gone up as my
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assignments have gone down to have them continue to

do work if I am available to do it.

Right now everything is quiet.  Will

it continue to be fairly quiet?  What do you project?

And, again, this is not binding.  Just tell me what

you think.

MR. GRAHAM:  Understood.

THE COURT:  Because I can always undo

this.

MR. GRAHAM:  Understood, Your Honor.

Joe Graham, Kirkland & Ellis, on

behalf of the debtors.

It's our expectation that things will

continue to be quiet.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  We will have some

contract litigation that, you know, is on today's

agenda.  That will be continuing.

THE COURT:  Right.

MR. GRAHAM:  There will be things like

the Louisiana claims objections.  We'll have other

claims objections.  But outside of that, we don't

expect there to be a lot of activity in this court.

A lot of the work that remains to be done to go

effective is regulatory approval, raising, you know,
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a couple -- almost $3 billion in financing.  But

those are work streams that, obviously, we don't have

to come to this court to do.  So we would expect that

this is about as large of a crowd as you're going to

see going forward at these omnibus hearings.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So, I mean, you

don't anticipate any adversary proceedings or any

large claim and contentious claim objections

necessarily?

MR. GRAHAM:  No adversary proceedings

among the major parties.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  That actually is a good

segue into one quick housekeeping matter, if that's

okay?

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. GRAHAM:  We did get an email from

Donald Marro, who you may recall his claim was

disallowed in October.  He's appealing that.

THE COURT:  Right.

MR. GRAHAM:  It was a motion to lift

the stay with a draft complaint asserting actual

fraud against CEC and CEOC related to general

transactions and the guaranty actions.  Obviously,

the plan releases those.  I am not sure when they
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will hit the docket.  He sent them via email in Word

version on Monday, saying that he was going to set --

he was going to notice them for hearing on March 1st.

Obviously, it's not a motion to lift

stay.  It would be a standing motion.  We can object

to that in due course, probably move it to like the

March 15 hearing.  But subject to things like that

coming up, we don't expect a lot of adversaries like

on the major issues.  

There could be, you know, a contract

dispute or claims that become a little bit bigger

than they currently are.  But I don't expect those to

-- you know, I would consider those a little more

normal course, probably, things that you'd be

expecting.

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, I don't

know if that's what I expected to hear, but that

answers my question, in any event.  So I think I can

talk to the clerk and Judge Doyle and see if I can't

get things put back to where they were before you all

arrived.

The other matter I wanted to mention

was speaking of the Louisiana dispute, is that

somebody, I think it was you, filed an agreed order.

MR. GRAHAM:  We probably didn't do it
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right.

THE COURT:  No.  Well, here is what

you did.  I can't sign something -- let me back up.

I won't sign something like this because it makes

various declarations about what I have jurisdiction

to do.  And it's just peachy that you all agree that

I have jurisdiction, but I can't just accept your

agreement, of course.  I would have to make my own

determination, and I'm not going to do that just on

the strength of this order.  I need something else.

If what you are trying to do is

consent to entry of a final judgment in some fashion

or other, I would do a different document that just

calls itself consent to entry of final judgment.  And

if you want to specify the extent to which you

consent or don't consent and you want to do it

jointly, that would be fine.

MR. GRAHAM:  Understood.

THE COURT:  You know, and then I can

evaluate that.  But as far as my jurisdiction to

address the disputes in the Louisiana matter --

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

THE COURT:  -- that's something I have

to determine.  And I'm not at the point where I'm

ready to determine it because it's still being
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briefed.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's fine, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  So I would go back and do

a different document with your friends from down

south.

MR. GRAHAM:  We will reach out to them

and change the way that's been phrased.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  Real quickly -- 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. GRAHAM:  -- on that housekeeping

matter I did raise.

THE COURT:  Mr. Marro?

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Marro.  If it's filed

and it's noticed for March 1st, can we treat it in

accordance with the case management procedures --

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  -- and have it for

March 15th?

THE COURT:  Yes, that's exactly what

will happen.  It will just be continued.

MR. GRAHAM:  I just wanted to make

sure, you know, with objection deadlines and things

like that.

THE COURT:  No.  I mean, until the
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case management procedures get vacated or amended in

some way, I imagine we'll be complying with them.  If

at some point it becomes appropriate to do that, we

could talk about it.  But we will still have, what,

two more omnibus hearings set after this?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's right.

THE COURT:  And at some point, not

necessarily today, we'll have to talk about whether

we need more omnibus hearings or what we need to do.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  Sounds good.

Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thanks.  

All right.  Now we can get back to our

regularly scheduled program.

MR. MESTER:  Good afternoon, Your

Honor.  Joshua Mester of Jones Day on behalf of the

noteholder committee.  

The first item on the agenda is

actually agenda number 2.

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. MESTER:  The noteholder

committee's motion to vacate the amended employment

orders of Jones Day and Zolfo Cooper.

THE COURT:  Right.

Just to refresh everybody's
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recollection, what happened here was that I

discovered that any number of retention orders in

this case in which the retained professionals were to

be compensated under Section 328 contained provisions

allowing the U.S. Trustee to object to the

reasonableness of compensation under Section 330.

That is wrong.

I said it was wrong when it came to my

attention, and I said I was going to do something

about it.  I also fell on my sword a little bit for

not having been sufficiently attentive to know at the

time the orders were entered that they had these

offending provisions in them.

To that, the U.S. Trustee requested

time to brief the matter, but nothing was ever filed.

So I then, as I recall, entered an order requesting

draft orders that deleted the offending language, and

I entered them.

Now I've got your motion addressing

the retention order for your firm as counsel to the

second priority noteholders committee, and also the

order retaining Zolfo Cooper, and suggesting that

those orders should not have been entered.  And the

grounds in the motion are two.  

The first is that the proposed order,
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proposed revised orders, were based on a literal

reading of the court's order dated January 5, and

that you believed that you might have misunderstood

the order.  But you didn't.  You did exactly what I

wanted you to do.  And the orders that you presented

were exactly the orders that I wanted, which is why I

signed them.  This time I read them.

The other reason that you give for

your motion is that the U.S. Trustee wasn't given a

chance to review and comment on the proposed orders

before their entry.  Well, that is as it may be, but

the fact of the matter is they had an opportunity to

brief this whole issue if they wanted to, and they

didn't.  And the orders met with my approval.  So

regardless of whether they saw them or not, it

wouldn't have mattered had they objected because the

orders were correct.  So I'm not inclined to grant

this motion.

Now, there are two things that still

might be done about this.  You probably don't want to

pick a fight with the U.S. Trustee at this point, and

this may come as a surprise, I don't want to either.

However, I'm still right on this 328 versus 330

thing.  So here's the deal:  

One way that I could grant this motion
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is if you were willing to stipulate that Section 330

review on the part of the U.S. Trustee was actually

part of the original contractual arrangement.  I

mean, you can arrive at any reasonable terms under

Section 328.  And if a 330 review is one of those

terms, then that in fact is not something that I

could do anything about.  I took a look -- I went

back and I dug out the original retention motions,

and I took a look at the papers, and to be perfectly

honest, I couldn't tell.  So that is one way that we

could revisit this.

The other way is for the U.S. Trustee

to file the necessary motion under Section 328 and

ask me to revisit these arrangements because the

terms were improvident in light of later events.

So those are two ways we can do

something about this if something needs to be done.

But this motion itself, based on what it says, is not

one I'm inclined to grant.

MR. MESTER:  I appreciate the

clarification, Your Honor.  Two points.

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. MESTER:  First, the fundamental

thrust of the motion was to make sure we were

complying with your direction about submitted revised
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orders and making sure that this was what you wanted.

And I now understand that we gave you exactly what

you wanted.

THE COURT:  You did.

MR. MESTER:  Secondly, I don't think

we have a dispute with the U.S. Trustee that the

Jones Day fees and Zolfo Cooper fees are subject to a

reasonableness review.  At most, I believe that 328

is probably approving our rates, but we're still

subject to a reasonableness review in terms of hours

and necessity.

THE COURT:  I'm not so sure about

that, but in any event... 

MR. MESTER:  Be that as it may, I

think your suggestion of a stipulation with the U.S.

Trustee is a good one that I'm happy to revisit with

the U.S. Trustee.

THE COURT:  Well, if you want to.  I

mean, you know, if you're willing to agree that that

was the original basis of the retention, and I don't

mean as far as the order, I mean that was a deal

between Jones Day and the committee, and between

Zolfo Cooper and the committee, that was one of the

terms of the retention -- I mean, I looked at the

engagement letters and it just didn't help me out --
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but as a contractual matter you're willing to agree

that that was the deal that you had with the

committee and Zolfo Cooper had, then I'll undo these

orders.

MR. MESTER:  I think we're likely to

get there with a stipulation with the U.S. Trustee on

that point.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MESTER:  So, but I would like to

confer with my colleagues in the home office and talk

to the U.S. Trustee.

THE COURT:  Well, that's fine.  We can

do that, and then if the U.S. Trustee wants --

barring that, if the U.S. Trustee wants to come in

under 328 and suggest that these arrangements were

improvident, they can do that.  But this motion,

given what I've said, I will deny.

MR. MESTER:  Okay.

MR. POSSINGER:  And, Your Honor, Paul

Possinger on behalf of the unsecured creditors

committee.  

We had a similar reading that Jones

Day did in filing their motion to vacate in the first

place, so we didn't file an amended order because we

thought it did still -- 330 did still apply to the
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hourly review.  So I guess what we will do is comply

with Your Honor's direction.

THE COURT:  That would be fine, unless

your firm's deal with the committee, again, was that

the U.S. Trustee would have the ability to review the

fees under 330.  If that's an actual term of your

arrangement --

MR. POSSINGER:  I'm pretty sure that

that is not.

THE COURT:  Okay.  I will leave it up

to you.

MR. POSSINGER:  Expressly

contemplated.

THE COURT:  Okay.

Now, Mr. Sukley wants to go on the

attack.

MR. SUKLEY:  Sorry, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  No, no.  

MR. SUKLEY:  Roman Sukley on behalf of

the United States.  

Judge, I understand what you're

saying.  Does Your Honor's comments apply also now to

the professionals who were employed on a fixed or

percentage basis that we have the same arrangement

with?  I mean, that was a negotiated provision where
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we weren't relying on Section 330 of the Code for

that, Section 330 look-back.

THE COURT:  You lost me there.  What

do you mean you weren't relying on Section 330 for a

Section 330 look-back?

MR. SUKLEY:  Well, that --

THE COURT:  I don't follow.

MR. SUKLEY:  Well, all of these

professionals who have been employed on a fixed or

percentage basis, we understood that the review is

improvident.

THE COURT:  Right.

MR. SUKLEY:  Okay.

THE COURT:  I mean, that's one way to

revisit it.  That's really the only way to revisit

it.

MR. SUKLEY:  However, when we

negotiate their retention orders, we ask them to

include that Section 330 look-back only for the U.S.

Trustee, not for anyone else.

THE COURT:  Yes, that's wrong.  I

mean, that can't be in there.

MR. SUKLEY:  Okay.  That was my

question, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Yes.
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MR. SUKLEY:  I didn't know whether you

were going to allow us to do that since that was --

we also negotiated that with them.

THE COURT:  No.  And as I said before,

I mean, if people have Section 328, that's -- Section

328 is the basis of the compensation mechanism, then

330 is out of the question.

MR. SUKLEY:  I understand.

THE COURT:  And if people don't -- you

know, I mean, I said please submit orders.  And if

people don't submit orders, I won't sign them.  But

they can submit them and I'll sign them.

MR. SUKLEY:  Understood.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MESTER:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

All right.

MR. RUGG:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.

Nathan Rugg on behalf of Moti Partners.

THE COURT:  Is that how it's

pronounced?

MR. RUGG:  I believe so.  

Moti Partners, FERG, LLC, LLTQ

Enterprises, and their various assignees.

MR. GRAHAM:  Joe Graham, Kirkland &
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Ellis, on behalf of the debtors.

THE COURT:  I have read these papers,

and I got hung up on a point that did not seem to

hang you up, but I can't get past it.  And so I may

need additional briefing on this point, and that is

this:

Both sides here are hurling around

various provisions of this March 2009 development

operation license agreement.  The problem is that the

agreement by its terms expired pre-petition.  There

was, according to one of the papers I read, a

proposed amendment that would have extended the term,

but that was never signed.

And there is also a provision that

allows an extension if Caesars gives 180 days written

notice, but there was apparently no notice ever

given.  So what seems to have happened here is that

the parties continued operating after the expiration

of the written agreement as if the agreement were

still in effect.

It's been a long time since contracts

class, but my recollection is that when that happens,

you end up with what they call a quasi contractual

problem or maybe a contract implied at law, although

I have been having a hard time finding anything quite
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like this.  I did find a Pennsylvania Supreme Court

case from 1857, but the less said about that the

better.

MR. GRAHAM:  Probably not on point.

THE COURT:  One of the difficulties is

a choice of law problem here.  I don't know whose

contract law applies.  And for that matter, it isn't

even clear whose choice of law principles apply.

The Court of Appeals has,

unfortunately, twice declined to say what choice of

law principles apply in bankruptcy.  The most recent

refusal was in case a called Jafari, which is 569

F.3d 644.  There is a nice decision from Judge Lorch

in the Southern District of Indiana that talks about

this a bit.  It's called Eastern Livestock.

But I don't know the answer to that

question, and I don't know whether, as you all seem

to be assuming, post expiration all of the terms of

the original agreement still are in effect just

because everybody assumed they were.  

Now, there is this assertion in the

debtors' brief in a couple of footnotes that post

expiration the contract continued on a month-to-month

basis, but there is no citation for that, and it's

not an apartment lease.  I mean, there is no holdover
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tenant here.  I get how that works with leases.  But

this is a different kind of agreement, and so I need

some help with this.

MR. RUGG:  Your Honor, if I may, if

more is required, we're happy to supplement.

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. RUGG:  But --

THE COURT:  Yes, I need somebody to

help me with this because I couldn't get beyond it.

And so all of the hurling around of the different

provisions which you're invoking against each other

kept running up against this wall of, yes, but it is

expired.

MR. RUGG:  So, Your Honor, there was

an amendment that was proposed by Caesars.  I believe

it was timely sent under the original agreement.  And

the significance of the amendment is that there were

changes to significant terms, taking out the capital

contribution portion, and a payback of net profits to

my client.

THE COURT:  But it was never executed.

MR. RUGG:  Well, that's correct, Your

Honor, but...

THE COURT:  Well, then it's just

paper.
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MR. RUGG:  Well, but, Your Honor,

again, we can brief this as need be necessary, but

that effectively changed the payment terms of the

original contract, and as such, that is what the

debtors have been doing since 2014, has been

operating under the terms of the modified contract

under the amendments, the written amendments.  And

then the written amendment says that all other terms

of the original contract apply.

THE COURT:  But it wasn't signed, so

it's not a written amendment.  I mean, this just

raises another issue.  That's the whole problem with

this whole thing.  I don't know the answer to this.

If people propose a written amendment to a written

contract, and they never execute it, but then they

operate post expiration of the original agreement as

if this has been signed, what do we have?

MR. RUGG:  Your Honor.

THE COURT:  This is even messier than

you think.

MR. RUGG:  Your Honor, we have looked

at it.  I mean, there is an oral contract.  It is

enforceable.  Frankly, we didn't address it in the

reply brief as it was an unsupported footnote in the

objection.
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I understand you're raising the issue

now, and to some degree there still has to be payment

for the use of the intellectual property for four

months regardless of --

THE COURT:  Well, maybe.  Maybe that's

quasi contractual recovery.  That would be different.

But nobody has argued that.  Everybody has acted as

if this contract were in effect.

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor, I think that

per your suggestion, short simultaneous briefs on the

point might make sense.

THE COURT:  Yeah, simultaneous briefs

are never very helpful because we end up with ships

passing in the night.  So I'd rather not have

simultaneous.  

There was some talk also, and maybe

I'm wrong about that, but I think there was some talk

in the debtors' papers about discovery.  Is it your

view that you want to take discovery?  Maybe we

should wait on the briefing until you've got all the

facts you think you're going to have?

MR. GRAHAM:  There is that point, 

Your Honor.  So, obviously, we've all focused on 

kind of two things, is there a claim and is that 

an admin claim.  It's like what do the contractual

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

22
App. 3345



22

terms say and, you know, what is the bankruptcy

priority.

We did have a couple pages in our

brief and in our preliminary objection about the

ongoing suitability dispute between the debtors

and -- or really the Caesars enterprise and the

principal of Moti and FERG and LLTQ.

In fact, it's not just a debtor issue.

It's a non-debtor issue.  Non-debtor Caesars

affiliates like Burger, which is one of the ones

we've cited to in the papers, they haven't paid

either, because my client and my parent company and

our affiliates are actually concerned because of

advice they've gotten related to the regulatory --

you know, from the regulatory counsel about paying

Mr. Seibel.  

So there is -- Mr. Seibel has actually

brought at least one, maybe two suits in Nevada

seeking payment.  Discovery is ongoing.  It's kind of

a messy fight that really we started with our

contract motion, but over time discovery opened up

into the suitability issue, and we've been developing

that here for the debtors.

It may make sense to finish that

suitability discovery between the parties on all of
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these motions, because the problem we could run into,

and I don't know where you're going with your ruling,

obviously, ones you --

THE COURT:  Neither do I yet.

MR. GRAHAM:  -- once you know this

piece, but if you enter an order saying that we owe

an admin expense, my client owes an admin expense,

that has real ramifications potentially on their

licensing.  And that will actually be an issue that I

think probably needs to be further developed before

such an order was entered.

THE COURT:  I imagine what Mr. Rugg

would tell me is his position is it doesn't matter

because you still used the intellectual property 

and payment is due for that.  You mean, you got a

benefit here.  And also, these LLCs are not Mr.

Seibel, unless you're going to demonstrate that they

are, which would add another layer of complexity to

this.

MR. GRAHAM:  Understood that they're

not Mr. Seibel, but he is a principal of them.

MR. RUGG:  Your Honor, if I may, this

is what was raised initially at the first hearing.

We were going to brief.  And we did say then -- and

you had mentioned then you could decide that issue
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now.  

A couple of things.  The non-debtor

affiliates in these proceedings that Mr. Graham

referenced as to the two lawsuits filed, at least one

of them said we're holding the money in escrow, if

the court orders it, we're going to pay it.

We've also challenged the basis for

why they're saying they cannot pay us.  And I don't

think they've provided any support, as they were just

given the opportunity with this briefing to say why

we cannot be paid.

And then our other point was the whole

point of suitability discovery as the debtors cast is

whether or not they can then rescind the contracts,

void them out.  This is now an enterprise that has a

start with capital contributions from both sides, a

restaurant that ran for eight years and is now

closed.

So, I understand the suitability

issues with the other contracts, but not for this.

How are they interested in a contract for a project

that's been fully completed that has generated

millions of dollars of profits and has done nothing

but benefit the estate and is now completely

concluded?
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THE COURT:  Isn't there also a

question about this suitability requirement if in

fact the contract expired?  I mean, I don't think you

can pull these issues apart.  If the written

agreement that had that requirement in it expired,

and the parties were operating on some other basis,

then I don't even know if it would be relevant

anymore.  I'm just not sure.  That's why, again, I

can't get past this expiration problem.

MR. GRAHAM:  Understood.

THE COURT:  And there was only so much

time I was willing to spend without assistance from

you all.  So I would rather get your help before I

explore it further on my own.

So, what do you think makes sense at

this point?  We, obviously, need rebriefing, but

should we do it now or not?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, Your Honor, we had

actually spoken with Mr. Rugg before today's hearing.

And there is open discovery issues on the suitability

discovery.  The parties were hoping to have a few

more meet and confers and determine, you know,

whether we can close the gap.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  I recognize Mr. Rugg may
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say, you know, that shouldn't matter to this one, but

we had talked about coming back next month to kind of

give you an update on that.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  And I recognize this has

been out there a long time.

THE COURT:  This one hasn't been.

MR. GRAHAM:  This one hasn't.

THE COURT:  The other one has.  

Well, why don't we just do that.  Why

don't we come back at the next omnibus and you can

just tell me where you are.  I don't want people to

write briefs if they don't have everything at their

disposal they would like to have.

MR. RUGG:  But, Your Honor, this is

solely with respect to the contract issue, what

happened when the contract expired and there was an

unsigned amendment.  I would submit to Your Honor

this is a rather straightforward issue.  I believe

Nevada law applies.

THE COURT:  Maybe.

MR. RUGG:  So --

THE COURT:  I couldn't find a Nevada

case on this either, but I confess I didn't look as

hard as I might have.
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MR. RUGG:  But I think that -- because

this is a separate LLC.  This is a project that is

distinct from the Ramsay Pubs that continue to

operate.  This one is done.

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor -- 

MR. RUGG:  And my client has not 

been paid.  So I don't see the harm in briefing the

issue.

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor, his client,

it's four months.  I don't even know what that amount

is, in all honesty, but my client -- 

MR. RUGG:  It's a little over

$200,000, and eventually 700,000 with an early

termination payment.  And while it doesn't mean a lot

for Caesars, it means something for our LLC.

THE COURT:  Yes, the early

termination, there are arguments about that.  But,

again, those are arguments based on the terms of the

contract.

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

THE COURT:  Well, it is true that 

the contractual questions I'm raising are things 

unto themselves and maybe we could go ahead and 

have that briefed, even if you're doing discovery 

on the suitability question.  Of course, you 
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might   be looking at another round of briefing 

after that.  

MR. GRAHAM:  That's kind of the point

I'm raising.  If you would like us to address this

and then come back and discuss it again, you know, we

may have narrowed things on the suitability front by

the next hearing.

We're happy to -- if you think it

would be helpful to see something on the contract

stuff, but we may still need to --

THE COURT:  I have other things I 

can pay attention to.  I think I would rather wait.

It gives you lots of time to think about it too.

Mostly what I would like to do is get this teed up in

such a way that I can decide it without making you

jump through any more hoops than is necessary and

causing any more expense than is necessary.  That's

really the idea.  So I'm just trying to be efficient

here.

I think the most efficient thing is to

go to the next date and, you know, maybe then we'll

have a better sense of how we ought to proceed with

this.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  We'll just go to
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the next date.

MR. GRAHAM:  We'll do the same,

obviously, with the next several items on the agenda

then.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So that's going to

be March 15.

Why don't we talk a little bit about

the next few items, though.  Those are all the Ramsay

items.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, that's right, Your

Honor.

THE COURT:  Why don't you just give me

an update.  I gather we are going to be continuing

those.

MR. RUGG:  Yes, Your Honor.  Both

sides have issued discovery as to this quote,

unquote, suitability issue.  Both sides have had, you

know, some production and some objections.  We have

had several meet and confers.

To put it more succinctly, I don't

think the parties agree to what the proper scope of

the suitability discovery should be.  We are trying

to avoid motion practice, but it's one of those

things if we just can't agree as to the scope, we may

have to get in front of Your Honor.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

30
App. 3353



30

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. GRAHAM:  And on that point, we had

talked before today that March 15th we would give you

an update and really come in probably with a plan

forward.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  Which dovetails nicely

with the other issue, even if they are not on the

same time line.

THE COURT:  That's fine.  

All right.  Okay.  Then we can talk

more about all of this in March.

MR. GRAHAM:  Very good.

MR. RUGG:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thanks.

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor, the next two

items on the agenda had orders denying the motions

yesterday and vacating those orders today.

THE COURT:  Right.  Those should not

have been entered.  That was just an internal error

we made.  Neither of these motions has been noticed

for hearing.

MR. GRAHAM:  Correct.

THE COURT:  Because they haven't been,

I am not inclined to address them.  I mean, they are
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not actually on the call.  They are on your agenda,

but they're not on today's call because that's not

how we do things in this district.

MR. GRAHAM:  So they're on no calls.

THE COURT:  They are just sitting out

there in the ether waiting for somebody to do

something.  They are in exactly the same position as

the motion that was filed coming up on two years ago.

I think it was handwritten by some pro se somebody or

other, who wanted to intervene in the bankruptcy

case.  It was very entertaining.

And it was never noticed for hearing,

so it was not granted or denied.  It's just sitting

there.  And that's what will happen with these until

the lawyers who filed them decide to notice them for

hearing.  They are just not before me.  

So, if Mr. Watson wants to notice his

motions up and see if he can get some relief, that's

great.  But, you know, if you're practicing in a

district you're not used to, you really have to

acquaint yourself with the local rules.

MR. GRAHAM:  All right.

THE COURT:  And that goes for

Mr. Watson.  So there is nothing to be done with

these.
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MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

THE COURT:  And he can decide how he

wants to proceed.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sounds good, Your Honor.

For a second there I thought you were addressing our

motion to assume the 1L bond RSA which we never

noticed for hearing back in February of 2015.

THE COURT:  Oh, my, I forgot about

that one.

MR. GRAHAM:  It's just --

THE COURT:  That one wasn't as

entertaining as the motion to intervene.

The last motion it's --

MR. GRAHAM:  It's from Ms. Schuck.

THE COURT:  Yes, I remember her.

MR. GRAHAM:  Obviously, she was here

back in like in November 2015.  Lots of people are

coming back.  But, we have talked.  We, obviously,

filed our objection, limited objection, back -- you

know, November of 2015 or whenever that was, or

December I think.

Ms. Schuck has stopped responding to

her counsel.  Her counsel --

THE COURT:  Oh.

MR. GRAHAM:  -- you know, we've
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routinely gotten things moved along.  So the counsel

who filed the lift stay motion has not been able to

reach her for a while.  And so he told us that we can

either just continue it for the foregoing future or

we can come in and he would not come in and oppose

us.

THE COURT:  Well, you know, we've got

an address for her because she did come in pro se

initially.  She filed an adversary proceeding and she

flew out here.

MR. GRAHAM:  She did.  That's right.

THE COURT:  Maybe she's just not

interested.  I think rather than address this today,

what I'd like to do is enter an order that says --

gee, it's a little hard to know because Mr. Diamond

hasn't moved to withdraw.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think he also doesn't

feel like he can because he hasn't heard from his

client.

THE COURT:  Well, he can move to

withdraw --

MR. GRAHAM:  Oh, oh --

THE COURT:  -- because he hasn't heard

from her.

MR. GRAHAM:  -- you mean as attorney.
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THE COURT:  I mean, you know,

requiring her to get in touch with the court in 

some way is a little strange when she's got a lawyer

who still has an appearance on file.  He should be

moving to withdraw, it seems to me.  I mean, lack 

of communication is a perfectly reasonable basis to

get out.  And right now he's in kind of a funny

position, and as a result I'm kind of in a funny

position.  But I would like to do some kind of an

order that --

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor --

THE COURT:  -- would do something --

MR. GRAHAM:  Would it be helpful, Your

Honor, if we reach out to who we obviously have been

to discuss with Mrs. Schuck's attorney and ask him

to -- if he is really not hearing from his client, to

file a motion withdrawing as her attorney so that,

you know, there is not that attorney issue in front

of the pro se --

THE COURT:  Now, that's Mr. Diamond,

not the lawyer in New Jersey who was representing her

in the underlying --

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  We have not heard

from that attorney.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Yes.  He needs 
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to move to withdraw.  Let's continue this motion 

to the next time.  If he moves to withdraw, then 

I can shoot some kind of an order to Ms. Schuck

herself saying, look, you know, you have to come in

and do something here or I'm just going to deny your

motion --

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

THE COURT:  -- for want of

prosecution, I suppose.

Also, if Mr. Diamond does move to

withdraw, it might get her attention.  It is amazing

how things like that get a reaction sometimes.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

THE COURT:  So let's put this over to

the next date as well and --

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Yes.  We will see if we

get a motion from Mr. Diamond.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sounds good.

THE COURT:  And that I think is --

MR. GRAHAM:  That is --

THE COURT:  Not quite.  There are

quite a number of continued matters, and I just

wondered, were we just going to put those over to

March 15th, everything, or did you have some other
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date in mind?

MR. GRAHAM:  So, Your Honor, what we

have listed under number 10, that's the contract cure

responses.

THE COURT:  Right.

MR. GRAHAM:  And number 11, which is

one of our long-standing proof of claim objections

that is being reconciled, those should go to

March 15th.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  The rest of the

matters -- well, no, I will correct myself.  Items

number 12 --

THE COURT:  Thirteen.

MR. GRAHAM:  -- 13, those are 

things covered by, you know, RSAs with those 

parties.  And I guess our last omnibus date right 

now is the April date, so we want to go to that one,

I think.

THE COURT:  Right.  That's as far out

as we can go.  I understand the theory.  And then

there are a series of stay lifts.

MR. GRAHAM:  Fourteen, 15, 16, we

would go to the next -- the March 15 hearing.

THE COURT:  Okay.
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MR. GRAHAM:  And then we have the NRF

adversary and related matters.  Those would go out to

April.

THE COURT:  Nineteen.

MR. GRAHAM:  The April 19 omnibus.

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Okay.

I think that's it then.  Thanks very much.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  See you next month.

(Which were all the proceedings had in 

the above-entitled cause, February 15, 

2017, 1:30 p.m.) 

I, AMY B. DOOLIN, CSR, RPR, DO HEREBY CERTIFY  
THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE  
TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS HAD IN THE ABOVE-  
ENTITLED CAUSE. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

 

CAESARS ENTERTAINMENT OPERATING  )
COMPANY, INC., et al., No. 15 B 01145  )
                          Chicago, Illinois )
                                   1:30 p.m. )
                  Debtor.        June 21, 2017                )

 

 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE 
HONORABLE A. BENJAMIN GOLDGAR 

 

 

APPEARANCES:   

For the Debtors:                Mr. Joseph Graham; 
 
For the Unsecured Creditors 
Committee:                      Mr. Paul Possinger; 
 
For Sidley & Austin:            Mr. Matthew Linder; 
 
For FERG, LLTQ Enterprises, 
and MOTI Partners:              Mr. Nathan Rugg; 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Court Reporter:                 Amy Doolin, CSR, RPR 
                                U.S. Courthouse 
                                219 South Dearborn 
                                Room 661  
                                Chicago, IL  60604. 
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THE CLERK:  We are taking up all

matters on the call at 1:30 in the Caesars

Entertainment Operating Company, Incorporated

bankruptcy case.

MR. GRAHAM:  Good morning, Your Honor

-- or good afternoon, Your Honor.  Joe Graham,

Kirkland & Ellis, on behalf of the debtors.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

MR. GRAHAM:  Before we get into

today's agenda, I referenced a few months ago that we

would give you an update of kind of where we are on

our path towards emergence.  So I wanted to quickly

do that, or relatively quickly.

THE COURT:  Take your time.

MR. GRAHAM:  All right.

A decent amount of this has been

probably -- you know, it's all been probably publicly

shown at this point given that we issued some press

releases when many of these things happened.  But I

wanted to kind of give it to you, because I don't

expect you to be sitting there watching our press

release newswire.

So under the plan, there are numerous

conditions to the effective date, as you are well

aware.  A lot of those are related to, you know,
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finalizing certain documentation and making sure that

certain payments are made on the date of the

effective date, obviously, pursuant to the terms of

the plan.  In addition to that, there are, I would

say, three primary kinds of non-definitive document

work streams.  Those are financing, the merger

between our parent company and Caesars Acquisition,

and the regulatory approval process.

On the first of those, raising

financing at reorganized CEOC as well as at Caesars

Palace, the latter of which will be the obligation of

the REIT being created under our plan, we've made

significant progress.  Back in April, on April 4th,

we received commitments from a syndicate of lenders

for a $1.235 billion term loan and a $200 million

revolving facility.  That 1.235 billion term loan

will be used to make payments -- you know, fees under

the term loan, but also to pay most -- a large

portion of the cash due to our creditors under our

plan.  That was committed financing, so, you know, as

far as the debtors are concerned, that part of

process is done.

We also announced earlier this month

that we've gone to market to raise financing at

Caesars Palace.  We are seeking to raise up to $2.2
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billion.  Under the plan, it's between 1.8 and 2.6,

but the requirement is 1.8.  We are highly confident

that we will get that $1.8 billion number, and very

optimistic that we'll get up to $2.2 billion in cash.

The plan has several other securities

and debt we can hand out to our creditors as

distributions for that period -- that amount, between

1.8 and 2.6, to the extent we don't raise more than

1.8.  And we are, you know, deep into negotiations

trying to raise that money.  We expect that we will

be able to announce commitments hopefully in the next

few weeks.

In terms of the second big work

stream, that is, the merger between Caesars

Entertainment and Caesars Acquisition, back in March,

Caesars Entertainment and Caesars Acquisition filed

an S-4 with the SEC.  That has gone through a round

of comments.  They actually filed another version of

it this week and are seeking to send out their proxy

materials early next week, I believe, with a

shareholders meeting sometime near the end of July.

I wanted to note on that front that as

part of all the various restructuring support

agreements, the entity, Hamlet Holdings, that owns an

irrevocable proxy from the sponsors and their

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

68
App. 3391



5

coinvestors, has agreed to vote in favor of that

merger, but we do have to do the merger vote.  So we

are very confident that should be handled by around

the end of July, Your Honor.

The final part of the process is what

I'll say is probably the long pole in the tent right

now, which is regulatory approval.  Depending on the

state, we need approval for either the REIT

transaction under the plan, various financing under

the plan, the CEC/CAC merger, and various other

transactions.

At this time, we have all necessary

approvals from the state of Illinois, state of Iowa,

Maryland, Mississippi and Pennsylvania.  And we also

have certain of the necessary approvals from New

Jersey.  The company continues to need remaining

approvals from New Jersey at this time, as well as

approvals from Indiana, Nevada, Louisiana, and

Missouri.

We're very confident that over the

next couple weeks we'll get a few of those, and then

over the coming months we would get the remainder of

those, obviously subject to availability of the

gaming commissions in those states.

THE COURT:  I thought I had heard 14
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states were necessary.  That doesn't sound correct,

though.  Do you need fewer state approvals than that?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe we are in 14

states, Your Honor, but these are the states that

require -- you know, we need to go get approvals

from.

THE COURT:  Oh, okay.  So you don't

need approvals from every state then.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  In certain of the

states that we operate casinos, we are managers.  So

Arizona, California, we manage American Indian

casinos, tribal casinos, and in those ones we do not

need approvals.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So what --

MR. GRAHAM:  Long way of saying --

THE COURT:  -- is your anticipated

date?

MR. GRAHAM:  -- the second half of the

third quarter I'd say right now, probably September.

But we're working as feverishly as we can to make

sure that we stay on track for that or it doesn't

slip much.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. GRAHAM:  You will see on the

agenda that we did file we continued all of the
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various litigation that's been stayed to the August

omnibus for the time being, in part because we don't

have a September omnibus, but in part because we may

be able to give an update then also on timing on

these final regulatory approvals. 

THE COURT:  Well, as long as we're

talking about preliminary matters, do you think we

should be setting a few more omnibus dates?

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor, I think that

probably would be appropriate.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let's see, we have

been typically doing it the third Wednesday of the

month, so that would be September 20, and October 18,

and November 15.  Well, we could set a December one

because you can always get rid of them.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

THE COURT:  I mean, I don't know that

we're going to need it, but if we don't, we'll just

strike it.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

THE COURT:  So that will take us to

the 20th, unless you wanted a week earlier given the

time of year.

MR. GRAHAM:  I would say given the

time of year, it might make sense to do it.
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THE COURT:  So let's say December 13.

And we'll get those on the website.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  I assume, since I have

heard no complaints from either official committee,

that they are, A, apprised of your progress, and, B,

satisfied with it, because otherwise they would be in

here howling.

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that's correct,

Your Honor.  We have regular regulatory -- monthly

regulatory update calls with the creditor groups.

And we remain, like, in discussions, obviously, about

all these things with both official committees, as

well as the various ad hoc groups that represented

the banks in the first lien box.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Anything else on

the update?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that's it for

now, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. GRAHAM:  So I think we can move

into the agenda.

THE COURT:  Let's do that.

MR. GRAHAM:  The first item was the

debtor's Clark County stipulation motion, which there
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were no objections.  And we did file a certification

of no objection last week at docket number 712.  I

believe that Your Honor wanted to call it.  You may

have had some questions.

THE COURT:  Well, I do.  My question

is this, you don't call it a motion to approve

settlement under Rule 9019, but you cite Section 363

and Rule 9019.  And I could not for the life of me

figure out what you were settling or what property

you might be using or selling or leasing.  

And when I got to the end of the

motion, it seemed to me that there was nothing --

there was no dispute here.  You say, in short, the

stipulation simply sets forth what the debtors

already expected to provide Clark County.  And then

you go on and say but it provides Clark County with

the protections it needs to save the debtors

significant cash.  I think the protections are

apparently against some sort of collateral attack,

and you talk about that.  But there hasn't been one.

MR. GRAHAM:  Correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  There isn't one

threatened.

MR. GRAHAM:  No one has threatened it.

THE COURT:  So why is this not what I
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sometimes call a comfort order?

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor, we did

discuss that with Clark County.  There is a concern

raised by Clark County that the plan provides that --

you know, there's objection to claims for 365 days

after the plan effective date, which could be

extended.  And as you're well aware, you know, the

Code allows any party to come in and object.

So by entering into this stipulation

with them and seeking approval of the allowed amount,

that allows them to then go refinance without the

concern, by now having put it on notice, having filed

it on the docket, having sent it out to the major

creditor groups, that no one is going to object to

the allowance of this claim in this amount.

The claim itself, just as background,

I know it's probably in the motion, but it will sit

actually on the property underlying the REIT.  The

first lien creditors are very comfortable with the

amount and the allowance of it.  And it would be paid

by the Caesars side under the lease.

THE COURT:  Is it your position that

by entering into the stipulation the debtors are -- I

don't know what the term would be -- releasing their

right to object?  Are you giving up something here?
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MR. GRAHAM:  We are agreeing not to

object, yes.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  We would be releasing our

right under the Code or under the...

THE COURT:  All right.  So that's the

property that you are proposing to give up, and

that's why it's a Rule 9019 motion, and that's why

it's not just a comfort order?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  In that

case, I'm comfortable.  The motion is granted.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think the next item,

Your Honor, is the independent member of the fee

committee's sixth interim final fee application.

THE COURT:  Well, yes.  My problem is

not with the dollars.  My problem is with the word

"final."  It can't be final because despite what

Professor Rapoport may think, she isn't done yet.  We

don't have final fee applications.  I don't know when

we will have final fee applications.  Maybe we'll

never have final fee applications.  But until we do,

it seems to me that the fee committee has to keep

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

75
App. 3398



12

working.  

Even when there are final fee

applications, I would expect a report on those.  Not

so much that the fee committee will go through, God

forbid, line by line every invoice since the case

began, but rather that the committee would determine

whether the amount sought as final compensation was

the sum of all of the amounts awarded as interim

compensation, because, sadly, it is not unusual for

there to be a disconnect.  And I've got a calculator.

I suppose I could do it.  But I'm going to have

Professor Rapoport do it or someone to whom she

delegates the task.

So, I have to go back and doctor this

order or she can submit a new one.  In fact, it says

proposed order anyway.  But I am happy to allow her

interim fees, but I expect another interim

application from her.

MR. GRAHAM:  Understood.

THE COURT:  Once there are final fee

applications that we have dealt with in this case,

presumably because a plan has become effective, then

I would like a final fee application.

MR. GRAHAM:  Understood, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  So to the extent it says
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final, I think she jumped the gun.  And that's my

only problem.  

Why doesn't she submit a new order.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  We'll reach out to

her.  She may be on the phone.

THE COURT:  I think she is.

All right.  That's good.

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor, I think the

next item up is Paul Hastings.

THE COURT:  Yes.  And, you know, I

just don't get certificates of no objection from

them.  That's all.

MR. GRAHAM:  Trying to save the estate

some cash, I think, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Well, okay.  I can grant

that application.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you, Your Honor.

I think with that, I think the next

one is actually Jefferies, which I would hand over to

somebody else.

MR. POSSINGER:  Good afternoon, Your

Honor.  Paul Possinger on behalf of the committee of

unsecured creditors.  With me today is counsel to

Jefferies, Matt Linder.

MR. LINDER:  Good afternoon, Your
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Honor.

THE COURT:  And where are you from

exactly?  

MR. LINDER:  Matthew Linder of Sidley

& Austin.

THE COURT:  Yes, that's my problem.

And I would want to hear from the U.S. Trustee on

this.  Sidley is not a retained professional in this

case, and the application proposes to pay Sidley

$70,000 in estate funds.  And I don't think that can

happen because Sidley was never retained.

A professional who is retained in a

case cannot then retain its own professional without

court approval and then seek to essentially expense

that firm's fees and get somebody paid from the

estate who is not a retained professional.  And I

didn't see an objection from the U.S. Trustee on

this, so I don't know if that office has a position.  

There is a split in the case law on

this, but I am inclined to disagree with Judge

Glenn's decision in Borders Group and to agree with

Judge Feller's decision in Crafts Retail Holding

Corporation.

So, it's not for me to be awarding

fees to Sidley, who was never retained.  If Jefferies
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wants to retain a lawyer to help it in this case,

Jefferies can pay Sidley if it wants to, but the

debtors aren't going to pay.

MR. LINDER:  Understood, Your Honor.

I would just note for the court that it's expressly

contemplated in the engagement letter and then also

in the court's order authorizing --

THE COURT:  I am aware of that.  And

to the extent necessary under Section 328(a), I would

revise the retention order, actually, to delete that

provision, if necessary, because I certainly never

contemplated that Jefferies would go out and without

court approval retain counsel to be paid from the

estate.  That never crossed my mind.  

I've seen this kind of thing before.

I don't allow it.  And had I thought it was going to

go on here, I would not have permitted it.  I also

really don't understand why Jefferies thought it was

necessary to even seek additional counsel.  I mean,

the services rendered had to do with the fee

application and had to do with document production.

And if Jefferies, which was working for the

committee, needed help, they could have gone to

Proskauer for the help and Proskauer could have

billed the time and there would be no problem.  But
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that is not what they chose to do.

MR. LINDER:  Your Honor --

THE COURT:  So that's their decision.  

MR. LINDER:  -- if I could on that

point, Your Honor.  We believe that it is important

for Jefferies to use its own counsel in connection

with document productions and in responding to

subpoenas, particularly in this case where the scope

of the requests actually were so broad that they

included search terms that referred to many

professionals in the case with whom Jefferies works.  

Routinely in other cases there was an

elevated risk that there would be disclosure of

materials that were not related to this case or that

were otherwise privileged or were confidential or we

deemed not relevant.  So that is why in this case

there was -- given also the voluminous nature of the

document requests, that was -- that was another

reason that Jefferies sought out its own counsel.

THE COURT:  Well, if Jefferies thought

it was so important, then Jefferies can pay the bill.

But I'm not going to have the estate pay the bill.

So I will grant the Jefferies application but reduce

it by the amount of the fees --

MR. LINDER:  Understood, Your Honor.
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Would you like us to submit a revised order?

THE COURT:  No, I can take care of it.

As I said, I have a calculator.

MR. LINDER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. POSSINGER:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  The next

matter, matters, are debtors' motion to compel

production of documents by Rowen Seibel and Mr.

Seibel's motion to quash and modify the subpoenas to

him or for an extension of time.  And I have a

ruling, as I promised, which I will read.  

Have a seat, if you would like.

This matter is before me on two

motions: (1) the debtors’ motion to compel Rowen

Seibel to comply with two subpoenas, one to Seibel

himself, the other to Seibel as guardian for his

mother; and (2) the motion of Seibel to quash or

modify the subpoenas or alternatively for an

extension of time to object and respond to the

subpoenas.  

If ever there were a situation calling

for a “plague-on-both-your-houses” ruling, this is

it.  But since such a ruling is not an option, I will

grant Seibel’s motion and quash the subpoenas.  The

debtors will be permitted to issue new subpoenas
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consistent with guidelines I will describe.

Neither side here deserves much

sympathy.  On the one hand, there is Rowen Seibel,

sometime restaurateur, tax cheat, and convicted

felon.  Seibel was served with the debtors’ subpoenas

on December 15, 2016.  He promptly gave them to a

lawyer who had represented businesses with which

Seibel has been affiliated, wrongly assuming the

lawyer would take care of things.  As far as the

record shows, Seibel then forgot about them.  The

January 3, 2017, compliance date came and went, but

Seibel made no effort to collect or produce the

documents the debtors sought.  It was not until

January 31, when the debtors moved to compel his

compliance, that Seibel stirred himself.  By then,

though, it had been a month and a half since the

subpoenas were served.  His motion to quash or for an

extension did not follow for nearly a month after

that.  

In March, Seibel served objections to

the document requests – although he was well past the

deadline to serve them, and no extension had been

granted.  To each request, he intoned essentially the

same mantra:  That the request was “vague, ambiguous,

overly broad, unduly burdensome, call[ed] for the
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disclosure of information that is protected by the

attorney-client privilege, work product doctrine, or

immunity from discovery,” and “s[ought] documents

that are not relevant to the subject matter of this

proceeding.”  Boilerplate objections are pointless,

since they do nothing to meet the objecting party’s

burden to show why discovery is improper.  Burkybile

v. Mitsubishi Motors Corp., No. 04 C 4932, 2006 WL

2325506, at *6 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 2, 2006).  Seibel

supplied no log to support his claims of privilege.

Assertions of privilege are pointless if no privilege

log accompanies them.  RBS Citizens, N.A. v. Husain,

291 F.R.D. 209, 218-19 (N.D. Ill. 2013); Acosta v.

Target Corp., 281 F.R.D. 314, 319-20 (N.D. Ill.

2012).

Seibel now tries to explain away his

delay in responding to the subpoenas by claiming he

takes care of his elderly grandmother.  Beginning in

late December, he says, she had to be hospitalized

several times.  Perhaps so, although one wonders who

was caring for her during Seibel’s prison term.  But

whatever his obligations to his grandmother, it was

still incumbent upon him to pay attention to the

subpoenas, communicate with counsel, and seek

extensions if necessary.  The debtors point out that
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during the same period, Seibel was able to sue a

non-debtor Caesars entity in a distant district, and

in connection with that action he was able to file

two detailed affidavits.  Some legal matters, then,

he had time for, ailing grandmother notwithstanding.

The subpoenas here he did not.

On the other hand, there are the

debtors.  Knowing full well that Seibel was to begin

serving his one-month prison sentence on November 29,

2016, the debtors nonetheless had the subpoenas

issued that very day.  The subpoenas had a compliance

date of January 3, 2017, mere days after his release.

To make matters worse, the debtors waited to serve

Seibel until December 15, just two weeks before the

compliance date, while he was still imprisoned and

obviously unable to gather any documents.  And to

make matters still worse, the document requests

accompanying the subpoenas were stunning both in

number and in breadth:  More than 150 exceptionally

expansive requests calling for the production of

material from 2002 to the present.  In late January,

when Seibel’s counsel suggested service of a new

subpoena with a new compliance date, efforts at

cooperation were rebuffed.  The debtors maintained

that Seibel had waived his objections by not
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responding within 14 days after service – by December

29, in other words, although he was a federal

prisoner until December 27.

Tempting though it is, I cannot come

up with a way to rule against everyone.  It is not

possible both to compel Seibel’s response and also

quash the subpoenas.  Given that the debtors made

unacceptable document requests and Seibel belatedly

served unacceptable objections to them, there is no

good resolution.  The best course, it seems to me, is

to put both sides back to square one and make them

begin again.  I can do that by quashing the

subpoenas, and there is plenty of reason to quash

them.

Rule 45(d)(3)(A) requires the court

“[o]n timely motion” to quash or modify a subpoena

that, among other things, fails to allow a reasonable

time to comply or subjects a person to an undue

burden.  The initial question here is whether

Seibel’s motion was timely.  The debtors argue it was

not, insisting that the motion must be filed before

the subpoena’s compliance date.  Many courts reach

that conclusion.  See Enargy Power (Shenzhen) Co. v.

Wang, No. 13-11348-DJC, 2014 WL 2048416, at *3 n.5

(D. Mass. May 16, 2014).  But the Rule itself imposes
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no set time limit – in contrast to Rule 45(d)(2)(B)

which does, specifying a 14-day period to object.

The omission of any similar period in Rule

45(d)(3)(A) suggests an intent to permit greater

flexibility in an area where courts typically enjoy

broad discretion.  Other courts, consequently, have

found that timeliness means filing the motion within

the compliance period “so long as that period is of

reasonable duration.”  City of St. Petersburg v.

Total Containment, Inc., No. 07-191, 2008 WL 1995298,

at *2 (E.D. Pa. May 5, 2008).  Still other courts

have exercised their discretion to quash defective

subpoenas even when the motion was untimely.  See

Bouchard Transp. Co. v. Associated Elec. & Gas Ins.

Servs., Ltd., No. 15 Civ. 6586 PAC, 2015 WL 6741852,

at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 4, 2015).

In this case, I will exercise my

discretion and quash the subpoenas for two reasons

that are related.

First, the subpoenas did not give

Seibel a reasonable time to comply, which, as the

court in Bouchard noted, is a “mandatory ground to

quash” under the Rule.  Bouchard, 2015 WL 6741852, at

*2.  As I noted before, the subpoena was served on

December 15 and required Seibel to produce documents
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on January 3, a little over two weeks later.  That

period might well be reasonable in a different case

with more modest requests for production.  Fourteen

days is often considered a presumptively reasonable

time for compliance.  See Verisign v. XYZ.com, LLC,

No. 15-mc-175-RGA-MPT, 2015 WL 7960976, at *3 (D.

Del. Dec. 4, 2015) (making this observation).  

But here, the debtors served more than

150 document requests (if subparts are included),

requests that were breathtakingly broad.  Many of the

requests sought documents that were arguably

privileged.  No one could have complied with these

subpoenas in the short time Seibel was given, let

alone someone who was a federal prisoner for most of

the period between the dates of service and

compliance.  Under the circumstances, the time for

compliance was unreasonable.  Cf. Nguyen v. Louisiana

State Bd. of Cosmetology, No. 14-80-BAJ-RLB, 2016 WL

320152, at *2 (M.D. La. Jan. 26, 2016) (finding 16

days unreasonable where the subpoena sought “a large

amount of documents, most of which are subject to the

attorney client privilege”).

Second, the subpoenas subjected Seibel

to an undue burden.  In determining whether a

subpoena imposes an undue burden, the court must
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consider whether the burden of compliance exceeds the

benefit of production.  Northwestern Mem’l Hosp. v.

Ashcroft, 362 F.3d 923, 927 (7th Cir. 2004).

Relevant factors include whether (1) the party

subpoenaed is a non-party to the underlying suit; (2)

the information requested is relevant; (3) the

requesting party has a substantial need for the

documents; (4) the request is overly broad; (5) the

time period covered is reasonable; (6) the request is

sufficiently specific; and (7) the request imposes a

burden.  American Soc’y of Media Photographers, Inc.

v. Google, Inc., No. 13 C 408, 2013 WL 1883204, at *2

(N.D. Ill. May 6, 2013).

Again, Seibel was served with more

than 150 document requests seeking documents spanning

almost two decades.  The requests were overly broad,

were insufficiently specific, covered an unreasonable

period, and often sought material that appeared to be

privileged.  Some examples: 

• All documents relating to “any

assignment” involving FERG or LLTQ.

• All tax filings of FERG, LLTQ,

and Seibel.

• All documents relating to the

Seibel Family 2016 Trust, including its creation or
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formation.

• All documents related to FERG

2016, LLC.

• All documents relating to

Seibel’s criminal case and any allegations in the

information filed against Seibel.

• All documents relating to

Seibel’s decision to plead guilty in the criminal

case.

• All documents relating to “any

criminal, illegal, or fraudulent activity that you

are currently involved in or have ever been involved

in.”

And on and on.  The burden that these

requests imposed on Seibel was more than just undue.

The subpoenas were overbearing and abusive.

Meanwhile, the relevance of the

information the debtors sought is open to serious

question.  In denying FERG and LLTQ’s motion for

protective order, I described as “thin” the legal

theories the debtors have advanced to justify what

they call “suitability” discovery.  As I explained,

rescission does not seem to be a possibility here,

and neither the LLTQ and FERG dispute nor the MOTI

dispute appears to involve anticipatory repudiation.
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Nine months have passed since the debtors learned of

Seibel’s conviction, and still they have articulated

no coherent theory that would make relevant the

documents they want from him.

Given the oppressiveness of the

subpoenas the debtors served on Seibel and the

dubious relevance of the discovery they are pursuing,

I find the burden of compliance with the subpoenas

exceeded the benefit of production.  Northwestern

Mem’l Hosp., 362 F.3d at 927.

Because the subpoenas did not provide

Seibel with a reasonable time for compliance and

imposed an undue burden, his motion to quash the

subpoenas will be granted.  The debtors’ motion to

compel his compliance will be denied.

The debtors are free to try again.  To

minimize the chances of future disputes, I will

impose the following guidelines for any new

subpoenas.

1.  In this circuit, a subpoena may be

served not only by personal delivery but also by

certified mail.  See Ott v. City of Milwaukee, 682

F.3d 552, 557 (7th Cir. 2012).  The debtors are free

to serve Seibel by certified mail at his last known

address.  His counsel should receive a copy.
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2.  Any subpoena to Seibel must

include no more than 35 requests for documents,

including subparts.  Any subpoena to Seibel in his

capacity as his mother’s guardian must include no

more than 15 requests for documents, including

subparts.  The time period the subpoenas cover must

be no greater than 2009 to the present.

3.  Any subpoena to Seibel must allow

him at least 45 days from the date of service to

respond.

4.  Counsel for the parties are

reminded that there are rules, national and local,

governing discovery and discovery disputes.  Those

rules must be followed.  So must the decisional law

applying those rules.  Counsel for the debtors are

reminded that lawyers are expected to show each other

something that in these parts we call “professional

courtesy.”

An appropriate order will be entered

addressing the motions and setting out the terms for

future subpoenas to Seibel.

I don't believe there is much else to

discuss except the status of the FERG, LLTQ, and MOTI

matters.

MR. RUGG:  Your Honor, for the record,
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Nathan Rugg for FERG, LLTQ Enterprises, MOTI

Partners, and their assigns.

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor, Joe Graham,

Kirkland & Ellis, on behalf of the debtors.  

I want to thank you for your ruling.

I know that it didn't necessarily go our way, but

thank you for getting to it.

THE COURT:  I'm paid to do these

things.

MR. GRAHAM:  I know.

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, there

is, obviously, discovery going ahead on all of these

matters, so I don't think there is much to discuss

except this on MOTI.  I received supplemental briefs

that I asked for to address the question of the

contractual status of the parties' relationship

because it seemed to me on looking at the documents,

that the contract had expired.  And, nonetheless, the

parties had continued dealing with each other.  

And I suggested at the time that it

might involve a doctrine known as quasi-contract,

which it does not.  And I wanted some assistance with

that.  MOTI submitted a supplemental brief that

suggested that there had indeed been an extension of

the contract and gave me various legal reasons why
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that was true, in addition to factual ones.  The

debtors filed what they called a limited response in

which they essentially said, yes, we agree that the

contract was extended.

But I didn't find the facts that MOTI

supplied to suggest that the contract had been

extended.  And I didn't believe the legal arguments

were persuasive.  And I cannot simply conclude that

the contract was extended because the parties agree

to it.  You can stipulate to facts.  You can't

stipulate to legal conclusions, nor can you stipulate

to what this is, a mixed question of law or fact.  It

is my decision whether the contract was extended

based on the facts.  You can stipulate to those

facts, but not to the conclusion.

My research suggests the following.

One, based at least on the facts that I have now, the

contract was not extended.  The parties continued

operating, but not under the contract.  They

continued operating in some new way.  Exactly how

they operated and in what new way isn't entirely

clear to me.

Rather than a contract implied in law,

what usually happens when parties continue to perform

under a contract that has expired is that they end up
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with what is called a contract implied in fact.  And

"the seminal case" would probably be too much to call

it, but you can take a look at Martin v. Campanaro,

which is a Second Circuit case from 1946, 156 F.2d

127.

That doctrine applies when the parties

continue operating as if the old contract were in

existence.  When they start operating in a new way,

they have an implied contract, but not necessarily on

the same terms.  And this is described in -- this

will seem obscure, but it's really not -- a South

Dakota Supreme Court decision called Jurrens,

J-U-R-R-E-N-S, which you will find at 587 N.W.2d 151.

What happens when the parties behave differently is

that you end up with a factual question about what

the terms under which they operated really were.

So I think we're going -- and unless

you're able to convince me in a way you haven't so

far, and I realize we're not at that point, that this

contract really was extended -- we are going to have

a factual question about what the terms were.  And we

know what factual questions require.  They require an

evidentiary hearings.  Now, maybe we're going to need

one of those anyway on this.  I really don't know.

But that's my analysis at this point based on what I

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

94
App. 3417



31

have.

Okay.  So I thought to the extent that

it was useful, maybe it is, maybe it's not, to hear

what was on my mind, now I have told you.  Other than

that, I think since there is discovery going on, we

should just continue this to a new date.  

Do you agree?

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor, in that

scenario then, MOTI would be continued on just on the

same path as the FERG and LLTQ matters, is that what

you're suggesting then?

THE COURT:  Yes.  I think they are

both up today for status.

MR. GRAHAM:  They all were, Your

Honor.

THE COURT:  And, you know, we can put

them over to July, if that makes sense, or instead of

putting something on the calendar that may not be

suitable, we could move it to August.  You're the

ones taking discovery.  I'm just sitting here reading

the things you file.

MR. RUGG:  Your Honor, I think August

works for the parties for status.

THE COURT:  Why don't we do that.  So

we will put all of those matters over to the August
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date.  

Is there anything else today we need

to discuss?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that's it, Your

Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you

all.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you.

MR. RUGG:  Thank you, Your Honor.

Good afternoon.

(Which were all the proceedings had in 

the above-entitled cause, June 21, 

2017, 1:30 p.m.) 

I, AMY B. DOOLIN, CSR, RPR, DO HEREBY CERTIFY  
THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE  
TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS HAD IN THE ABOVE-  
ENTITLED CAUSE. 
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                  Debtor.        March 21, 2018                )

 

 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE 
HONORABLE A. BENJAMIN GOLDGAR 
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For the Debtors:             Mr. William Arnault; 
 
For LLTQ, FERG and Moti:     Mr. Nathan Rugg; 
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THE CLERK:  We are taking up this

court's 10:30 set matters in the case of Caesars

Entertainment Operating Company, Incorporated.

MR. ARNAULT:  Good morning, Your

Honor.  Bill Arnault on behalf of the reorganized

debtors.

MR. RUGG:  Good morning, Your Honor.

Nathan Rugg on behalf of the LLTQ, FERG, and Moti

entities.

THE COURT:  Good morning.  And I know

we have some lawyers on the phone.

I have got --

MR. MAYALL:  Good morning.  

THE COURT:  Go ahead. 

MR. MAYALL:  Good morning, Your Honor.

Jaspreet Mayall on behalf of R Squared Global

Solutions, LLC, and DNT Acquisition, LLC.  I

appreciate the court's courtesy in allowing me to

appear by live phone on a last-minute request.  And I

apologize to the court and counsel for not being

there.

MR. LEBENSFELD:  Your Honor, good

morning.  Alan Lebensfeld for the original Homestead

Restaurant.  And thank you as well.

THE COURT:  You're welcome.
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So I have the motion from the debtors

for stay or abstention, and there's been a joinder,

and there are a couple of limited objections

suggesting that I really ought to just continue these

at least until the next date.

Is there a reason I shouldn't continue

them?

MR. ARNAULT:  Well, I would say that

we think that a briefing schedule should be entered.

THE COURT:  Why?

MR. ARNAULT:  Well --

THE COURT:  Why not just wait?

MR. ARNAULT:  Because I think that our

position is that your ruling on this issue will be an

important data point for the Nevada state court as it

determines what it's going to do with all these

issues.  

As we lay out in our motion there,

we're trying to create one comprehensive forum where

all of these issues, all of the debtors, all of the

non-debtor entities, all of the Seibel-affiliated

entities can actually litigate these issues.

THE COURT:  Except you're not going to

be able to do that, are you?  Because there are

matters in Delaware, in New York, and in another
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couple other Nevada courts, I believe.

MR. ARNAULT:  Well --

THE COURT:  So there's no possibility

of bringing all of these --

MR. ARNAULT:  -- well --

THE COURT:  -- to one place.

MR. ARNAULT:  Well, right now in the

Nevada state court action we actually have all of the

debtor and non-debtor entities from the Caesars, and

we also have all of the Seibel-affiliated entities,

as well as Mr. Seibel.  So at least we've done our

best to create a forum that contains all of the

relevant parties.

And, yes, it's true that there are

other -- there's other ongoing litigation.  We are

trying to create one forum where all of these issues

can be decided and can go forward.

THE COURT:  I don't understand.  What

are you doing to create that forum?  I mean, if

you've done what you say, why is there litigation

anywhere else?

MR. ARNAULT:  Well, because -- well,

there is -- well, so, for example, there's the

dissolution action in Delaware, so that is a slightly

different issue and relates to the relationship
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between the two partners and GRB.

THE COURT:  Okay.  But what about New

York?

MR. ARNAULT:  And then you have the

New York action which relates to, I would say,

primarily the relationship, much like the Delaware

action, between the JV partners, so Old Homestead and

Mr. Seibel.  

So that's really -- I would say that

the brunt of that litigation relates to the

relationship between those two, whereas the

relationship between the Caesars and Mr. Seibel is

what's at issue in the Nevada state court action.

So I would say that those are -- while

they're related or they certainly have common facts,

the one forum that addresses all of the

inter-relationships between Caesars and Mr. Seibel

and the Seibel-affiliated entities is the Nevada

state court litigation.

THE COURT:  How would it be helpful

for me to have this briefed when there is all this

activity, particularly in Nevada and New York, and

those cases seem to be on a track that's faster than

mine?

MR. ARNAULT:  Well, I would say -- I
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mean, we even make this point in our response to

their motions to dismiss in the Nevada state court

action, that the court should look to what this court

does and -- because it could be an important data

point in deciding where these claims should go

forward, and use that information in order to

determine what -- which forum should be the forum

that decides these issues.

THE COURT:  The Nevada court isn't

deciding where things go.  The Nevada court is

deciding whether the complaint states a claim, 

right?

MR. ARNAULT:  Well, it's -- it's a

motion to dismiss or in the alternative stay the

claims that are being asserted against LLTQ.

THE COURT:  So stay in favor of?

MR. ARNAULT:  This court.

THE COURT:  The bankruptcy court?

MR. ARNAULT:  That's correct.  So

that's why --

THE COURT:  What if both the Nevada

judge and I stay our proceedings?  Then what do you

do?

MR. ARNAULT:  Well, I mean, our point

would be that this issue has really already been
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decided by the Nevada bankruptcy court.  This is the

same issue that was presented there, where should

these claims and issues go forward.  It decided that

it should be in the Nevada state court.

Now, they're presenting the same

issues to the Nevada state court.  We think that it's

-- this issue has already been decided.

THE COURT:  Forgive me, because it's

more than I can handle just to read materials filed

in my own cases.  

MR. ARNAULT:  Understood.  

THE COURT:  I try not to read

materials filed in other judge's cases.

Are the debtors or the Caesars

entities the ones asking that the Nevada matter be

stayed?

MR. ARNAULT:  No, we are not.

THE COURT:  I was going to say --

MR. ARNAULT:  No.

THE COURT:  -- I would hope --

MR. ARNAULT:  That's the LLTQ, FERG,

and the Seibel-affiliated entities.

No, no, we would like to go forward in

the Nevada state court, actually.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Good.  At least
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there's some consistency there.

MR. ARNAULT:  We're trying.

And that's another point that

there's -- no matter what, the Nevada state court

action is going to be going forward.  We have the GRB

action.  So there's going to be issues that are being

litigated there.  I know there's been motions to

dismiss that have been filed, but, quite frankly,

they relate to disputed fact issues.  They're

relatively inconsistent with the previous relief

that's been sought in the Nevada bankruptcy court, so

it's -- 

THE COURT:  You've got at least some

argument, if not decision dates coming up, what, in

just a couple of weeks, right?  So, I'm not going to

get anything accomplished in a couple of weeks.  I

won't even be here.  So why shouldn't we just wait

and see what happens in New York, and particularly in

Nevada?

MR. ARNAULT:  I mean, at the end of

the day, that's fine.  We think that Nevada is the

proper forum.  We think that that's what the Nevada

state court is going to decide.  We made the same

pitch to them that we made to you in the stay

briefing.  We think at the end of the day this issue
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has already been decided.  So we're happy to go

forward there, if that's the best course of action

for --

THE COURT:  Well, the problem is that

it's very hard to know what the best course of action

is.  My concern is the concern that I expressed last

time.  I don't want to see courts operating at cross

purposes.  I don't want to see judges duplicating

effort.  I don't want to see lawyers duplicating

effort.

Frankly, my inclination is not to set

a briefing schedule and just put this over to the

April date.  I mean, as I understand it, you have

either reached or are close to reaching an agreement

that the discovery will only have to be taken once in

the various actions and can be used anywhere.

Mr. Rugg is looking skeptical.

MR. RUGG:  I have just not --

THE COURT:  That's what the papers

suggest.  If that's true, then there's no reason to

stop the discovery because that's not going to be

duplicative.  And, meanwhile, I'm not going to have a

chance to look at anything that you file for some

time.

And with these other courts at least
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moving ahead and maybe ruling, I don't know, whatever

the courts do, might as well just wait and see at

least as of our next date whether anything has

happened to change the landscape.

MR. RUGG:  That was going to be our

suggestion, Your Honor, just --

THE COURT:  I know.

MR. RUGG:  -- what Mr. Arnault

suggested, we're discussing really the merits of the

motion for stay.  We have an April 4 hearing for

motions to dismiss, and we can't presume that they're

all going to be denied as part of this briefing.  

At any rate, we're going to be in

front of these -- in front of the judge in Nevada for

motions that were originally filed back in January.

So, I think it's a better course to see where that

lands.

We also have the appeal.  I mean, it

could be favorable for Caesars next time we come back

in that maybe you dismiss the appeal.

THE COURT:  Right.  I guess I should

say sometimes I read materials filed in other cases.

I did read the motion just because I was curious.

And I can't imagine if the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel

works the way other appellate courts do, that there's
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going to be any argument entertained on that.  I

think they'll just rule.

But, otherwise, that's moved ahead.

You filed your brief I saw.

MR. RUGG:  Correct, Your Honor.  We

have our reply brief due April 9.  So we wouldn't --

I mean, if we were going to enter a schedule, we

wouldn't want to do it until the middle of April

anyway.

THE COURT:  Right.  So the appeal is

going to be fully briefed April 9.  There is an

argument in Nevada on April 4.  I thought I saw there

was an argument in the New York case on April 6th.

MR. RUGG:  I think --

THE COURT:  I'm not even going to be

back from my travels until after all of these things

have happened.  And I have my hands full with other

things, including a number of motions to compel that

the Whitebox people are providing me.

So, I think it would be better just to

wait.  I'm not saying that we won't set a briefing

schedule, and maybe we will.  But I'd like to see if

the clouds part a little bit and the landscape is a

little clearer.  I don't think there's any harm done.

MR. ARNAULT:  I mean, I guess the only
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harm to us, Your Honor, is that all these issues were

known.  The appeal was -- notice of appeal was on

December 28th.  They filed their initial motions to

dismiss on January 5th.  So it's not as if -- for the

first time last week after we had filed our brief, so

that would be the only harm that -- they didn't take

this position until we had put our brief on file.

THE COURT:  But it's your motion for

stay.  So, it's not as if they've delayed in reacting

to that.  This is the first time they could have

reacted.

MR. ARNAULT:  Well, I mean, it -- 

MR. RUGG:  Your Honor -- Your Honor,

there was nothing for us to discuss.  We didn't know

what the landscape would be when the motion was going

to be filed.  Now that the motion is filed, we have

fully briefed motions to dismiss.  So, I don't think

there's anything inconsistent or any harm in that

regard.

MR. ARNAULT:  I mean, I don't think

that's entirely fair, that you didn't know what the

landscape would be, because we all knew that these

were being filed.  And it wasn't until -- we had

discussed filing a motion to stay, and it wasn't

until after we filed our motion to stay that now the
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attempt has been made to stay the stay briefing,

which is just -- that is the -- that would be the

only thing that I would argue is slightly unfair, is

that we had -- that if this was an issue that LLTQ

and FERG were going to raise, there was an -- there

was an opportunity to raise it before we had filed

our motion.

THE COURT:  I don't think so.  I don't

know how you react to a motion until it's been filed.

But in any event, I have to do, it seems to me,

what's sensible.  And when I look at all of this, I

see many things happening in the next few weeks, at

least potentially, in three other courts, all during

a period when I'm out of town anyway.

So I think it would be better.  I

don't think we're going to be delayed that much if we

just come back in April and see what's happened.  And

maybe I'll continue the motion again.  I don't know.

But I'd like to see what develops.  I don't think

there's any harm.

So that's what I'll do.  I'm going to

continue the motion until our April date, which is

April 18.  Okay?  And no briefing schedule.  So

nothing needs to be done.

MR. ARNAULT:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

110
App. 3433



14

MR. RUGG:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  That's all for

today, I believe.

MR. MAYALL:  Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. LEBENSFELD:  Thank you, Your

Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

(Which were all the proceedings had in 

the above-entitled cause, March 21, 

2018, 10:30 a.m.) 

I, AMY B. DOOLIN, CSR, RPR, DO HEREBY CERTIFY  
THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE  
TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS HAD IN THE ABOVE-  
ENTITLED CAUSE. 
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THE CLERK:  We are taking up all

matters on the call, on the 1:30 call, in the

Caesars Entertainment Operating Company,

Incorporated, case.

MR. GRAHAM:  Good afternoon, Your

Honor.  Joe Graham, Kirkland & Ellis, on behalf of

the debtors.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't have any

housekeeping matters to address, so unless you have

any questions, we can jump into item 1 on the agenda.

THE COURT:  Let's do that.

MR. GRAHAM:  Item 1 is the debtors'

settlement motion with the NRF and other Caesars

parties.

We filed this motion, obviously, back

on March 20th.  We've been here before.  You issued

an order on your indicative ruling.  We sent that up

to the clerk in the Northern District.  Yesterday

they sent it back down for the limited remand to

consider the settlement motion.

THE COURT:  Right.

MR. BARLIANT:  Ronald Barliant,

Goldberg Kohn, on behalf of NRF.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.
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MR. BARLIANT:  Good afternoon, Your

Honor.

THE COURT:  So this is back now

legitimately in my lap to address the motion.  There

have been no objections.  So I can grant the motion.

I had a problem with paragraph 4 of

your proposed order, which authorized you to enter

into amendments to the settlement agreement from time

to time as necessary.  I don't see how I can approve

a settlement that is in flux.  I have to approve a

particular settlement.

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor --

THE COURT:  If you want to qualify

"amendments" in some way, I could do that, I suppose,

but you'd have to think of an appropriate qualifier.

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor, I don't

actually expect that we would probably have to get

amendments.  But it was put it in case -- there's

like an outside date, for instance.  If the parties

were to agree to extend the outside date so no party

terminates if, for instance, this case doesn't end

when we all hope it does, and we don't emerge, you

know, sometime this summer, we want to make sure that

that is not a cause for a problem.

Can we qualify it to, you know, any
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extensions of the outside date?  I think that would

probably be the most important thing that could be

amended, or we can come back, Your Honor, if that's

easier -- if it's easier for this court, we're happy

to remove it and come back to court if that were to

be an issue, you know, amendment to the NRF

settlement agreement.

MR. BARLIANT:  Or the parties could

waive -- we could provide that the parties could

waive requirements in the agreement, if the court is

okay with that.

THE COURT:  It isn't necessary, I

think, to worry about little things.  The question is

a provision in the order that allows you essentially

to change wholesale the nature of the settlement that

I approved on a completely different basis.  And I

won't sign an order that allows you to do that.

So if there is a way to change -- to

qualify -- as I said, to qualify the word

"amendments" so it's little ones and not big ones --

I wouldn't put it that way exactly, but you get the

gist -- that would be better.

MR. GRAHAM:  So, Your Honor, would it

be possible then on paragraph 4 -- I'm doing,

obviously, this from the podium.
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THE COURT:  Of course.

MR. GRAHAM:  To say the debtors are

authorized but not directed to enter into amendments

to the settlement agreement from time to time, and

then instead of as necessary, to say, with respect to

the termination rights under the settlement

agreement?  Because that doesn't go to the economics.

That doesn't go to, you know, the big material

issues.

THE COURT:  Or we could say

non-economic amendments.

MR. GRAHAM:  Or non-economic

amendments.  I like that.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. BARLIANT:  That's fine.

THE COURT:  All right.  Then, in

paragraph 5, I took out the sentence that says this

order does not stay proceedings in the district

court.  That is obvious.  And I realize it's the

style in large Chapter 11 cases to state the obvious,

but I just like to give everybody credit for not

being complete idiots.  Maybe that's credit that is

undeserved.  I don't know.  But I don't think there

is a district judge in the building who would feel

that I have the ability to stay proceedings before
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that judge.  I have that much faith in them, at

least.

MR. GRAHAM:  Understood.

THE COURT:  So that I took out.

Otherwise, I am only too happy to approve your

settlement.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  You're quite welcome.

MR. GRAHAM:  We will make sure --

obviously, we will work with CEC to make sure that

the -- and the NRF to make sure that the Second

Circuit and the Southern District of New York are

aware.  They did get a letter last week --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  Per your instruction that

we had gone up with the indicative ruling.

THE COURT:  Right.  Well, it's for

your own protection, as I said.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes. 

MR. BARLIANT:  Right.  Thank you, Your

Honor.

THE COURT:  Thanks.

MR. GRAHAM:  With that, I think the

next two items are two claim objections.

THE COURT:  Right.
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MR. GRAHAM:  Uncontested.  I presume

that you -- that there are certain issues in them

that are giving you pause based on -- 

THE COURT:  Well, little ones.

On the twenty-third omnibus

objection -- and I may need some help getting this

right -- with the a single claimant, Inez Johnson, I

believe what happened was you corrected her address

and made it incorrect.  So if you look at her proof

of claim, her address is in Paducah, Kentucky.  And

you had that originally, even the correct street

address, and you changed it to a different address in

Lexington.  And I don't know why you would do that,

but that suggests that you did not serve her at the

right place.

Now, there are a couple ways we can do

this.  It's a single claimant.  I could sustain the

objection as to all the claims except the claim of

Inez Johnson.  And as to that one, I could overrule

without prejudice, and you could just tack her onto

your next omnibus, if that works.

MR. GRAHAM:  What I would suggest --

THE COURT:  What would you like to do?

MR. GRAHAM:  What I would suggest --

would it be easiest if we did a draft order to
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follow, we remove her, you know, from the schedules

for you, and submit that to chambers?

THE COURT:  Yes.  Okay.  Let's do it

that way.

MR. GRAHAM:  That might just be

cleaner for recordkeeping later.

THE COURT:  Let's do that.  All right.

So we'll just treat this as draft order to follow.

Okay.  Then the other one, this is

even smaller, I have to say, is a dollar figure

question.  This is the objection to claim 3141 filed

by Yahoo.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

THE COURT:  And the motion -- not the

motion, the objection, the dollar figure in the

objection is $18,058.  That's what it ought to be.

And your order says $18,050.  So we're talking about

$8 here.  So I don't know which one is correct.

MR. GRAHAM:  Let's go with the one in

the motion.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So that would be --

that gives them more money anyway.

MR. GRAHAM:  We're giving them eight

more dollars.  

THE COURT:  A whole eight bucks.  So
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let's just fix that.  

I have fixed it.  So with that, what

we're really doing is reducing the claim, and I can

do that.  So the order is signed.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  You're quite welcome.

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor, that would

bring us to the next item on today's agenda, which is

the Louisiana tax claim objection.

THE COURT:  Right.

MR. GRAHAM:  And I believe that, you

know, this message probably has gotten to you, but we

would ask for the moment you set that aside.  The

debtors and the State of Louisiana have come to a

tentative agreement in principle, subject to

documentation, and, of course, approval by the State

of Louisiana, you know, the formal approval, as well

as the debtors' board.

But we expect that that issue will be

something we can take off the table here in the near

future.  And we'd, obviously, be back in front of the

court with a settlement motion if we do reach one.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So what we probably

should do with that -- today was theoretically a

ruling date, but that was only in theory.  No one
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expected a ruling.  I bet you're not going to be

ready by the May omnibus date, but maybe June.  So

why don't we continue this just for status to

June 21.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that's fair, Your

Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  And if you're

ready, you're ready, and if you're not, you're not.

We'll just go from there.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sounds good.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think we're up to the

various Rowen Seibel matters.  I will turn it over to

my colleague.

MR. ARNAULT:  Good afternoon, Your

Honor.  Bill Arnault on behalf of the debtors.

MR. RUGG:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.

Nathan Rugg on behalf of the LLTQ and FERG entities.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

We have got a number of matters.

Basically what I would like to do -- I am, obviously,

not going to be ruling on the discovery dispute until

-- well, I've got a discovery dispute that has been

sent to me from New York.  I am not going to be

dealing with that until I deal with the motion for
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protective order, because if the protective order

gets granted, that's all going to be moot.  That

would be my understanding.

MR. ARNAULT:  Well, I mean, we would

say that the -- LLTQ and FERG's motion for protective

order is separate and apart from the motion to compel

that we filed.

THE COURT:  Why?

MR. ARNAULT:  In fact, in our -- the

discovery order that we filed explicitly carved out

that the motion to compel would continue because the

motion for protective order doesn't ask to stay or

doesn't relate to any of the discovery that was

served on Mr. Seibel.

THE COURT:  It was my impression that

the subpoenas in New York had to do with suitability.

If the protective order is granted, there will be no

discovery on suitability, and so I won't have to deal

with the motion to compel and the motion to quash.

MR. ARNAULT:  Well, I --

THE COURT:  Am I mischaracterizing the

New York matters?

MR. ARNAULT:  Well, so --

THE COURT:  I mean, I could be.

MR. ARNAULT:  Yes.  So the two
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subpoenas that were served on Mr. Seibel, they were

third-party subpoenas and that are the subject of the

motion to compel are separate and apart from the

document requests that are the subject of the motion

for protective order.  So while they may relate to

similar topics of suitability, they're actually --

the motion for protective order actually just relates

to the -- those discovery requests and not the

subpoenas.

THE COURT:  The motion for protective

order seeks to cut off discovery on a topic.  If you

can't take discovery on that topic, then you can't

take it no matter where you're trying to take it, and

so you won't be able to pursue the discovery in New

York -- that is derived from New York, I should say.

MR. ARNAULT:  Well, I mean, we would

still say that they're two -- they're separate

discovery requests.

THE COURT:  They may be separate

discovery requests, but the motion for protective

order has to do with the subject of discovery.  If

you can't take discovery on that subject, then you

can't take it by dropping subpoenas on people in New

York or San Francisco or Taiwan.  It doesn't matter

what the request is.  It's the subject that's off
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limits.

MR. ARNAULT:  I mean, I guess the way

that we looked at it was LLTQ and FERG would not have

standing to object to requests that were served on a

third party because they're third-party requests and

they weren't served on them.

THE COURT:  I don't think that's

correct anyway.

MR. ARNAULT:  Okay.

THE COURT:  Well, this is the way I

view it, and you haven't convinced me otherwise, so

I'm not going to be doing anything with the New York

matter -- except I do have a motion that I will talk

about in a minute -- until I resolve the protective

order question.  There is an interesting issue that

exists on the discovery matter which I might like to

throw out there.  Discovery, I mean the subpoenas and

the motion to compel and the motion to quash that

were transferred.  

And that is, what law applies when a

discovery matter is transferred under Rule 45(f) to

the issuing court?  It's not as big an issue as I

thought it would be, because looking at the papers, I

was not given a whole lot of Second Circuit law that,

frankly, as a Seventh Circuit judge, I wouldn't be
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very interested in.  There is a fair mixture there.

But still, I'd like to know whose discovery rules I

have to pay attention to.

I could not find anything on that when

I took a quick look.  It may be that there isn't

anything.  If I had to just reason it out from

scratch, I suppose I would speculate that the

discovery always related to the case that's pending

here.  It isn't as if the entire case were

transferred from somewhere else.  So probably Seventh

Circuit standards always apply, but I don't know.  So

that's out there.  And people can think about that if

they have nothing better to do.

On the motion for protective order, I

had a couple of questions, and they're really for the

Caesars folks.  And that is, how this fraud argument

-- let's assume that the discovery goes ahead.  I

don't understand how the fraud argument plays into

all of this.  Fraud is a basis to -- in the

inducement is a basis to rescind the contract.  You

can affirm the contract and sue for damages if you

think there is a breach or you can rescind.  

But nobody has asked for recision.

There isn't a separate adversary proceeding seeking

it.  I don't know that it would be filed in the
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bankruptcy court anyway.  There is no such thing as a

counterclaim in a contested matter.  Affirmative

defenses don't apply in contested matters.  So I

don't understand how recision on the basis of fraud

can even be raised here.

The other point, which I think is one

that the FERG folks were making, is that in order to

rescind a contract, you have to put both sides back

in the position they were in.  And I don't understand

how that could be done here or if that's even

something the Caesars people would really want.

So, those are some matters to

consider.  I believe we have got a briefing schedule

set on the motion for protective order, and I'll just

let you brief it.  But those are matters that I would

like to see addressed because I just don't understand

how the recision idea plays into the whole dispute

here.  And if I can't think of a way that it does

play in rationally, I would be more inclined to grant

the motion since there is no point in taking

discovery on a subject that we can never really get

into.

MR. ARNAULT:  Understood, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  

MR. RUGG:  And, Your Honor, just on
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that, I think we teed it up for hearing on May 31st.

THE COURT:  Yes, I think that's right.

MR. RUGG:  If that works for, Your

Honor.  

THE COURT:  Well -- 

MR. RUGG:  We had originally proposed

it for the omnibus on the 17th, and then I think Your

Honor struck that.

THE COURT:  Probably.

MR. RUGG:  So we presumed that you

wanted more time.  But we weren't sure exactly where

to put it, so we thought that we would --

THE COURT:  The May 31 date may get

moved again.  We'll see.  But we'll keep it there for

now.

I should mention generally

something -- I guess this falls under housekeeping.

I don't know.  But it's something you can bear in

mind.  For two years, these cases got priority over

every other thing I had to do, sometimes at the

expense of other parties in other cases who had just

as much right of access to the courts as you all did.

That's not your fault.  That was my decision.  It

made sense to me to do that.  But, indeed, some

things are backed up now, and I'm trying to remedy
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that.

Now that a plan is confirmed, it seems

to me that there is less urgency, and I can treat you

folks the way I treat anybody else with a case.  So

you're not at the back of the line, but you're in the

line with everybody else.  So things may get moved on

you in a way they might not have gotten moved

pre-confirmation.

All right.  There is one other matter

related to this, and that is a motion that I have.

And I think counsel is on the line.  The motion is

styled motion for electronic filing access.

Do I have moving counsel on the line?

MR. MILLMAN:  This is Claude Millman

that you have on the line.

THE COURT:  All right.  Good.  As I

understand the situation, Mr. Millman, you are unable

to obtain the necessary electronic filing credentials

from the clerk because you can't take the course and

you can't take the course because you're New York

lawyers not admitted in this district.

Am I describing correctly what the

clerk's position is on this?

MR. MILLMAN:  I think that's correct.

THE COURT:  Okay.
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THE WITNESS:  I don't fully understand

what's happening.  I think they're expecting that we

have a pro hac vice, or something like that.

THE COURT:  Well, if you were to do

that, that's a very easy thing to do.  You file your

little pro hac application with the necessary fee in

the district court, and I promise you, unless you

disclose that you have some hideous criminal

conviction or are not in fact a lawyer, it will be

granted.  So that would be the way to obviate all of

this.

However, you don't have to do that

because Rule 45(f) says you don't have to.  What I

can't give you is what you're asking for in your

motion, which is I am not going to order the clerk to

issue you electronic filing credentials.  

What I will do is I will order the

clerk to let you take the course.  That, I think, is

reasonable.  And I think that's what you're entitled

to under Rule 45(f).  Rule 45(f) makes it's very

clear that you're entitled to file papers.  I think

that's the language of the rule.  Well, that's great,

but we have electronic filing.

Now, you still have to be at least

allowed to take the course so that you can file
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electronically.  And I will give you an order that

says that, but I'm not going to exempt you from the

kind of course that every lawyer practicing out of a

storefront in Chicago has to satisfy.  I think you

guys can manage that.  

So I'll grant the motion to that

extent, okay, and then you can take the class.  If

you also -- I don't think you need to do the pro hac

thing.  You could have, if you wanted to, but you can

save your $25, or whatever it costs.

All right.  I think that takes care of

all -- I'm sorry, sir.  It's very hard to hear you.

Say again.

MR. MILLMAN:  I'm sorry.  This is

Claude Millman.  Thank you, Your Honor.  

I suppose -- what I have heard is this

course has something to do with bankruptcy law, but

we're not familiar with it.  We'll simply look into

it and figure it out if it poses any problem.

THE COURT:  Yes.  It doesn't have to

do with bankruptcy law.  It does have to do with the

way this district, at least, deals with electronic

filing.

But as long as we are on the subject,

if you are going to be filing papers here, it would
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be a really good idea to go on the court's website

and read the local rules.  We don't practice the way

they practice in New York, or I guess the way I'd put

it, in New York, they practice in a way we don't

practice.

So, for example, it's really not cool

in our district to write letters to judges.  Very

common in New York.  Here, they get returned to you.

That's considered a no-no.  And then we have a motion

practice that doesn't look a lot like yours.

So, the last thing you want to be

taken for is a foreigner, right?  And the first thing

you do whenever you practice in a district court

you're not used to is you get the local rules and you

read them.  So that would be my recommendation.  And

then you will look like an experienced Chicago

lawyer.  And as we know, there's nothing better.

All right.

MR. MILLMAN:  This is Claude Millman,

Your Honor.  We would be happy to try and become

experienced Chicago lawyers.

THE COURT:  I'd be only too delighted

to see that.  Okay.

MR. MILLMAN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  You're quite welcome, sir.
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I think the next item on the agenda --

I think we're done with the FERG matters.  

Are there things we need to discuss?

MR. RUGG:  No, Your Honor, just that I

think they were -- the only reason why they were up

today was for status, the three motions.

THE COURT:  Is there anything else to

discuss?

MR. RUGG:  No, not at all, but I just

want to know, are we going to move them to another

date?

THE COURT:  Oh, yes.  We'll just carry

them.  You're on the schedule right now.  I mean,

unless there is another date that makes more sense,

we can just push them off to the May date.  

MR. RUGG:  That's great, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. RUGG:  That would be very helpful.

Thank you.

MR. ARNAULT:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Sounds good. 

The next item on the agenda is this

Tipping Point lift stay motion.

Have you resolved it or did you want

to brief it?
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MR. GRAHAM:  Well, actually, Your

Honor, this is Joe Graham again, Kirkland & Ellis, on

behalf of the debtors.

MR. DAVIS:  Aaron Davis on behalf of

TPG.

MR. GRAHAM:  We actually reached

agreement yesterday with Tipping Point Gaming on a

briefing schedule.  We can set it for status on

June 21st.  We hear you on you're getting backed up.

We expect it to be status only.  I have a copy --

THE COURT:  No, we'll see.  It depends

on what else I get done, right?

Okay.  So that's fine.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MR. DAVIS:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  You're

welcome.

MR. GRAHAM:  Your Honor, that then

brings us to another filing by Mr. Marro, which is

item number 12 on today's agenda.

THE COURT:  Yes.  All right.  This is

Mr. Marro's motion, which is a motion I took under

Rule 9023, which would really be Rule 59(e).  He

calls it a motion for reconsideration or

clarification, and as appropriate, for a separate
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document under Rule 54(e), which is the wrong rule,

and he acknowledges that -- or alternatively, for

leave for Rule 8008 notice to the district court --

which is not something I understand, or, we have

another alternative, to certify questions under 28

USC Code, Section 158(d)(2) and Rule 8006.  So let me

deal with these one at a time here.

On the reconsideration point, I have

not been given any reason to reconsider my decision

denying Mr. Marro's motion to lift the stay.  I

denied it for a number of reasons.  I think those

reasons are correct, and he has not shown me in his

motion, as the debtors point out in their response to

the motion, that I made a manifest error of law or

fact.

As far as clarification is concerned,

I thought that the ruling was brutally clear.  And if

there is some confusion about it, Mr. Marro can

purchase a copy of the transcript.  But it is my

practice not to repeat at a second hearing rulings

that were understandable the first time and were

transcribed simply because someone didn't get it or

wasn't paying attention.  So I'm not going to

reconsider and I'm not going to clarify.

As far as the separate document
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requirement, which I believe he is referring to under

Rule 58, the order that denied his motion satisfies

Rule 58.  That's as separate as it's going to get.  I

don't have to have another one so that I would have

two orders.  That is not really what Rule 58 is

about.  So we've got the separate document that we

need.

The Rule 8008 thing I really don't

entirely understand.  That's the indicative ruling

rule, and there is no indicative ruling to be made

here.  And he doesn't explain, it seems to me, why

there would be one.

So, finally, we have the desire to, as

he puts it, certify questions.  One doesn't certify

questions.  One certifies a matter for direct appeal.

So what I would have to do is certify his appeal of

the order denying his motion to lift the stay,

certify it for direct appeal to the Court of Appeals.

I looked into whether I could even

consider that request, and it's trickier than you

might imagine.  Rule 8006 deals with this.  Rule

8006(d) discusses the court that may make the

certification.  And that rule says, only the court

where the matter is pending may certify a direct

review on request of parties.  And that says as

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

136
App. 3459



25

provided in subdivision (b).  

So, okay, is this pending here or is

it pending in the district court?  And the answer is

that it's pending here.  And what 8006(b) says is

that for purposes of this rule, a matter remains

pending in the bankruptcy court for 30 days after the

effective date under Rule 8002 of the first notice of

appeal.

All right.  The notice of appeal, such

as it is, and I'll talk more about that in a minute,

was filed on March 24.  It was filed while Mr.

Marro's Rule 9023 motion was pending.  So the notice

of appeal doesn't become effective until I rule on,

and presumably deny, which is what I intend to do,

his Rule 9023 motion.  At that point there is another

30 days.  

So, 30 days from today the matter will

not be pending here for purposes of certification.

But right now, it is.  So that's a long way of saying

I can deal with his request.

Then we have an interesting question,

though, about this notice of appeal, because what Mr.

Marro did was not file a separate notice of appeal.

That's what he should have done, but he didn't.

Instead, he filed what he called an amended notice of

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

137
App. 3460



26

appeal or alternatively notice of appeal.  I'm not

sure it can be both.

To the extent it's an amended notice

of appeal, there is a question, it seems to me,

whether it's valid at all.  But he also calls it

alternatively notice of appeal.  I imagine, given his

alternative and given that he's pro se and given that

the tone these days is a little less technical on

these things, that reviewing courts would treat this

as a proper notice of appeal.

So I've got his request to certify.

And in order to do that, I would have to determine

that the requirements of Section 28 U.S. Code Section

158(d)(2)(A) were met.  And he has not given me any

reason to think that they are.  I could certify this

for appeal if the order denying his motion to lift

the stay involved a question of law as to which there

is no controlling decision of the Court of Appeals

for our circuit or the Supreme Court or involves a

matter of public importance.

He has not identified a question of

law that is raised by his motion on which there is no

controlling decision.  And, quite frankly, I cannot

think of one.

I don't see how this is a matter of
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public importance.

The second possible ground would be

that the order involves a question of law requiring

resolution of conflicting decisions.  He has not

identified any conflicting decisions, much less the

question of law on which those conflicting decisions

exists.  Since I don't know what the question is, and

since I haven't been given any conflicting decisions,

I can't find that that requirement has been met.  

And, finally, the third possible basis

for a direct appeal would be that an immediate appeal

from the order might materially advance the progress

of the case or proceeding in which the appeal was

taken.  I do not think that resolving Mr. Marro's

motion, really for the reasons I described in denying

it in the first place, will materially advance the

progress of these bankruptcy cases.

So, I will let Mr. Marro address

himself to the district court, if he wishes, but his

motion today is denied.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  And that, I

think, is the last matter on the agenda.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct, Your

Honor.  One thing I wanted to note, I know we've
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talked about this in the past.

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  We moved in the continued

matters the ones all covered by various RSAs.  We

have moved those to the June 21st hearing in the

hopes that we can give you an update at that hearing

kind of on a time line for emergence.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  So people are aware of

where we are at.

THE COURT:  Yes, that's good a idea.  

Sounds good.  Thank you very much.

(Which were all the proceedings had in 

the above-entitled cause, April 19, 

2017, 1:30 p.m.) 

I, AMY B. DOOLIN, CSR, RPR, DO HEREBY CERTIFY  
THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE  
TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS HAD IN THE ABOVE-  
ENTITLED CAUSE. 
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DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
ROWEN SEIBEL, an individual and citizen of 
New York, derivatively on behalf of Real Party 
in Interest GR BURGR LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
PHWLV, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; GORDON RAMSAY, an individual; 
DOES I through X; ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, 
 

Defendants, 
 

AND ALL RELATED MATTERS 

Case No.: A-17-751759-B 
Dept. No.: 15 
 
Consolidated with: 
Case No.: A-17-760537-B 
 
DEFENDANT ROWEN SEIBEL’S REPLY 

IN FURTHER SUPPORT OF HIS MOTION 
TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS 

 
This document applies to:  
A-17-760537-B 
 

Hearing Date: April 4, 2018 
Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m. 

 Defendant Rowen Seibel (“Seibel”) hereby submits this reply in further support of his motion 

pursuant to NEV. R. CIV. P. 12(b)(5) to dismiss the claims asserted against him in the Declaratory 

Judgment Action filed on August 25, 2017 (the “Complaint”) by Plaintiffs DESERT PALACE, INC. 

(“DPI”); PARIS LAS VEGAS OPERATING COMPANY LLC (“Paris”); PHWLV, LLC (“PHWLV”); 

and BOARDWALK REGENCY CORPORATION d/b/a CAESARS ATLANTIC CITY (“CEOC”) 

(collectively, “Plaintiffs”)1.  

                            

1  Seibel hereby incorporates by reference the defined terms set forth in his Motion.  

Case Number: A-17-751759-B

Electronically Filed
3/28/2018 12:33 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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I. INTRODUCTION 

In their opposition, Plaintiffs argue that that only this Court can provide “comprehensive relief” 

to all the parties, despite the fact that litigation is pending in other jurisdictions and has been pending 

for months, if not years, between some of the parties.   According to Plaintiffs, the basis for attempting 

to cobble together different parties to multiple different agreements with varying terms that concern 

multiple different restaurants is that the Defendants once had a connection to Defendant Seibel.  

Moreover, the mere fact that Seibel once had connections to the various Defendants and Restaurants at 

issue is not an appropriate basis on which to force these parties into an unwieldly single action.   

To emphasize that point, Plaintiffs have asserted direct declaratory relief claims directly against 

Seibel despite the fact that Seibel is not a party to any of the Agreements at issue in this action. Although 

the Agreements contain clauses that may require services by Seibel, none of those purported services 

are at issue or the subject of the declaratory relief sought by Plaintiffs.  There is simply no dispute 

between the parties regarding Seibel’s purported responsibilities under the Agreements, rendering this 

declaratory judgment action against him subject to dismissal.  
  

ARGUMENTS. 
 

A.  Plaintiffs’ Claims against Seibel should be Dismissed as Seibel Is Not a Party to 
the Subject Agreements. 

 Defendants concede that Seibel is not a party to the Agreements at issue in this action.  (Opp’n 

16.)  Nevertheless, Defendants argue that Seibel is an appropriate defendant in this action because he 

had “numerous legal rights and duties under the … Agreements.”  (Id.)  This argument fails for a 

number of reasons.   

First, while Plaintiffs recite a number of responsibilities of Seibel under the Agreements, 

Plaintiffs make no claim that those purported responsibilities are in any way in dispute or are in any 

way the subject of this litigation.  For instance, Plaintiffs cite to Seibel’s purported obligation visit the 

Pub Restaurant under the LLTQ Agreement.  (Opp’n 16, Ex. R, §2.2(b).)  But Plaintiffs do not cite to 

a single allegation in the Complaint that this obligation is in any way at issue in the action or that such 

alleged obligations are subject to dispute.  Plaintiffs’ First Cause of Action seeks adjudication as to 

whether their termination on the grounds of “unsuitability” was proper – a claim under which Seibel’s 

obligations are not at issue, nor were they the alleged cause for the termination.  Indeed, while Seibel 

App. 3465
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may have to provide certain services under the Agreement, there is no alleged dispute over whether 

those services must be performed if Plaintiffs’ First Cause of Action is successful.   

Plaintiffs’ Second Cause of Action seeks a declaration that Plaintiffs have no further obligation 

under the Agreements.  Plaintiffs do not seek a declaration regarding any purported obligation of Seibel, 

nor is the basis for the Second Cause of Action in any way connected to Seibel’s alleged performance 

or non-performance of his alleged obligations under the Agreements.  Plaintiffs’ Third Cause of Action 

seeks a declaration that the Agreements do not prohibit or limit further restaurants between Caesars and 

Ramsay which, once again, has no connection whatsoever to Seibel’s purported obligations and the 

performance or non-performance of those obligations under the Agreements. Accordingly, as the 

Complaint fails to allege a dispute regarding Seibel’s purported obligations under the Agreements, the 

claims against Seibel do not state a justiciable controversy.  Doe v. Bryant, 102 Nev. 523, 525 (1986).  

Second, Plaintiffs rely upon Wells v. Bank of Nev., 90 Nev. 192, 197-98, n.7 (1974) in support 

of their proposition that Seibel is a proper defendant in this case. (Opp’n 16.)  However, that is not what 

the Wells case states.  In Wells, the court denied the attempt to obtain declaratory relief by individuals 

who were not parties to the agreement at issue.  Wells, 522 P. 2d at 197.  In doing so, the court found 

that “[c]ontroversies arising under an agreement properly are to be determined and settled by parties to 

the agreement or their assigns, that is, by those who have legal rights or duties thereunder.”  Id.  

Accordingly, the court in Wells does not support Plaintiffs’ assertion that Seibel is a proper party to this 

Action.2   
 
B. Plaintiffs’ Claims against Seibel Should Be Dismissed or, Alternatively, Stayed 

Due to the Existence of a Prior Pending Proceeding. 

Plaintiffs do not contest that the claims asserted against Seibel by Plaintiff Paris are identical to 

the counterclaims asserted against Seibel in the TPOV Federal Action.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs do not 

contest that the claims in the TPOV Federal Action are first filed.  Under the first-filed rule, those 

claims should be dismissed. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of Nevada v. Dist. Ct., 107 Nev. 680, 684, 818 P.2d 

                            

2  Plaintiffs also rely upon the case Regal Ware, Inc. v. Advanced Mktg. Int’l, Inc., 2006 WL 
752899, at *3-5 (E.D. Wis. Mar. 21, 2006).  Obviously, this ruling by a federal court applying Wisconsin 
state court law has no binding effect on this Court and Seibel contends is of little relevance to the present 
motion.   

App. 3466
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396, 399 (1991) (“[C]ourts will not entertain a declaratory judgment action if there is pending, at the 

time of the commencement of the action for declaratory relief, another action or proceeding to which 

the same persons are parties and in which the same issues may be adjudicated”); see also Fitzharris v. 

Phillips, 74 Nev. 371, 376-77, 333 P.2d 721, 724 (1958) (dismissing the second filed of two actions 

involving the same parties and facts).   

Plaintiffs’ argue that the fact that there are additional parties to this action that are not involved 

in the Federal Action dictates that the first-to-file rule should not be followed by this Court. However, 

contrary to Plaintiffs’ argument, the first-to-file rule “does not require exact identity of the parties.”  

Kohn Law Group v. Auto Parts Mfg. Miss, Inc., 767 F.3d 1237 (9th Cir. 2015).   As the Nevada Supreme 

Court found in Winemiller v. Keilly, 2009 WL 1491481, at *2 (Nev. Feb. 6, 2009), when two actions 

involve different parties, it is appropriate for the court to examine on a party-by-party basis whether 

specific claims involve identical facts and claims.  That is clearly the situation regarding the Paris 

claims against Seibel and such all such claims must be dismissed.  Smith v. Hutchins, 93 Nev. 431, 432, 

566 P.2d 1136, 1137 (1977) (“Policy demands that all forms of injury or damage sustained by the 

plaintiff as a consequence of the defendant's wrongful act be recovered in one action rather than in 

multiple actions.”)   

Plaintiffs also argue that the claims against Seibel based on the LLTQ, FERG, MOTI and DNT 

Agreements are not precluded by the first-to-file rule because claims are not asserted against or by 

Seibel in the Bankruptcy Action.  Nevertheless, LLTQ, FERG, MOTI and DNT have all filed motions 

to dismiss based on the first filed rule and the prior pendency of identical claims in the Bankruptcy 

Court.  If this Court grants those motions, and in light of the fact that there is no claim in this action 

concerning Seibel’s alleged obligations under the Agreements, this Court should still exercise its 

discretion to stay any claims against Seibel as such claims would necessarily hinge on rulings in the 

Bankruptcy Court and Federal Action as to whether the Agreements were properly terminated.  Sherry 

v. Sherry, 2015 WL 1798857, at *1 (Nev. Apr. 16, 2015) (the first-to-file rule provides that “where 

substantially identical actions are proceeding in different courts, the court of the later-filed action 

should defer to the jurisdiction of the court of the first-filed action by either dismissing, staying, or 

transferring the later filed suit.”) 
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C. This Forum Is Not the Most Efficient Forum for Adjudicating the Claims 

Plaintiffs argue that this court should refuse to apply the first-filed rule and maintained 

jurisdiction over the second filed action based on the alleged that this forum is the one “in which all 

interests are best served.” (Opp’n 12-14.)  That argument fails. While Plaintiffs call the present action 

the “most comprehensive”, it is not.3 As is revealed by the motions to dismiss filed by the various 

Defendants, the Defendants to this action are parties to different Agreements, are involved in different 

Restaurants, and have significant differences in the factual and legal posture of the claims.    Moreover, 

since Seibel is not a party to the Agreements and his responsibilities under the Agreements are not in 

dispute, there is little reason for Seibel be forced to participate in an unwieldy litigation that involves 

multiple Defendants each with defend the contract claims at issue in these declaratory relief claims.  

Plaintiffs’ misguided effort should fail as their argument that this “comprehensive” action is somehow 

efficient for the Court or the parties is belied by the significant differences in the Agreements and the 

factual background for each Restaurant. 

D. Alternatively, the Claims Against Seibel Should Be Stayed 

Plaintiffs make the argument that this Court should hold its ruling on Defendants’ motion until 

the court in the TPOV Federal Action rules on a yet to be filed motion for a stay that Defendants claim 

they intend to file.  (Opp’n 15.)  Plaintiffs do not cite any authority for this novel proposition – that this 

Court should hold in abeyance Defendants’ motion because Plaintiffs intend to file, on some unspecified 

future date, a request for a stay in the TPOV Federal Action.  In making this argument, Plaintiffs provide 

no excuse whatsoever why they have not sought in stay in the TPOV Federal Action in the seven (7) 

months since they filed the present action while the parties are engaged in discovery in the Federal 

Action.  Plaintiffs’ failure to promptly seek a stay of the TPOV Federal Action after filing the instant 

action asserting the identical claims should weigh heavily against this Court utilizing its discretion to 

hold the present motion in abeyance. 

                            

3  Plaintiffs cite to Continental Insurance Co. v. Hexcel Corp, 2013 WL 1501565, at *1-2 (N.D. 
Cal. Apr. 10, 2013) in support of their argument. However, their reliance is misplaced. The difference 
in time in the filing of lawsuits in Continental Insurance was a mere eight days (id. at *2), as contrasted 
with the seven-month time difference between the first filing of the Federal Action and the second filing 
of the instant action. 
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Accordingly, if this Court does not dismiss Plaintiffs’ instant claims against Seibel, this action 

should be stayed pending the outcome of the TPOV Federal Action pursuant to the first-to-file rule. 

III. CONCLUSION. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should grant Seibel’s motion to dismiss the Complaint against him 

or, in the alternative, stay the present action until resolution of the prior pending Federal Action, along 

with such other relief that this Court deems just and proper. 

 DATED: March 28, 2018. 

    MCNUTT LAW FIRM, P.C. 

      
/s/ Dan McNutt                                     
DANIEL R. MCNUTT (SBN 7815) 
MATTHEW C. WOLF (SBN 10801) 
625 South Eighth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorneys for Defendant Rowen Seibel 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b) and EDCR 8.05 on March 28, 2018, 

I caused service of the foregoing DEFENDANT ROWEN SEIBEL’S REPLY MEMORANDUM 

OF LAW IN FURTHER SUPPORT OF HIS MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS 

to be made by depositing a true and correct copy of same in the United States Mail, postage fully 

prepaid, addressed to the following and/or via electronic mail through the Eighth Judicial District 

Court’s E-Filing system to the following at the e-mail address provided in the e-service list: 
 
James Pisanelli, Esq. (SBN 4027) 
Debra Spinelli, Esq. (SBN 9695) 
Brittnie Watkins, Esq. (SBN 13612) 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
jjp@pisanellibice.com 
dls@pisanellibice.com 
btw@pisanellibice.com 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PHWLV, LLC 
 
Allen Wilt, Esq. (SBN 4798) 
John Tennert, Esq. (SBN 11728) 
FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C. 
300 East 2nd Street, Suite 1510 
Reno, NV 89501 
awilt@fclaw.com  
jtennert@fclaw.com  
Attorneys for Defendant 
Gordon Ramsay 
   
Robert E. Atkinson, Esq. (SBN 9958) 
Atkinson Law Associates Ltd. 
8965 S. Eastern Ave. Suite 260 
Las Vegas, NV 89123 
Robert@nv-lawfirm.com  
Attorney for Defendant J. Jeffrey Frederick 
   
       
      /s/ Lisa A. Heller                                  . 
      Employee of McNutt Law Firm, P.C. 
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Defendants TPOV ENTERPRISES, LLC (“TPOV”) and TPOV ENTERPRISES 16, LLC 

(“TPOV 16”) (collectively, “the TPOV Entities”) hereby submit this reply memorandum in further 
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REGENCY CORPORATION d/b/a CAESARS ATLANTIC CITY (“CEOC”) (collectively, 

“Plaintiffs”)1. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

In their opposition, Plaintiffs argue that despite the fact that all the disputes between Plaintiffs 

and TPOV Entities are the subject of the Federal Action that was filed at least seven (7) months before 

this action, the “first-to-file” rule should be disregarded by this Court because only the present action 

can provide “comprehensive relief” to all the parties.   According to Plaintiffs, the basis for attempting 

to avoid the first-to-file rule is that the Defendants once had a connection to Defendant Seibel.  

However, the mere fact that Seibel once had connections to the various Defendants and Restaurants at 

issue is not an appropriate basis to force these parties into a single action that involves multiple different 

Defendants and concern at least six different restaurants and six different contracts with different 

contractual terms.  For instance, while Plaintiffs claim that Defendants made false disclosures in certain 

Business Information Forms (“BIFs”) submitted by prior to the parties entering into the Agreements, 

the BIFs were submitted only by DNT and MOTI.  No such disclosure was made in connection with 

the TPOV Agreement, which greatly impacts the viability of Plaintiffs’ claim based on an alleged 

fraudulent inducement (Count II).  In addition, while Plaintiffs claim that Seibel’s conduct was the 

basis for terminating the Agreements, prior to termination Seibel had assigned his ownership interest 

in TPOV and TPOV had assigned its Agreement to TPOV 16.  That is different from, for instance, the 

GR BURGR LLC (“GRB”) Restaurant, as Seibel had not assigned his interest in that entity prior to the 

termination, but rather was provided with an opportunity to “cure” the alleged unsuitability.  Moreover, 

unlike the Serendipity Restaurant that is the subject of the MOTI Agreement which was closed after 

the Agreement was purportedly terminated, and unlike the GRB Restaurant, which Plaintiffs claim has 

been “rebranded”, the Restaurant that is the subject of the TPOV Agreement - the Steak Restaurant – 

remains open to this day.   

These are but some of the important differences between the various Defendants and their 

respective Agreements and Restaurants which belie Plaintiffs claim that “comprehensive relief” can be 

achieved in this Court.  In sum, Plaintiffs opposition fails to provide any viable reason why the first-

                            

1  TPOV Entities refer to and incorporate by reference the defined terms set forth in their Motion. 

App. 3472



 

DEFENDANTS TPOV AND TPOV 16’S REPLY IN FURTHER SUPPORT OF THEIR MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS - 3 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

to-file rule should be disregarded or why its forum shopping should be permitted.  Accordingly, 

Plaintiffs claims against TPOV Entities should be dismissed or, in the alternative, stayed. 
 

II. ANALYSIS. 

A. Plaintiffs’ Claims Improperly Seeks Adjudication of the Same Claims Previously 
Filed and Currently Being Litigated in Separate Forums.  

Plaintiffs do not contest that the claims pending between TPOV and Paris in the Federal Action 

are identical to the claims between those parties in this action.   Plaintiffs do not contest that Federal 

Action was commenced nearly seven (7) months prior to Plaintiffs’ commencement of the present 

action.  Plaintiffs do not contest that the parties have been engaged in discovery in the Federal Action. 

Despite these concessions, Plaintiffs argue that this Court should disregard the “first-filed rule” and 

should exert jurisdiction over the same claims that were first pending in the Federal Action.  (Opp’n 

11.)  Plaintiffs’ argument fails for a number of reasons.  
 
1. Complete identity of all parties involved is not required. 

First, Plaintiffs argue that because there are parties in the present action that are not parties to 

the Federal Action this Court should refuse to apply the first-filed rule.  (Opp’n 11.)  In support of their 

argument, Plaintiffs cite two cases – Mitchell Capital, LLC v. Powercom, Inc.2 and Jones v. Dist. Ct.3 

– both cases are inapposite. The Mitchell decision concerned a motion to set aside a default judgment 

pursuant to NEV. R. CIV. P.  60(c) in which the declaratory nature of the case was, at best, ancillary to 

the court’s decision. Contrary to Plaintiffs’ characterization, the Mitchell court addressed in dicta the 

propriety of a court’s exercise of jurisdiction over a declaratory relief default judgment that involved 

additional unrelated parties and was filed after judgment in the prior action.  Mitchell Capital, LLC v. 

Powercom, Inc., 2015 WL 5774161, at *3 n.2. Key to the Mitchell court’s ruling was a finding that the 

subsequently filed declaratory judgment case “involved many parties unrelated to [the previous] 

judgment” (id.) which is not the case in the instant action, as the same relevant parties – the TPOV 

Entities and Caesars – are present in both matters. The mere fact that a later-filed action includes 

additional parties does not prevent the application of the first-to-file rule to dismiss the later-filed 

                            

2  2015 WL 5774161, at *3 n.2 (Nev. Sept. 29, 2015). 
3  2013 WL 3944042, at *2 (Nev. July 24, 2013). 
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action, as “[a] contrary holding could allow a party…to skirt the first-to-file rule.” Kohn Law Grp., Inc. 

v. Auto Parts Mfg. Mississippi, Inc., 787 F.3d 1237, 1240 (9th Cir. 2015). 

Plaintiffs also cite to Jones, but that decision does not diverge from settled Nevada law in favor 

of the first-filed rule.  The Jones court, in a ruling on a petition for a writ of mandamus challenging a 

motion to dismiss a declaratory judgment action, found that it was “not clear…that the issues presented 

in the declaratory relief action may be adjudicated” in the prior pending case. Jones v. Dist. Ct., 2013 

WL 3944042, at *2.  Based on that finding, the court ruled that it could not be compelled to conclude 

that the declaratory action should be dismissed. Id. Unlike in Jones, here it is uncontested that the issues 

presented by Plaintiffs in the instant action are similar if not identical issues as raised by the TPOV 

Entities in the Federal Action.  (Mot. 11.) 

In short, contrary to Plaintiffs’ argument, the first-to-file rule “does not require exact identity 

of the parties.”  Kohn Law Group, 767 F.3d at 1240.   In fact, under the first-to-file rule a second-filed 

suit should be dismissed when it involves a mere similarity of parties and issues. Glob. Experience 

Specialists, Inc. v. Cunniffe, 2014 WL 3748931, at *5 (D. Nev. July 30, 2014) (holding that a “similarity 

of parties and issues is sufficient to trigger application of the first-to-file rule.”)  In its motion, TPOV 

Entities cited Winemiller v. Keilly, 2009 WL 1491481, at *2 (Nev. Feb. 6, 2009) in support of this point, 

but Plaintiffs do not address Winemiller.  In Winemiller, the Nevada Supreme Court found it was 

improper to dismiss claims against defendants in the second action who were not named parties in the 

first action.   The Supreme Court found, however, that it would not be an abuse of discretion for the 

court to dismiss the second action as between plaintiffs and defendants who were parties to both actions, 

so long as the same causes of action were present in both actions.  Id.4  Thus, the Nevada Supreme 

Court found that complete identity of parties in both actions was not required, but rather the court 

should examine whether the causes of action and issues are similar on a party by party basis.   

                            

4  In Winemiller, the court reversed and remanded to the lower court for the court to determine 
whether the issues and causes of action were identical because the decision appealed from “did not 
make any findings in this regard.”  Id.  
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The claims and parties to Plaintiffs’ claims against the TPOV Entities in the instant action are 

substantially similar to those involved in the Federal Action. This Court should apply the first-to-file 

rule to dismiss or stay this lawsuit as it concerns the TPOV Entities. 
  
2. The alleged convenience of this forum does not overcome the First-to-File Rule 

Plaintiffs argue that this court should refuse to apply the first-filed rule and maintain jurisdiction 

over the second filed action based on the alleged that this forum is the one “in which all interests are 

best served.” (Opp’n 12-14.)  That argument fails for numerous reasons.  

First, Plaintiffs cite to Continental Insurance Co. v. Hexcel Corp.5 in support of their argument. 

However, their reliance is misplaced. In Continental Insurance, the court considered factors relevant 

to declaratory judgment actions pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201, a federal statute that is not relevant to 

the instant case. Additionally, the difference in time in the filing of lawsuits in Continental Insurance 

was a mere eight days (id. at *2), as contrasted with the seven-month time difference between the first 

filing of the Federal Action and the second filing of the instant action.  

While Plaintiffs call the present action the “most comprehensive”, it is not.  Plaintiffs fail to 

address the many significant differences between the claims asserted by the various parties that make 

consolidation of all claims between these parties unwieldy and inefficient.  First, only MOTI and DNT 

submitted BIFs in connection with their Agreements with Plaintiffs. (Comp. ¶¶ 27, 38.)  No other 

Defendant submitted a BIF, which greatly impacts the viability of the fraudulent inducement based-

Count II against those non-submitting Defendants. (Id. ¶¶ 36, 55, 65, 77, 87.) Also, regarding the 

propriety of Plaintiffs’ determination that Mr. Seibel is “unsuitable”, there are different implications of 

such a determination for each Agreement.  TPOV (as well as LLTQ, and FERG) had direct contractual 

relationships with Plaintiffs. (Id. ¶¶ 17, 19, 22.)  Prior to the purported termination of the TPOV 

Agreement, Seibel’s interest in the entity that owned an interest in TPOV were assigned, and the TPOV 

Agreement was assigned to TPOV 16.  (Id. ¶ 18.)  Accordingly, Caesars’ purported determination that 

Seibel was “unsuitable” does not resolve the issue of the propriety of the termination of the TPOV 

Agreement, because the interests in the Agreement had already been assigned, thereby raising the issue 

                            

5  2013 WL 1501565, at *1-2 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 10, 2013). 
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of the propriety of the assignment.   In addition, if the assignment was valid, it raises the additional 

question whether TPOV 16 could be deemed unsuitable.  That is different from, for instance, GRB, an 

entity in which Seibel was a member.  (Id. ¶76.)  When Plaintiffs’ purported to determine that Seibel 

was unsuitable, they provided notice and cure period to GRB.  (Id. ¶115.)  Thus, the propriety of the 

termination concerns issues of whether a viable cure was offered to Plaintiffs.   

In addition, TPOV contributed $1 million in connection with the development of its restaurant.  

(Ex. A at ¶10; Ex. B Art. 7) It was, in essence, a partner in that Restaurant with Plaintiffs entitled to 

receive a share of the profits.  (Id.) Thus, in the Second Cause of Action, in which Plaintiffs seeks a 

declaration that they owe no further obligations under the Agreements, Plaintiffs are seeking a ruling 

that by virtue of their unilateral determination of unsuitability they do not have to pay back the $1 

million capital contributions of TPOV, among other things.  While LLTQ also invested $1 million 

dollars, that issue does not exist for GRB, FERG, and DNT.   

TPOV is different from GRB in other respects.  GRB licensed intellectual property and the GR 

General Materials, which include the restaurant concept, menus, recipes, systems, among other things.  

(Comp. ¶ 69.)  Plaintiffs alleges that they closed the Restaurant and “rebranded” it, thereby allowing 

the continued operation of the Restaurant without paying license fees to GRB because it further claims 

it is no longer using the GR General Materials.  (Id. ¶ 128.)  Seibel disputes this, and this “rebranding” 

dispute is not an issue with regard to TPOV and the Steak Restaurant. 

These are only some of the differences between the parties and the Agreements at issue.  In 

short, Plaintiffs are trying to force multiple parties with different contracts and different factual 

circumstances into a single forum – despite the fact that prior pending actions were brought in other 

forums.   Plaintiffs’ misguided effort should fail as their argument that this “comprehensive” action is 

somehow efficient for the Court or the parties is belied by the significant differences in the Agreements 

and the factual background for each Restaurant. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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3. Plaintiffs remaining arguments that this Court should disregard the first-to-file rule 
fail. 

First, argues that this Court should not apply the first-to-file rule because the claims at issue 

concern Nevada state law.  TPOV contends that the Federal Action pending in the District of Nevada 

is capable of hearing Nevada state law claims. 

Second, the cases relied upon by Plaintiffs are not on point.  Plaintiffs cite to Amlin Corp. 

Member Ltd. v. Leeward6 in support of their argument. The time difference between the first-filed and 

second-filed cases in Amlin was a mere two days (id. at *2), which is vastly different from the delay 

between the filing of the Federal Action and the instant action. Crucially, the Amlin court held that the 

choice of forum should be given to the “true plaintiffs” in the dispute, and not the party which filed an 

action seeking a declaration that it owed no obligation to the true plaintiffs.  Id. at *7.  

Plaintiffs also cite to Editorial Planeta Mexicana, S.A. de C.V. v. Argov.7 However, that action 

concerns the federal transfer provision in 28 U.S.C. § 1404(a) and involves an entirely incongruent set 

of facts. Unlike in the instant case where the issues are based on the same facts and the same parties 

are involved, the Editorial Planeta Mexicana court found that the first-to-file rule did not apply because 

differing claims were raised based on different sets of facts. Id. at *8. That is clearly not the case here.  

Plaintiffs’ also rely upon Commercial Cas. Ins. Co. v. Swarts, Manning & Assocs., Inc., 8 however, that 

case does not support Plaintiffs’ argument.  In Commercial Cas. Ins. Co. the court ruled in favor of 

defendants’ motion to stay a second-filed action based on a comparison of the relative progress made 

in the two actions at issue. Id. at 1036. The same situation presents itself here – discovery has 

commenced and is ongoing in the Federal Action, while the instant case is in the midst of briefing on 

pre-answer motions to dismiss filed by, among others, the TPOV Entities. Though Plaintiffs are not 

mistaken that the Commercial Cas. Ins. Co. court deferred to the Nevada state court, it did so by staying 

the second-filed, federal suit which had made less progress than the state court proceeding. Id.  

Third, contrary to Plaintiffs’ arguments, once similarity of issues and parties has been 

established, the first-to-file rule “should not be disregarded lightly” and courts should only depart from 

                            

6  2012 WL 6020107, at *1 (D. Nev. Nov. 27, 2012). 
7  2012 WL 3027456, at *4 (D. Nev. July 23, 2012). 
8  616 F. Supp. 2d 1027, 1035-37 (D. Nev. 2007). 
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the first-to-file rule for reasons of equity under three circumstances: bad faith, anticipatory suit, and 

forum shopping. Alltrade, Inc. v. Uniweld Prod., Inc., 946 F.2d 622, 628 (9th Cir. 1991). However, 

Plaintiffs have not argued – nor do they have any basis on which to argue – that any of these exceptions 

applies. In fact, it is the instant action, and not the Federal Action, that was filed in a bad faith attempt 

by Plaintiffs to forum shop. (Mot. 9-10.)  Therefore, due to the factors that weigh in favor of dismissing 

the instant action pursuant to the first-to-file rule and the lack of Plaintiffs’ argument in favor of 

applying a cognizable exception, the instant case should be dismissed as asserted against the TPOV 

Entities due to the first-filed, pending Nevada Federal Action.    

In sum, Plaintiffs have not provided this Court with valid reasons to reject the application of the 

first-to-file rule.  Pub. Serv. Comm'n of Nevada v. Dist. Ct., 107 Nev. 680, 684, 818 P.2d 396, 399 

(1991) (it is well-settled that “courts will not entertain a declaratory judgment action if there is pending, 

at the time of the commencement of the action for declaratory relief, another action or proceeding to 

which the same persons are parties and in which the same issues may be adjudicated”); Fitzharris v. 

Phillips, 74 Nev. 371, 376-77, 333 P.2d 721, 724 (1958) (dismissing the second filed of two actions 

involving the same parties and facts); Smith v. Hutchins, 93 Nev. 431, 432, 566 P.2d 1136, 1137 (1977) 

(“Policy demands that all forms of injury or damage sustained by the plaintiff as a consequence of the 

defendant's wrongful act be recovered in one action rather than in multiple actions.”) 
 
B. Plaintiffs’ Claims Against TPOV and TPOV 16 Must Be Dismissed Due to the 

Lack of a Justiciable Controversy that is Ripe for Judicial Determination. 

Plaintiffs’ claims against TPOV and TPOV 16 must be dismissed for the additional reason that 

Plaintiffs are not entitled to declaratory relief based on the prior pending proceeding, the Federal 

Action. 

Plaintiffs argue that a dispute can be ripe for adjudication despite its pendency in multiple 

forums and that the existence of a justiciable controversy is not contingent on the outcome of any other 

proceeding. (Opp’n 12.)  In support of their argument, Plaintiffs attempt to distinguish TPOV and 

TPOV 16’s citations to Knittle v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.9 and American Realty Investors, Inc. v. 

                            

9  112 Nev. 8, 11, 908 P.2d 724, 726 (1996). 
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Prime Income Asset Management, Inc.10, the latter of which was analyzed in great detail in the TPOV 

Entities’ memorandum in support of their instant motion, arguing that these cases simply stand for the 

proposition that an insurer’s or indemnitor’s payment obligations are not ripe until the insured incurs a 

loss. (Opp’n 12.) However, Plaintiffs’ attempts to distinguish these cases fail. The Knittle court 

explicitly found that a plaintiff’s claims were not ripe for declaratory relief as the plaintiff’s rights were 

“contingent on her successful litigation of a pending tort suit.” Knittle v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co., 112 

Nev. at 11, 908 P.2d at 726. Similarly, the American Realty court held that to render a declaratory 

judgment would be to “operate in something of a factual vacuum”, and “the costs and pitfalls associated 

with litigating multiple suits on the same subject matter, and the attendant possibility of inconsistent 

verdicts, are not insubstantial or abstract. The inefficiency and risk of conflicting judgments posed a 

real risk of hardship to the parties.” Am. Realty Inv'rs, Inc. v. Prime Income Asset Mgmt., LLC, 2013 

WL 5663069, at *8. Therefore, where there is a suit pending on the same subject matter and 

encompassing the same claims, a declaratory action is not ripe due to the attendant inefficiencies, 

including increased costs and the risk of inconsistent verdicts. Id. Where “the rights of the plaintiff are 

contingent on the happening of some event which cannot be forecast and which may never take place” 

– in this case, a judgment against Caesars in favor of TPOV 16 in the Nevada Federal Action – a 

declaratory judgment action should be dismissed as unripe. Knittle v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co., 112 

Nev. at 10–11, 908 P.2d at 726.  
 
C. Alternatively, Plaintiffs’ Claims Against the TPOV Entities Should Be Stayed 

Pending a Final Determination in the Federal Action  

Plaintiffs do not specifically address TPOV’s argument that, even if this Court does not grant 

the TPOV Entities’ instant motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims, the TPOV Entities are entitled to a stay.   

Instead, Plaintiffs’ argue that this Court should hold its ruling on TPOV’s motion in abeyance pending 

the determination in the Federal Action of a yet-to-be-filed motion for a stay in the Federal Action. 

(Opp’n 15.)  Plaintiffs do not cite any authority for this proposition – that this Court should hold in 

abeyance Defendants’ motion because Plaintiffs intend to file, on some unspecified future date, a 

request to stay the Federal Action.  In making this argument, Plaintiffs provide no excuse as to why 

                            

10  2013 WL 5663069 (D. Nev. Oct. 15, 2013). 
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they have not sought a stay in the Federal Action in the seven (7) months since they filed the present 

action.  Plaintiffs’ failure to promptly seek a stay of the Federal Action after it filed the present action 

asserting the identical claims here should weigh heavily against this Court utilizing its discretion to 

hold the present motion in abeyance.  

In sum, if this Court denies TPOV’s motion to dismiss, Plaintiffs have offered no valid reason 

why this Court should disregard the first-to-file rule and “either dismissing, staying, or transferring the 

later filed suit.” Sherry v. Sherry, 2015 WL 1798857, at *1 (Nev. Apr. 16, 2015); see also Jonah Paul 

Anders v. Mayla Casacop Anders, Respondent., 2017 WL 6547399, at *1 (Nev. App. Dec. 14, 2017) 

(holding the first-to-file rule “authorizes district courts to decline jurisdiction over an action if a 

complaint involving the same parties and issues had already been filed in another trial court”) (internal 

quotations and citation omitted).  Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ instant claims against the TPOV Entities, as 

a later-filed suit, should be dismissed or in the alternative stayed pending the outcome of the Federal 

Action pursuant to the first-to-file rule. 
 

III. CONCLUSION. 

WHEREFORE, this Court should grant the TPOV Entities motion to dismiss the Complaint 

against them or, in the alternative, stay the present action until resolution of the prior pending Federal 

Action, along with such other relief that this Court deems just and proper. 

 DATED:  March 28, 2018. 

    MCNUTT LAW FIRM, P.C. 

      
/s/ Dan McNutt                                       
DANIEL R. MCNUTT (SBN 7815) 
MATTHEW C. WOLF (SBN 10801) 
625 South Eighth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorneys for Defendants  
TPOV Enterprises, LLC and 
TPOV Enterprises 16, LLC 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b) and EDCR 8.05 on March 28, 

2018, I caused service of the foregoing DEFENDANTS TPOV ENTERPRISES AND TPOV 

ENTERPRISES 16’S REPLY MEMORANDUM IN FURTHER SUPPORT OF MOTION TO 

DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS to be made by depositing a true and correct copy of same in the 

United States Mail, postage fully prepaid, addressed to the following and/or via electronic mail through 

the Eighth Judicial District Court’s E-Filing system to the following at the e-mail address provided in 

the e-service list: 
 
James Pisanelli, Esq. (SBN 4027) 
Debra Spinelli, Esq. (SBN 9695) 
Brittnie Watkins, Esq. (SBN 13612) 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
jjp@pisanellibice.com 
dls@pisanellibice.com 
btw@pisanellibice.com 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PHWLV, LLC 
 
Allen Wilt, Esq. (SBN 4798) 
John Tennert, Esq. (SBN 11728) 
FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C. 
300 East 2nd Street, Suite 1510 
Reno, NV 89501 
awilt@fclaw.com  
jtennert@fclaw.com  
Attorneys for Defendant 
Gordon Ramsay 
   
Robert E. Atkinson, Esq. (SBN 9958) 
Atkinson Law Associates Ltd. 
8965 S. Eastern Ave. Suite 260 
Las Vegas, NV 89123 
Robert@nv-lawfirm.com  
Attorney for Defendant J. Jeffrey Frederick 
   
       
      /s/ Lisa A. Heller                                  . 
      Employee of McNutt Law Firm, P.C. 

 

App. 3481

mailto:jjp@pisanellibice.com
mailto:dls@pisanellibice.com
mailto:btw@pisanellibice.com
mailto:awilt@fclaw.com
mailto:jtennert@fclaw.com
mailto:Robert@nv-lawfirm.com


 

 1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

TRAN 

DISTRICT COURT 

 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

* * * * * 

 

ROWEN SEIBEL, GR BURGR, LLC,  
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TUESDAY, MAY 1, 2018 AT 9:11 A.M. 

 

THE COURT:  751759, Rowen Seibel versus PHWLV, 

LLC.   

MR. MCNUTT:  Morning, sir.   

THE COURT:  Go ahead and state your appearances.  

MR. MCNUTT:  Dan McNutt on behalf of TPOV and TPOV 

16.  Along with me is Matt Wolf from my office.   

MR. SWEENEY:  Paul Sweeney from Certilman Balin.  

I represent the defendants but today I'll be a partner on 

behalf of DNT and Mr. Seibel.   

MR. RUGG:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Nathan Rugg 

on behalf of the LLTQ, FERG, and MOTI defendants and their 

affiliates.   

THE COURT:  Is that everybody on that side?  Okay.   

MR. PISANELLI:  Good morning, Your Honor.  James 

Pisanelli on behalf of the Caesars entities.   

MS. MERCERA:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Magali 

Mercera on behalf of the Caesars entities.   

MR. ZEIGER:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Jeffrey 

Zeiger on behalf of the Caesars entities.   

MS. WATKINS:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Brittinee 

Watkins on behalf of the Caesars entities.   

MR. WILT:  And, good morning, Your Honor.  I'm 

Allen Wilt for Gordon Ramsay.   
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THE COURT:  Okay.  Good morning.  All right.  Have 

a seat if you can.  So, before we dive into the Motions, I 

wasn’t sure if we needed to follow-up on Delaware or not.  

If anybody thinks we do, just let me know.   

MR. WOLF:  Your Honor, I can just give you a 

status update.  

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MR. WOLF:  The trustee had discussions with 

counsel for Ramsay and I think they reached an agreement in 

principle on settlement of the action there.  We have 

responded and offered some additional terms that would be 

necessary if Seibel were going to sign off on that 

settlement.  And I think that is where it stands right now.  

My understanding is the trustee is in communications with 

the other parties but settlement discussions of that action 

have been proceeding.  The matter is not presently settled 

though.   

MR. ZEIGER:  Your Honor, that is correct.   

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MR. ZEIGER:  We do have an agreement in principle 

with the trustee and he has sent additional terms but that 

Mr. Seibel has requested.  And, so, those discussions are 

ongoing.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  So, as far as that goes, 

nothing that I need to do or be affected by.  Is that fair?   
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MR. ZEIGER:  I think the process is playing out 

pretty cooperatively and collaboratively.   

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MR. ZEIGER:  So, I think that’s correct.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  Several Motions to Dismiss, 

which I, quite honestly, were a bit hard to keep track of.  

But I did review the briefs and I'd like to hear -- bear 

with me a moment.  The LLTQ, FERG probably stood out to me.  

You could probably guess might be a little different than 

some of them.  But, other than that one, I'm not sure if 

the others are -- have a lot that are different between 

them.  Say that again?   

THE CLERK:  [Indiscernible]. 

THE COURT:  No.  I think I have it all.  I think I 

have everything.   

So, let's hear that one first.   

MR. RUGG:  Thank --  

MR. PISANELLI:  Your Honor, if I may?  Just from a 

procedure standpoint, we filed one consolidated Opposition.   

THE COURT:  Yes.   

MR. PISANELLI:  I'm perfectly fine presenting one 

Opposition after the defendants’ tables make all of their 

arguments or we can piecemeal, whichever Your Honor 

prefers.   

THE COURT:  No.  That’s fair.  Let's -- that’s a 

App. 3485



 

 5 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

great point because, yeah, there is one Opposition.  Let's 

hear from whomever is arguing on behalf of all the movants 

first.  And, then, let's do the opposition and, then, the 

replies in whatever order.  But, yeah, the one that stood 

out to me, really, was the third one.  But go ahead.   

MR. RUGG:  So, Your Honor, if I may?  Nathan Rugg 

again and it’s for LLTQ and FERG and also MOTI Partners, 

which I can address all of those presently.  

THE COURT:  Sure.   

MR. RUGG:  So, there are several bases that exist 

to dismiss or stay the action.  But these are all premised 

on the fact that Caesars is now asking this Court to decide 

litigation that’s been pending anywhere from nearly three 

years to eight months when this Nevada Complaint was filed 

-- the present Complaint’s been filed.   

Just in summary, because I know you’ve read the 

briefs, we argue that there’s the prior pending actions, 

and in the case for LLTQ and FERG is going to be a three-

year anniversary, that based on the prior pending action, 

it’s improper for Caesars to use this Court for a 

declaratory judgment action, basically to test the defenses 

that have been affirmatively asserted in the Bankruptcy 

Court in those matters.   

Just taking a step back for Your Honor, these 

disputes started as motions in the bankruptcy case for 
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Caesars.  But once we filed our objections, it took on a 

life as if it was a Complaint.  We refer to these contested 

matters, there’s full blown discovery, it has to be 

resolved by summary judgment or an evidentiary hearing.   

Back to the other bases, there's no 

distinguishable controversy under 12(b)5 where you have the 

same facts and claims that are issued in the Bankruptcy 

Court.  We believe that you can also stay because of the 

First to File Rule.  The -- Caesars asserts that the First 

to File is just a rebuttal presumption that should be 

rebutted here because of the alleged convenience and 

comprehensive nature.   

But a couple of things on that, Your Honor.  We 

don’t believe that comprehensive relief is available and 

the fact that we do have these unique bankruptcy disputes 

at issue is evidence of that.  There’s just simply no 

absolute right to take five different actions and 

consolidate them into one piece of litigation.  Certainly, 

Your Honor is not going to determine what MOTI’s pre-

petition claim was under its contract.  It’s not going to 

decide whether Caesars can reject our contracts with 

Caesars under 365, the code.  It’s not going to decide our 

administrative priority claim that’s under 503 of the code 

-- bankruptcy code, that we were required to file and 

prosecute in the Bankruptcy Court.  So, what's happened 

App. 3487



 

 7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

here is Caesars has assembled all the parties but they 

can't resolve all the issues in one Court.   

A note on the First to File presumption, as well.  

Each of the three cases that they cited in support of that 

represent a distinct contrast from what we -- where we are 

today.  Where in the Amlin [phonetic] case, there was a 

second action filed two days after the first.  In the 

Continental Insurance matter, the second action was filed 

seven days after.  And the Editorial Planeta Mexicana, it 

was about a month.  Here, we’re going on our third 

anniversary and I think there is a clear reason for this, 

it’s the forum shopping issue we have that we’ve raised.  

It presents another basis for Your Honor to dismiss abuse 

of litigation practice and I'll get into that a little bit 

later.   

But the other issue we have for a separate 

dismissal applies only to the FERG entity, that’s in 

connection with the Ramsay Pub that is in Atlantic City, 

New Jersey.  New Jersey law controls that dispute and there 

is a forum selection clause.  To fine tune the issue that’s 

gone through the briefs, it’s not an issue of depriving 

you, Your Honor, of jurisdiction, but whether or not that 

the mandatory forum selection clause should be enforced.  

And all the cases cited on both sides have indicated yes, 

that should be enforced.  So, we have a separate basis 
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that’s just for FERG, as well, and the Gordon Ramsay Pub in 

Atlantic City.   

The basis -- the alleged basis to tie all this 

together is the suitability issues of Rowen Seibel.  It 

might be a common thread but it’s not a silver bullet.  

And, frankly, Your Honor, it’s only the beginning of the 

analysis.  Mr. Seibel had different involvement with each 

of the different defendant entities, with different 

contracts, with different of -- plaintiffs.  These 

contracts have different terms that are at issue.  There's 

expressed provisions in each contract of what happens upon 

termination.  There's also a fundamental issue as to what 

each of the plaintiffs were relying on in connection with 

Mr. Seibel.  For example, for LLTQ an FERG, there was not a 

business information form that was submitted by Mr. Seibel, 

which is -- forms the basis for their alleged suitability 

issues.   

This, like many of the things that have -- are in 

front of you, Your Honor, have already been presented to 

Judge Goldgar in Illinois.  With regard to Mr. Seibel, 

Judge Goldgar stated, and I quote: 

I don’t want to think of this as the Rowen Seibel 

dispute.   

That was back in March of -- 23.   

So, what we’ve been doing for the last two and a 
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half years is determining -- trying to determine, what are 

the parties’ contractual rights and obligations under these 

contracts?  That’s been going on for two and a half years.  

Judge Goldgar is very familiar with all these disputes.  

He's had occasion to comment on some of the underlying 

legal theories, albeit they’ve been through discovery 

disputes, but the comments he’s made have been quite 

strong.  And if you -- and if I can simply it for Your 

Honor as far as the timing.   

The first motion was filed in the Caesars case in 

June of 2015.  There's been endless discovery in that 

matter, rounds and rounds of requests for admission, for 

interrogatories, document productions, Motions to Compel.  

The MOTI litigation has been pending since November of 

2016.  Separately, the TPOV matter was filed in January of 

2017.  All that was pending when the Bankruptcy Court 

issued its decision in may of 2017 on a protective order 

motion.  My clients had argued that the whole suitability 

discovery should cease because there was no availability of 

the remedy as a matter of law.  Judge Goldgar made comments 

at that hearing denying the Motion saying, okay, you may 

proceed because it’s only on discovery, but found the 

issues of fraudulent inducement to be thin and dubious.  

Those were his exact words, the theories.   

Later, in June 21, 2017, in connection with 
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another discovery motion, the Court repeated those 

comments, these thin and dubious theories, and stated that, 

Caesars was yet to articulate a coherent theory as to why 

they should be able to get the suitability discovery from 

Rowen Seibel.  It was two months after those comments that 

this Complaint was filed.  So, the Illinois Court has cast 

serious doubt on the defenses that Caesars is now 

repackaged here as counts two and counts three of the 

Complaint.   

THE COURT:  But aren’t the -- what is at issue in 

the Bankruptcy Court, in terms of -- I've never been a 

bankruptcy lawyer and so I'll probably use the wrong terms 

of art, but -- well, I forget.  And you all did a fine job 

putting it in the briefs, I just don’t remember what the 

phrase is.  But aren’t the issues in my case different than 

those in front of the Bankruptcy Court in terms of what 

they want me to look at is simply suitability and what's in 

the bankruptcy is this fraud in the inducement, ostensibly, 

to get it out of the Bankruptcy Court, I guess, or to keep 

it in there?  So, how are those the same or different? 

MR. RUGG:  Your Honor, they’re exactly the same.  

This boils down to a contract dispute.  You know, in the 

bankruptcy world, typically that initial motion that was 

filed back in June of 2015 is resolved summarily.  It 

doesn’t take long.  But what the debtors can do is get out 
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of the -- can get out of their obligations for a contract.  

It’s because of those restrictive covenants that are there, 

that’s the hook, that has kept this thing going on for 

nearly three years.  And it’s -- and I don’t think Caesars 

would dispute that those two theories are at issue directly 

before Your Honor.  The question is -- they are literally 

the same theories.   

When you take a step back -- and in their response 

briefs, Caesars said the same thing that we’re saying, is 

that someone needs to determine what the parties’ ongoing 

rights and obligations are under these contracts.  And that 

is very much an issue in the Bankruptcy Court.  It would 

preclude the ability to reject.  It would, under 365 in the 

code, it would require Caesars to pay my clients for the 

operation of the restaurants under these contracts the last 

two and a half years.  That’s if anything, Your Honor, why 

we’re still fighting.  It’s an unusual case.   

I think, though, that the issues are 

straightforward.  However, putting aside -- excuse me.  The 

issue of suitability, when you look what Caesars is 

attempting to do, they cannot rescind the contract here.  

And I won't go into this because, Your Honor, I know we’re 

not, you know, arguing it as a dispositive motion, but at a 

high-level review, there's some very simple issues.  

There's a contract -- there's two contracts between LLTQ 
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and FERG for the two Ramsay Pub agreements.  The whole 

basis for those contracts are the design, the development, 

and the operation of the Ramsay pubs.  Those pubs are still 

in operation.  One of my clients put in a million dollars 

of capital contributions for that.  The only thing that’s 

changed is that our clients are not getting paid.   

So, that and another issue that’s been sort of 

side issue, again, not directly before Your Honor, is 

whether it’s integration of contracts with Mr. Ramsay.  

That is a state law issue.  Bankruptcy Court decides state 

law issues all the time.  They are required under the U.S. 

Supreme Court case law, Butner versus U.S., to decide 

property rights based on state law.  So, the fact that 

state law is at issue is not something that should sway 

Your Honor.  And for --  

THE COURT:  And how do you address, then, the 

Nevada -- Judge, is it Davis, bankruptcy decision saying:  

Hey, according to these 14 factors, I'm going to remand 

back to State Court?   

MR. RUGG:  Your Honor, yes.  So, a little 

different analysis there.  That under that statute, under 

the remand statute, there is a lot of leeway for the Court.  

All it needs to find is one of the factors applies to 

remand.  The decision has being -- it has been appealed.  

We are -- we are just waiting right now, Your Honor.  
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There's a Motion --  

THE COURT:  All the briefing’s done on that one?  

MR. RUGG:  Well, the -- no.  The briefing’s been 

complete.   

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MR. RUGG:  We do not have a date yet for oral 

argument.  There also was a Motion to Dismiss that was 

filed on a jurisdictional issue by Caesars.  That’s been 

fully briefed, but that has not been decided upon.   

But, frankly, it’s a different issue for Your 

Honor, under the various theories that have been presented 

with the prior pending action, and the First to File Rule, 

and forum shopping.  And, frankly, it’s something that we 

don’t think that Caesars can prosecute in the first 

instance because of what I just mentioned.  The idea of 

terminating the contract and enforcing the contract are 

inconsistent rights.  Whoever was the first to breach.  

This is not an action for damages against LLTQ or FERG.  

There's no damages.  They have all the benefits of these 

contracts.  It’s -- they want to have their cake and eat it 

too and, frankly, they want our slice, as well.  These 

contracts would not be in existence, these restaurants 

would not be in existence but for the contracts.  They’ve 

been nothing but profitable for the whole enterprise and 

they continue to date.  The only thing that has changed, 
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Your Honor, is that we’re not getting paid.   

If Your Honor -- may I address the MOTI issue?   

THE COURT:  Oh, sure.  Whatever -- I -- whatever 

you want is fine.   

MR. RUGG:  Very good, Your Honor.  So, for MOTI, I 

look around and I ask:  Why are we here?  This is -- not 

only is it a separate bankruptcy action that if it were 

brought under 503 of the bankruptcy code, that MOTI was 

required to bring in Chicago to obtain an administrative 

claim from the bankruptcy estate, really all the issues and 

the fact patterns are distinct from what’s at issue with 

Gordon Ramsay.  This was the Serendipity 3 restaurant.  

There is no alleged relationship with Ramsay or his brand.  

The restaurant’s been shut down for over one year.  There’s 

no restrictive covenants in place in that contract and none 

of the parties allege that there are restrictive covenants 

that play into the MOTI contract or that restaurant.  

Again, it’s been shut down.   

Prior to the planned confirmations, Caesar 

terminated its -- that contract with MOTI and, then, 

continued to operate the restaurant for four months.  This 

is simply a dispute as to whether they had to pay MOTI for 

the use of its license -- intellectual property, and for 

early termination fee under that contract.   

Significantly, this has gone through several 
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rounds of briefing in front of Judge Goldgar and he has had 

his own issues with this.  He -- the contract by its terms 

would have expired in 2014.  The parties negotiated a 

modification of that contract.  It, however, was not 

signed.  This has been an issue for Judge Goldgar.  We’ve 

had additional briefing on this particular issue per the 

Court’s request and the outcome of that process is that 

Judge Goldgar has questioned:  What controls the parties’ 

relationship in the first instance?  Is it the original 

contract?  Is it the modification?  Is it outside a written 

contract?   

So, we’re in the midst of discovery in that, as we 

have been with LLTQ and FERG.  And, quite simply, the 

adjudication of that expense claim in the bankruptcy case 

by Judge Goldgar, the Illinois Bankruptcy Court, will 

conclusively resolve the dispute among MOTI and Caesars.  

There’s no future restaurants, there's no restrictive 

covenants, there's no Gordon Ramsay.  So, on that basis, 

each of these same arguments apply but I think even more so 

it stands out as something that should be separated.   

THE COURT:  Anything else?   

MR. RUGG:  Not directly, Your Honor, unless you 

have questions on those?   

THE COURT:  No.  I already asked my questions.   

MR. RUGG:  Okay.  Very good.   

App. 3496
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THE COURT:  Thank you very much.   

MR. MCNUTT:  Good morning, sir.  I won't track 

over the ground that we’ve -- you’ve already been over, 

either in the briefs or with Mr. Rugg.   

In short, there’s four plaintiffs, there's six 

contracts, and there's a dozen -- maybe even a baker’s 

dozen, of defendants.  Not all of the defendants have 

privity of contract with the plaintiffs and that’s the rub, 

that’s the issue that we really have to decide here today.  

Because what plaintiffs are asking you to become is a 

judicial supernumerary.   

THE COURT:  A judicial what?  I'm sorry.   

MR. MCNUTT:  Supernumerary.  A judge --  

THE COURT:  How --  

MR. MCNUTT:  -- that can sit in the post of any 

other judge.   

THE COURT:  So, say that one word again because -- 

MR. MCNUTT:  And I acknowledge it’s a military 

phrase, not a judicial one.   

THE COURT:  I just don’t -- what's the word again?  

Super --  

MR. MCNUTT:  It’s a supernumerary, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MR. MCNUTT:  So, in short, that’s a guy on post 

that can stand in any post in a military post.  

App. 3497
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THE COURT:  Okay.   

MR. MCNUTT:  But not a very good analogy, 

apparently.   

THE COURT:  And I apologize.   

MR. MCNUTT:  If you’ve got to explain it, it’s 

apparently not a very good one.  It’s like the Polish 

godfather, Your Honor.  I'll make you a deal you can't 

understand.   

What they want you to do -- they -- all this cases 

across all of these jurisdictions, they're asking you to 

become Judge Mahan in Federal Court.  They're asking you to 

become Magistrate Judge Ferenbach in Federal Court on the 

TPOV case.  That case, I filed in February of 2017, TPOV 16 

against Paris, involving the Gordon Ramsay Steak 

restaurant.  We contributed a  million dollars back in 2011 

to build the Gordon Ramsay steakhouse.  We’re still owed 

capital contributions from that restaurant and we’re still 

owed profits.  And anybody in this court can go make a 

reservation and get in at Gordon Ramsay Steak, which is 

different than the case we were here previously on, GRB, 

where we talked about rebranding of the Gordon Ramsay 

BURGR, and we made discussion about whether, you know, they 

-- the rebranding was they added an E to the word burger.   

Well, in the state case -- and I won't delve too 

far into the details, but the reality is, Judge Mahan and 
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Judge Ferenbach are going to decide things about what 

happens upon the purported termination?  Not only was the 

termination appropriate, but if the termination then what 

are the consequences, and Section 4.3.1 of the agreement 

deals with those things.  And our federal judges are 

perfectly capable of interpreting that contract.  We’ve had 

motion practice, we’ve exchanged tens of thousand pages of 

documents, we’ve had preliminary discussions about setting 

depositions.  That case has been going on now at this point 

for something along the lines of 15 months, 16 months and 

what they're asking you to do is usurp the authority of 

those judges.  They tried to file a Motion to Dismiss and 

say there's no jurisdiction in Federal Court, Judge Mahan 

dismissed that.  He dismissed one account but everything 

else stood and we proceeded into discovery.  And that case 

is now well into its second year.  And they want you to 

take over those judicial slots here in this court.  

Similarly, in the other cases, they want you to 

become an Illinois bankruptcy judge.  They also want you to 

take over the -- Judge Laurel Davis’ position, as well as 

the Ninth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Court, meaning they 

want everything here, and it’s simply inappropriate.  Under 

the rule that they annunciate without saying it, they say, 

at some point, if you -- after litigation has been going on 

for years, literally you can recharacterize the claims, 

App. 3499



 

 19 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

even though they're the same claims, file a new action and 

say:  Ah-ha, everything should come together here.  And 

under that rule, they act like the First to File Rule is 

some quaint rule that can be enforced if and when you chose 

to, without any discretion of the Court to look at the 

underlying fact that, in truth, they're forum shopping and 

trying to get away from courts they don’t want and try to 

bring it to a court they do want, whether or not, and 

irrespective of, whether all the defendants are subject to 

that Court’s jurisdiction.   

When the Court looks at the basic question in this 

case, one is:  Why should all of these parties be here?  Is 

it more convenient for all the parties?  Well, apparently, 

it’s a -- more convenient for the four plaintiffs and 

clearly based upon the mountain of paper you have to your 

left, it is not convenient for the dozen or so defendants 

and it’s also not more convenient for this Court.  Because 

I dare say that Judge Goldgar in Chicago has a better grasp 

of the bankruptcy issues than anybody in this courtroom, 

save Mr. Rugg.   

THE COURT:  Well, I'll admit --  

MR. MCNUTT:  And maybe Mr. Zeiger.   

THE COURT:  -- he probably has -- well no.  I will 

admit it.  He has, for sure, a better grasp of bankruptcy 

issues than I do.   

App. 3500




